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ABOUT
AP RENTALS

B s R R AL

We are a leading equipment rental service company in Hong Kong with the capability of providing a wide
range of construction, E&M engineering and event and entertainment equipment, equipment rental-
related solutions and value-added services to our customers. We serve a diverse range of customers
including leading construction and E&M engineering companies and large scale event and entertainment
companies. Our rental equipment principally covers power and energy equipment, high-reach
equipment, material handling equipment and other equipment (include lifting, earth moving, foundation,
road and transportation, tunneling, demolition and small equipment).
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Lau Tsz Fung (appointed on 1 April 2024)

Non-executive Director:
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Li Ping Chi (ceased to be a member with effect from the conclusion of
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Lam Sau Fung (appointed as a member with effect from
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Lau Pong Sing

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Lau Pong Sing (Chairman)
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Li Ping Chi (ceased to be a member with effect from the conclusion of
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 August 2024)
Lam Sau Fung (appointed as a member with effect from
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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REGISTERED OFFICE
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS
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MAJOR AWARDS OF THE YEAR FEEERE

September 2024 20249 A

The Outstanding Corporate Strategy Awards 2024 FEH DR A 2024

In September, the Company also received the Outstanding Corporate 79 F - RA R IREECEET) MBEMEH %
Strategy Awards 2024, which was granted by the East Week. MR BE2024 ©
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS

2024 Most Innovative Enterprise Award

The Group is delighted that the key values of the Group — building on
professionalism and continuous innovation and providing one-stop
solutions to our customer, have been widely accepted and recognized by
the market but also by the community.

In September 2024, the Company received the “2024 Most Innovative
Enterprise Award".

The 2024 Most Innovative Enterprise Award recognized 32 outstanding
companies across various sectors including professional services, IT,
healthcare, construction, and more, according to Business Innovator. The
awards aim to promote innovative business solutions and recognize the
achievements of leading enterprises in Hong Kong.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of AP Rentals Holdings
Limited ("AP Rentals” or the "Company”), | hereby present the audited
consolidated annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year” or “FY2025").

For FY2025, the Group had a total revenue of approximately HK$160.2
million, representing a decrease of approximately 8.0% as compared to
that of approximately HK$174.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2024
("FY2024"). The Group recorded a profit for the Year of approximately
HK$12.2 million (FY2024: a profit of approximately HK$10.4 million).
Please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
("MD&A") for details of the Group’s business performance for FY2025. The
Environmental, Social and Governance Report, which summarizes our
effort and performance in promoting and strengthening corporate social
responsibility among the Group during the Year is published separately.

In FY2025, Hong Kong's property market downturn inevitably affected
local economic sentiment. Reduced private investment, particularly in the
property market, severely impacted the construction and related industries
in Hong Kong. Nevertheless, the Group still recorded a growth in its leasing
business in Hong Kong, Macau and Singapore. For construction and its
related industries, there were still some demands from various projects in
Hong Kong, including but not limited to: (i) the third runway project and
the improvement work of the Hong Kong International Airport; (i) the
construction works related to the property development and extension of
mass transit railway in Tung Chung areas; and (iii) the construction works
related to property development and the construction of Kwu Tung Station
from the phase one Northern Link project in Kwu Tung areas. On the other
hand, the Group also recorded a decrease in demands for the leasing
business in various projects approaching completion or are completed,
such as (i) the construction works in the Kai Tak area, including but not
limited to the Kai Tak Sports Park; and (ii) the Central Kowloon Route
project. There was also decrease in leasing income for leasing equipment
in relation to private property development due to the slumping in the
property prices in Hong Kong.

Recently, the trade war uplifted by the United States of America and
geographical political tensions have put more obstacles on corporates in
running their businesses in coming months.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

ESViE &

Nevertheless, the Group has a belief on the advanced and new
technologies. A further alignment towards the international standards of
the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") will further strengthen
the businesses of the Group in long run. For instance, the Group has
introduced leasing equipment and transportation, which are able to
apply the biodiesel in Hong Kong in FY2025. The Group has continuously
provided more value-added services to the customers so as to enrich and
to enhance the customers’ experience and benefits in using the Group's
products in the last few years and will continue such strategies in the near
future. The Group has several major goals of product developments, which
are Comprehensive Digitization, Environmental Friendly and Artificial
Intelligence; as well as the “green concept”, including but not limited to,
providing some raw data related to the emission from the equipment
leased by the customers, use of biodiesel and provision of more efficient,
reliable and cost-effective modes in providing electricity to the customers.
These strategies will be gradually implemented for electrification of
equipment on site by the Group in coming years.

In coming months, the Group will devote more efforts and make
more investment to AP Equipment Rentals (Singapore) Pte. Limited
(“AP Singapore”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, due to the
continuing booming in the economy in Singapore and the construction of
a new passenger terminal 5 in Singapore’s Changi Airport. The Group will
continuously invest in its business in Singapore by providing more product
types for leasing in Singapore and will increase the trading business in
Singapore and in the South-East Asian countries in the year ending 31
March 2026 (‘FY2026").

Investment on advance equipment with due evaluation and rationalizing
the existing fleet of equipment for leasing will be continued in FY2026.
The Group will also continue to adopt prudent financial management,
cost control measures and explore suitable business and/or investment
opportunities to drive its business growth and to maximize the returns for
its shareholders (the “Shareholders”).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Last but not least, | would like to express my gratitude to the Board for its
brilliant leadership, the entire staff for their untiring efforts during the Year,
as well as the strong support from our Shareholders. | would also like to
thank our investors, customers, suppliers and business partners for their
support. We will continue to fortify AP Rental’s leadership in the equipment
leasing industry and in acting as a comprehensive solution provider with
its self-developed Green and Environmental friendly products for the
customers, thus realizing sustainable growth and generating satisfactory
returns for Shareholders.

To reward and thank our Shareholders for their support, the Board
recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK0.70 cent per share
(FY2024: a final dividend of HKO0.60 cent per share).

By Order of the Board

Mr. Lau Pong Sing

Chairman and Executive Director
26 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

‘& P i S o3 A

GROUP OVERVIEW

The Group strives to serve our valuable customers better with the provision
of the equipment rental-related solutions and value-added services. For
the year ended 31 March 2025 (‘FY2025"), the Group recorded a net profit,
which amounted to approximately HK$12.2 million (for the year ended 31
March 2024 ("FY2024"): net profit amounting to approximately HK$10.4
million). The increase of net profit is mainly attributable to the net effect of:

1. increase in leasing income of equipment in Hong Kong, Macau
and Singapore but the Group also recorded a decrease in sales of
machinery and parts due to the facts as disclosed in the section
headed “Business Overview”;

2. increase in gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment from
approximately HK$2.5 million in FY2024 to approximately HK$9.6
million in FY2025 since the Group has disposed of large cranes,
aged generators and other construction related machines, which
contributed to a major part of the gain on disposal of property, plant
and equipment in FY2025;

3. a share of profit incurred amounting to approximately HK$47.0
thousand was recorded in FY2025 (FY2024: a share of loss incurred
amounting to approximately HK$2.9 million) by a joint venture
company with limited liability, Wing Hing-APE Solutions JV Limited
(the "WAJV"), in which an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, AP Equipment Solutions Limited has subscribed for 50%
of the shares of WAJV amounting to HKS$2.5 million, since the works
on hand of WAJV has been mostly completed in FY2024 and so no
material expenses were reported in FY2025;

4, the increase in write-down of inventories to approximately HK$3.6
million in FY2025 (FY2024: approximately HK$0.4 million) due to:
(M the decrease in sales of machinery and spare parts in FY2025
which led to slower movement in inventories; and
(i) increase in disposal of aged leasing equipment, and so the

demand of spare parts for repairing and maintaining the aged
leasing equipment decreased; and

4 AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GROUP OVERVIEW (Continued)

5. impairment losses under expected credit loss model recognised
on lease receivables and trade receivables, net (“ECL Provision”)
amounting to approximately HK$2.8 million in FY2025 (FY2024:
reversal of the impairment losses under ECL Provision, approximately
HKS$1.7 million) due to increase in expected default risk, which were
be caused by the economic downturn of Hong Kong, the increase in
the risk of global economic downturn that might be caused by the
trade war uplifted by the United States of America (the “USA”) and
the increase in overdue account receivables for 90 days or more as at

1 March 2025, amounting to approximately HK$12.4 million (as at
31 March 2024, approximately HK$8.0 million).

For FY2025, the Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$160.2
million, representing a decrease of approximately 8.0% as compared to
that of approximately HK$174.1 million for FY2024. For FY2025, the Group
recorded gross profit of approximately HK$46.5 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 10.7% as compared to that of approximately
HK$52.0 million for FY2024. The gross profit margin for FY2025 was
approximately 29.0% (FY2024: approximately 29.9%). Please refer to the
section headed “Financial Review” of this report for further details of the
Group's performance in FY2025. The performance of the Group in FY2025
reflects the importance of the equipment rentals for the Group since it has
changed its business focus back to equipment leasings in FY2025.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$12.2
million in FY2025 (Profit attributable to owners of the Company in FY2024:
approximately HK$10.4 million).

Basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company for FY2025
was HK1.41 cents (Basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

During FY2025, the Group shifted its business focus to equipment leasing
and restructured the leasing equipment fleets of the Group so as to
maximize the profitability of the Group. The Group recorded a net increase
in leasing income in FY2025, which was due to: (i) the increase in leasing
income for leasing equipment in relation to the third runway project and
the improvement work of the Hong Kong International Airport (the “Third
Runway & Airport Improvement Work"); (ii) the construction works
related to the property development and extension of mass transit railway
in Tung Chung areas (the “Tung Chung Work"); (iii) the construction
works related to property development and the construction of Kwu Tung
Station from the phase one Northern Link project in Kwu Tung areas (the
"Kwu Tung Work"); but there were (iv) decrease in leasing income for
leasing equipment in relation to the construction works in the Kai Tak area,
including but not limited to the Kai Tak Sports Park project (the “Kai Tak
Work"); (v) decrease in leasing income for leasing equipment in relation
to the project for the Central Kowloon Route (a highway project under
construction that runs through the Kowloon Peninsula, which is largely
underground) (the “T2-CKR"), which would be completed in 2025; and
(vi) decrease in leasing income for leasing equipment in relation to private
property development due to the slumping in the property prices in Hong
Kong.

In addition, the Group also recorded increase in leasing income in Macau
and in Singapore in FY2025 despite the fact that the Group recorded a
decrease in operating service income in Singapore in FY2025 after the
Group introduced more types of leasing equipment in Singapore in
FY2025, which did not require the use of operators.

In addition, the Group increased its business activities for providing better
and comprehensive solutions in the provision of power to the market using
the concept of the Smart System in Mobile Electricity ("'SSME") and for the
provision of green-related solutions (for instance, the provision of biofuel
generators) through the Company’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, AP
Power Limited (“AP Power"). This aims at increasing the professionalism
in Mobile Power Supply for various industries of the Group's services in
leasing and the provision of solutions to the market, which has made its
contribution in fostering the increase in leasing income in FY2025.

16 AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (Continued)

For the trading business, the Group recorded a decrease in revenue for
both machinery trading and parts sales when comparing with those in
FY2024. The decrease was due to the change of business focus to leasing
equipment business and the disposal of leasing equipment which was
aged and/or with lower utilization rate in FY2025.

For Macau, the demands in leasing equipment increased slightly and so
the leasing revenue of AP Equipment Leasing and Engineering Limited (“AP
Macau’), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, increased
when compared to that of FY2024 due to the fact that the demand from
construction works funded by the Macau government increased in FY2025.

For Singapore, AP Equipment Rentals (Singapore) Pte. Limited (“"AP
Singapore”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, recorded
an increase in revenue in leasing of equipment in FY2025 because the
construction industry in Singapore continues its growth due to the
booming of its economy in FY2025 and the Group continuously introduced
more types of leasing equipment in the Singaporean market.

For the PRC, due to the debt crisis triggered by some giant property
developers, 3818 F & TIE M (%) B R 2 &) (AP Rentals (Shanghai)
Limited*), ("AP Shanghai”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, has disposed of all its leasing equipment in FY2025 and thus
recorded a decrease in the revenue from the leasing of equipment in
FY2025. AP Shanghai has changed its business focus to the disposal of its
equipment overseas in FY2025.

Lastly, for WAJV, the projects in which WAJV were involved have mostly
been completed as at 31 March 2024 and there was no new project in
FY2025. For details, please refer to the section headed “Financial Review” of
this report.

* For identification purposes only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PROSPECT

Despite the fact that a number of adverse issues are expected to be faced
by the Group in the future, such as: (i) continuous economic turndown of
the economy and the stumbling of the property market in Hong Kong,
which led to reduction in private investments, especially in the property
market, which has hard hit the construction industry in the end; and (ii)
the possibility of global economic slowdown due to the uplift of the trade
war by the USA, the Group will continue its investment and promotion
of equipment, commit to the concept of the green energy and advocate
specialized machines which can improve the efficiency and effectiveness
of the construction work in the financial year ending 31 March 2026
("FY2026").

Although the Third Runway and Airport Improvement Work are
approaching completion by the end of 2025, the Group will continue to
seize opportunities in the demand for leasing equipment related to key
projects in Hong Kong, namely the Third Runway and Airport Improvement
Work. The Group will also explore more opportunities and demand in
the Tung Chung Work and Kwu Tung Work, as the demand for leasing
equipment for these two key projects are not yet reaching their respective
peaks.

Clearly, the Group will seek to explore more new opportunities across
various works and activities, which have been mentioned in the Chief
Executive’s 2024 Policy Address, including:

0) the construction of the Northern Metropolis;

(i) promoting development of the Hong Kong-Shenzhen Innovation
and Technology Park in the Loop; and

(i) promoting sports development and building Hong Kong into a
centre for mega international sports event.

In Macau, AP Macau will continue to focus on government-related work
as well as special event and entertainment activities to increase leasing
revenues in the coming months.

For the PRC, the Group will concentrate on sourcing and trading of

machinery and spare parts in the PRC for both local and overseas markets
in FY2026.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROSPECT (Continued)

The economy in Singapore continues to thrive. The Group will do its
utmost to maintain the upward trend in revenue through compact lifting
solution strategies and will further invest in leasing equipment, including
the introduction of more types of leasing equipment to meet the growing
demand for leasing in Singapore in FY2026. Recently, Singapore’s Changi
Airport officially broke ground in May 2025 for a new passenger terminal
5. The contract for the terminal 5 was announced in May 2025, totaling
S$4.8 billion. More contracts related to Changi Airport will be announced
later this year, with a total amount reaching tens of billions of Singapore
dollars. These contracts will increase the demand for leasing construction
equipment in Singapore in the coming years.

In the Asia Pacific, the Group is promoting its self-developed Green
and Environmental friendly products to those major international
sports, entertainments projects and outdoor events to promoting the
development and building the Company into a mega event service
provider internationally.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For FY2025, the Group recorded a decrease in revenue of approximately
HK$13.8 million, with the total revenue amounting to approximately
HK$160.2 million for FY2025, representing a decrease of approximately
8.0% as compared to that of approximately HK$174.1 million for FY2024.
The decrease in revenue mainly resulted from the decrease in the sales of
machinery and spare parts of the Group.

(i) Leasing of equipment
During the year under review, the Group's leasing income from rental
services, which involved the rental of construction, electrical and
mechanical engineering and event and entertainment equipment
in Hong Kong, Macau and Singapore, increased to approximately
HK$120.2 million in FY2025 as compared to that of approximately
HKS$114.5 million in FY2024.

As mentioned above, the revenue attributable to the Group's rental
business increased in FY2025 due to the increase in demands from
the construction work as disclosed in the section headed “Business
Overview" of this report.

Leasing income of equipment accounted for approximately 75.0% of
the Group's total revenue for FY2025 (FY2024: approximately 65.8%).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Revenue (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

20

Operating service income

The Group offers equipment operating services by providing
equipment operators to operate the equipment at the job sites
of its customers. For FY2025, revenue from equipment operating
services increased by approximately 0.5% to approximately HK$22.3
million (FY2024: approximately HK$22.1 million), and accounted
for approximately 13.9% of the Group's total revenue for FY2025
(FY2024: approximately 12.7%). The increase in operating services
income in Hong Kong for FY2025 was due to the increase in demand
for leasing equipment which requires operators but revenue in
operating services income in Singapore decreased because the
Group introduced more types of leasing equipment without using
operators in the Singaporean market.

Other service income

The Group’s other service income, which arises from rental
arrangements including repair and maintenance, delivery and
installation services during the rental period, recorded a decrease
amounting to approximately HK$9.9 million for FY2025 (FY2024:
approximately HK$12.6 million). The Group's other service income
accounted for approximately 6.2% of the Group's total revenue for
FY2025 (FY2024: approximately 7.2%). The decrease was mainly
contributed by the decrease in repair and maintenance services
income due to the decrease in demand in the T2-CKR.

Sales of machinery and spare parts

The revenue from sales of machinery and spare parts decreased by
approximately 68.2% from approximately HK$24.9 million for FY2024
to approximately HK$7.9 million for FY2025 mainly due to those
reasons as disclosed in the section headed “Business Overview" of
this report.

The Group's sales of machinery and spare parts accounted for
approximately 4.9% of the Group's total revenue for FY2025 (FY2024:

approximately 14.3%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Cost of Sales and Services

The Group's cost of sales and services amounted to approximately
HKS$113.8 million for FY2025, representing a period-on-period decrease of
approximately 6.8% (FY2024: approximately HK$122.0 million). Cost of sales
and services mainly comprised machinery hiring expenses, staff costs for
the Group's equipment operators, technicians and truck drivers, costs for
machinery and parts for trading and depreciation.

The Group invested on leasing equipment through purchases of leasing
equipment, amounting to approximately HK$28.9 million in FY2025.
However, the Group has also increased the disposal of some leasing
equipment with lower utilisation rates during FY2025 and that some
equipment have been fully depreciated in FY2025, so the depreciation
cost in FY2025 decreased to approximately HK$43.2 million (FY2024:
approximately HK$44.2 million). Staff costs under the cost of sales and
services decreased to approximately HK$36.2 million mainly due to the
net effect of: (i) decrease in provision of long service payment (the “LSP")
to approximately HK$0.2 million in FY2025 (FY2024: approximately HK$1.3
million); and (i) annual increment of salary and wages of staff. Costs for
machinery and parts decreased by approximately 41.0% due to the net
effect of (i) the decrease in sales of machinery and spare parts in FY2025;
and (i) increase in write-down of inventories in FY2025. For details, please
refer to the section headed “Group Overview” of this report.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group's overall gross profit decreased by approximately 10.7% from
approximately HK$52.0 million for FY2024 to approximately HK$46.5
million for FY2025 and the Group's gross profit margin was approximately
29.0% for FY2025 (FY2024: approximately 29.9%). The decrease in gross
profit margin was primarily due to the write-down on inventories mainly
due to slow movement of inventories, which amounted to approximately
HK$3.6 million in FY2025 (FY2024: approximately HK$0.4 million). The
slow movement of inventories of spare parts was due to (i) the increase in
disposal of aged leasing equipment and so the demand of spare parts for
repairing and maintaining the aged leasing equipment decreased; and (ii)
the decrease in sales of machinery and spare parts.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Other Income

The Group recorded other income amounting to approximately
HKS$3.4 million in FY2025 (FY2024: approximately HK$3.2 million), which
represented an increase of approximately 4.5% from FY2024. The
Group recorded an interest income from bank deposits amounting to
approximately HK$2.8 million in FY2025 (FY2024: approximately HK$2.6
million) due to increase in cash balances in FY2025.

Other Gains and Losses

Other gains and losses amounted to approximately HK$10.3 million in
FY2025 (FY2024: approximately HK$2.2 million), representing an increase of
approximately 367.7% over FY2024. The Group recorded exchange gains,
net of approximately HKS$0.7 million in FY2025 (FY2024: exchange losses,
net of approximately HK$0.3 million), which was caused by the exchange
gain recorded for the purchase of machinery in Japanese Yen from Japan
during April 2024 to August 2024. The Japanese Yen was very weak against
Hong Kong dollar during April 2024 to August 2024. The Group also
recorded an increase in gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
from approximately HK$2.5 million in FY2024 to approximately HK$9.6
million in FY2025. For details, please refer to the section headed “Group
Overview" of this report.

Impairment Losses under Expected Credit Loss Model
Recognised on Lease Receivables and Trade Receivables, Net
and Reversal of Impairment Losses Recognised on Property,
Plant and Equipment, Net

The impairment losses under ECL Provision for the Group amounted to
approximately HK$2.8 million in FY2025 (FY2024: reversal of impairment
losses under ECL Provision of approximately HK$1.7 million). For details,
please refer to the section headed “Group Overview" of this report.

The Group has recognised a reversal of impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment, net amounting to approximately HK$0.3 million in
FY2025 (FY2024: impairment losses on property, plant and equipment,
net amounting to approximately HK$0.1 million, which was made for the
provision for impairment for the leasing equipment with low utilization
rate).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Administrative Expenses

For FY2025, administrative expenses amounted to approximately HK$40.7
million (FY2024: approximately HK$39.8 million), representing an increase
of approximately 2.2% over that of FY2024. The increase in administrative
expenses was mainly due to the increase in travelling and entertainment
expenses amounting to approximately HK$3.3 million (FY2024:
approximately HK$2.5 million), which were incurred for business related
matter(s).

Selling and Distribution Expenses

For FY2025, selling and distribution expenses amounted to approximately
HK$0.6 million (FY2024: approximately HK$1.2 million). The decrease
was due to the fact that the market has recognized the effort devoted
by the Group in promoting the concept of “green energy” towards the
construction industry and so less expenses were required to spend on
promotion. Instead, the Group is focusing on enhancing the types of the
products related to “green energy”, such as the introduction of the first
biofuel truck in Hong Kong in FY2025.

Finance Costs

Finance costs mainly comprised interest on the Group's borrowings
and lease liabilities, which amounted to approximately HK$1.9 million in
FY2025 (FY2024: approximately HK$1.7 million). The increase in finance
costs was due to the increase in interest on borrowings in FY2025 for
financing of the investment in leasing equipment and truck made during
FY2025 (approximately HK$1.7 million) when comparing to the interest on
borrowings in FY2024 (approximately HKS$ 1.5 million).

Profit and Total Comprehensive Income for FY2025

The Group recorded profit attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$12.2 million for FY2025 (FY2024: profit attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$10.4 million), representing
a profit margin of approximately 7.6% (FY2024: profit margin of
approximately 6.0%). The increase in profit attributable to owners of the
Company in FY2025 was due to the reasons stated under the section
headed “Group Overview” of this report. The total comprehensive
income for FY2025 was approximately HK$12.3 million (FY2024: total
comprehensive income was approximately HK$9.8 million).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Capital Expenditure

The Group’s capital expenditures in FY2025 primarily comprised
expenditures on leasing machinery, vehicles, leasehold improvements,
furniture and fixtures and office equipment, amounting to a total of
approximately HK$31.8 million (for the year ended 31 March 2024:
approximately HK$30.4 million). The vast majority of the capital
expenditures were used to fund the expansion of the Group’s owned
rental fleet and truck, which accounted for approximately 98.4% of the
total capital expenditure of the Group for FY2025.

Liquidity and Financial Resources Review

The Group financed its operations through a combination of cash flow
from operations and borrowings. As at 31 March 2025, the Group had
cash balances and cash equivalents of approximately HK$108.3 million
(as at 31 March 2024: approximately HK$93.7 million) that were mainly
denominated in Hong Kong Dollars, Japanese Yen, Euro, Macau Pataca
(“MOP”), Singapore Dollars, United States Dollars and Chinese Yuan, and
had borrowings and lease liabilities of approximately HK$49.8 million (as at
31 March 2024: approximately HK$42.7 million) that were denominated in
Hong Kong Dollars.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had banking facilities of approximately
HK$83.3 million (as at 31 March 2024: approximately HK$85.4 million), of
which approximately HK$72.8 million (as at 31 March 2024: approximately
HKS$57.1 million) had been drawn down, and approximately HK$10.5 million
(as at 31 March 2024: approximately HK$28.3 million) were unutilised.

As at 31 March 2025, the gearing ratio of the Group was nil (as at 31 March
2024: nil), which was calculated based on the net debt divided by total
equity. Net debt is defined as the sum of the interest bearing liabilities,
which include borrowings, bank overdraft, lease liabilities, minus the cash
and cash equivalents.

Going forward, the Group expects to fund its future operations and

expansion plans primarily with cash generated from operations and
borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCLU

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Foreign Exchange Risk

Certain transactions of the Group are denominated in currencies which
are different from the functional currencies of the Group, namely, Hong
Kong Dollars, and therefore the Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk. Payments made by the Group for the settlement of its purchases from
suppliers are generally denominated in Hong Kong Dollars, Japanese Yen,
Euro, Singapore Dollars, Chinese Yuan and United States Dollars. Payments
received by the Group from its customers are mainly denominated in Hong
Kong Dollars, MOP, Singapore Dollars, Chinese Yuan and United States
Dollars.

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
Group will continue to monitor closely its exposure to currency movement
and take proactive measures.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associated Companies and Joint Ventures

There were no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associated
companies and joint ventures during FY2025.

Significant Investments
As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any significant investments.

In May 2025, AP Rentals Limited (the “APR"), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, has bought a keyman insurance policy (the
“Keyman Policy”) from HSBC Life (International) Limited, with the insured
being Mr. Lau Tsz Fung, an employee of APR and an executive director of
the Company, for a sum insured of USD2.5 million with a single premium
of approximately USDO0.5 million, with APR being the policyholder of the
Keyman Policy. The Keyman Policy is to be pledged with The Hongkong
and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited (the "HSBC") for the provision
of financial facility amounting to HK$35.0 million to APR and AP Power as
stated in the facility letter issued by HSBC on 19 March 2025 (the “Facility
Letter"). The Facility Letter was approved by the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”) on 30 April 2025.

The purchase of the Keyman Policy was funded by the Group’s internal
resources.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Capital Commitments and Future Plans for Material
Investments or Capital Assets

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had capital commitments of approximately
HK$13.8 million (as at 31 March 2024: approximately HK$19.8 million) to
acquire leasing equipment for the Group.

The acquisition of leasing equipment will be funded by the Group's internal
resources and banking facilities.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2025, deposit placed for a life insurance policy of
approximately HKS$3.1 million (as at 31 March 2024: approximately HK$3.0
million), leasing equipment and trucks of approximately HK$6.0 million
as at 31 March 2025 (as at 31 March 2024: approximately HK$4.5 million),
and bank deposits of approximately HK$0.4 million (as at 31 March 2024:
approximately HK$0.4 million) have been pledged to secure the Group's
borrowings of approximately HK$41.9 million (as at 31 March 2024:
approximately HK$38.4 million).

Segment Information
Segment information is presented for the Group as disclosed in notes 5(a)
and 5(b) of the notes to financial statements of this report.

Human Resources and Employees’ Remuneration

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 129 employees (as at 31 March 2024:
133 employees), of which 117 employees were in Hong Kong (as at 31
March 2024: 120 employees), 3 employees were in Macau (as at 31 March
2024: 4 employees), 6 employees were in Singapore (as at 31 March
2024: 6 employees) and 3 employees were in PRC (as at 31 March 2024:
3 employees). Employees’ remuneration packages are determined with
reference to the market information and individual performance and will
be reviewed on a regular basis. The remuneration policy will be reviewed
by the Board from time to time. In addition to basic remuneration, the
Group also provides medical insurance, makes contributions to provident
funds and provides other benefits to the employees. The total staff costs
including remuneration, other benefits and contributions to retirement
schemes for the directors of the Company and other staff of the Group
for FY2025 amounted to approximately HK$62.8 million (FY2024:
approximately HK$61.2 million). The increase in staff costs was mainly
due to the net effect of: (i) decrease in the provision on LSP in FY2025 to
approximately HK$0.4 million (FY2024: approximately HK$1.3 million); and
(i) the annual increment of salary and wages of staff.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Human Resources and Employees’ Remuneration (Continued)
The Group's technical staff attend seminars jointly conducted by
manufacturers and the Group to acquire product knowledge to ensure
that they are equipped with the necessary skills and knowledge to perform
their duties. Such seminars include training regarding the equipment
structures, operational features, operator safety training and equipment
repair. In addition to the training jointly conducted by manufacturers and
the Group, the Group's technical staff also attend external training courses
and obtain relevant certificates.

Share Option Scheme

To attract and retain the most suitable personnel for development of the
Group, the Group has adopted the share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 17 March 2016. Share options may be granted to eligible employees of
the Group as a long-term incentive. From the date of the adoption of the
Scheme and up to 31 March 2025, no share option has been granted or
agreed to be granted under the Scheme.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
T4 B

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFEPRBHERE

For the year ended 31 March
BZ3A831BLEFE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
2025 £ 2024 F 2023 2022 F 20214
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET FHET FHET FHET
Results ¥4E
Revenue g
Leasing income of equipment HEZHEEA 114,520 111,876 97,436 101,873
Sales of machinery and parts B RS HEE 24,860 20,498 17,757 27,523
Operating service income BRIERISIA 22,143 17,575 12,365 12,777
Other service income HABRBS WA 12,547 10,603 7,240 6,277
174,070 160,552 134,798 148,450
Gross profit E7 52,042 45,019 20,593 18,487
Other income Ela A 3,232 4,986 784 6,576
Other gains HAiss 2,197 9913 9443 5,966
Reversal of impairment losses EHRYE - R
(impairment losses) HEREBEREE
recognised on property, CREEE)
plant and equipment (54) (702) 2435 (5,363)
(Impairment losses) reversal of BIEEHEEEEER
impairment losses under expected 2 A FEU TR E 708
credit loss model recognised & & 5 zE
on lease receivables and trade (RERBE) REEE
receivables net B ElFEE 1677 (3,945) (2,255) 1516
Profit (loss) before tax B ADREM (B518) 13,466 15,099 (4,995) (6,536)
Income tax (expense)/credit FRER (), &R (3,102) (2,323) 540 852
Profit (loss) for the year REEHM(EIR) 10,364 12,776 (4,455) (5,684)
Per share data sREN
Earnings (loss) per share BREM (EE)
— basic (HK cents) — EARGEMW) 1.20 148 (0.52) (0.66)
Financial ratios B LL =
Gross profit margin FEH= 29.9% 28.0% 15.3% 12.5%
Net profit (loss) margin SRR (CFEEER) 6.0% 8.0% (3.3%) (3.8%)
Return on total assets BEEDRE 3.1% 3.9% (1.4%) (1.8%)
Return on equity T O 3 45% 5.7% (2.1%) (2.6%)
Current ratio EN L & 19 1.7 15 18
Assets and liabilities BENEBE
Total assets BEE 339,426 327,887 318,670 310,689
Total liabilities BEE (111,120) (103,729) (106,411) (94,556)
Total equity B 228,306 224,158 212,259 216,133
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

T4 B

FINANCIAL RATIOS

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN (%)

EFIZ (%)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors submit herewith the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is
principally engaged in the provision of equipment rental-related solutions
and value-added services to customers. The principal activities of the
Company's subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES
Details of movement in the reserves of the Group during the year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 135.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, distributable reserves of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$252.8 million (as at 2024: approximately HK$253.3
million).

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31 March 2025 are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 132 to 224 of this annual
report.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK0.70 cent per
share for the year ended 31 March 2025 (FY2024: HK0.60 cent per share).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group are built on professionalism and continuous innovation. As
such, the Group strives to be at the forefront of advanced technological
applications in its industry and offer cost-effective solutions with various
value-added services, including but not limited to the provision of data-
driven solutions for carbon reduction and energy efficiency, which
will ensure that the Group can keep up with the dynamic needs of its
customers and create win-win solutions.

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion of
the Group's future business development are set out in the “Chairman’s
Statement’ and the “Management Discussion and Analysis” sections
on pages 10 to 13 and on pages 14 to 27 of this annual report respectively.
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In respect of business model, the Group is a leading equipment rental
service and related solutions provider having its principal business in Hong
Kong with the capability of providing a wide range of construction, E&M
engineering and event and entertainment equipment, equipment rental-
related solutions and value-added services to its customers. The Group's
strategies are to serve its customers with more value-added services
and professional advice by applying advanced technologies. As such,
the Group has continuously invested on hardware and software every
year. The Group has several major goals of product developments, which
are Comprehensive Digitization, Environmental Friendly and Artificial
Intelligence; as well as the “green concept”, including but not limited to,
providing some raw data related to the emission from the equipment
leased by the customers, use of biodiesel and provision of more efficient,
reliable and cost-effective modes in providing electricity to the customers.
Through the execution of our business strategies, the leasing income of
equipment of the Group increased in Hong Kong, Macau and Singapore.
The continuous promotion of the SSME concept proved that the Group
is on the right track with its strategies. These strategies will be gradually
implemented for electrification of equipment on site by the Group in
coming years. For further details in relation to the Group’s business model
and strategies, please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion
& Analysis” on pages 14 to 27 of this report.

The equipment rental industry is cyclical in general and its revenues are
tied to general economic conditions and to conditions in the construction
and electrical and mechanical engineering (‘E&M" or "E&M engineering")
industry in particular. Our products and services are used primarily in
construction projects which is cyclical and sensitive to changes in general
economic conditions. Weakness in our end-markets, such as a decline in
construction and E&M engineering activities, may decrease the demand
for the Group's equipment or the rental rates or prices that the Group can
charge. Factors that may cause weakness in our end-markets include:

(i) economic slowdown in the PRC and contracted economy in Hong
Kong (e.g., consecutive years with fiscal deficits) may limit the
availability and scale of infrastructure projects;

(i) increased credit risk exposure due to the weak contract enforcement
for contractors from the PRC and due to the potential breakdown
in the capital chain of construction project owners or contractors,
resulting from global economic stagflation pressure; and

(i)  geopolitical conflicts and tensions, as well as unstable political
environment. For instance, the Russia-Ukraine war, Israel-Palestine
conflict, contestation between China and the West and the effects of
the US's tariff policy towards the PRC and Hong Kong.
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DIRECTORS’

RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS (Continued)

Further description of possible capital risks and financial risks facing the
Group are set out in note 30 and note 31 to the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 and the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Foreign Exchange
Risk” on page 25 of this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators is set out in the Group's Five Year Financial Summary
and the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis —
Financial Review” on pages 28 to 30 and on pages 19 to 27 of this annual
report respectively. Particulars of important events affecting the Company
that have occurred since the end of the financial year ended 31 March 2025,
if any, can also be found in this section and the above sections of this annual
report and notes to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND COMPLIANCE
WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of the
environment. In terms of environmental friendliness, we have obtained
the Quality Powered Mechanical Equipment ("“QPME") identification for
most of our rental equipment to which the QPME system is applicable, and
we have filed application for all our equipment which are subject to the
Air Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission) Regulation
(Chapter 311Z of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “NRMM" Regulation), and
have obtained the NRMM label for most of such equipment.

Further details on (i) the Group's environmental policies and performance;
and (ii) the Group's compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group will be set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report’.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
Please refer to pages 88 to 123 for the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of the Company prepared in accordance with
Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and suppliers are keys
to its sustainable development. The Group is committed to establishing a
close and caring relationship with its employees, providing quality services
to its customers and enhancing cooperation with its business partners. The
Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity to our staff,
provides competitive remuneration and benefits and career development
opportunities based on their merits and performance. The Group also puts
ongoing efforts to provide adequate trainings and development resources
to the employees so that they can keep abreast of the latest development
of the market and the industry and, at the same time, improve their
performance and self-fulfillment in their positions.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS (Continued)

The Group provides a wide range of construction, E&M engineering and
event and entertainment equipment, equipment rental-related solutions
and value-added services to customers. The Group maintains good
working relationships between the Group and the customers. The Group
enhances the relationship by continuous interaction with customers to
gain insight on the changing market demand for different products so that
the Group can respond proactively.

The Group maintains sound business relationship with its suppliers and
service providers. In order to have better and close monitoring of suppliers’
performance, the Group’s management conducts performance review
regularly targeting on the Group'’s major suppliers and service providers,
and communicates with them for rectification and improvements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
5 financial years are set out on page 28 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S
LISTED SECURITIES

In FY2025, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association (“Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donation made by the Group during the year was HK$16,387
(FY2024: HK$100,000).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

To attract and retain the most suitable personnel for development of
the Group, the Group has adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 17 March 2016. Share options may be granted to
eligible employees of the Group as a long-term incentive. From the date
of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to 31 March 2025, no
share option has been granted or agreed to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme.

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
(@)  The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions
that Eligible Participants (as defined below) had made or may
make to the Group.

(b)  The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible Participants
with an opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the
Company with the view to achieving the following principal
objectives:

(i) motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and

(i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain ongoing
business relationship with the Eligible Participants
whose contributions are, will or expected to be
beneficial to the Group.

(c) For the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, “Eligible
Participant’ means any person who satisfies the eligibility
criteria in paragraph 2 below.
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Who may join and basis for determining eligibility

(@)

. (i) any
director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,

The Board may at its discretion grant options to*

supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the
Group or a company in which the Group holds an interest or
a subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or (i) the trustee of
any trust the beneficiary of which or any discretionary trust the
discretionary objects of which include any director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner
or adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate; or (jii)
a company beneficially owned by any director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner,
adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.

In order for a person to satisfy the Board that he/she/it is
qualified to be (or, where applicable, continues to qualify to
be) an Eligible Participant, such person shall provide all such
information as the Board may request for the purpose of
assessing his/her/its eligibility (or continuing eligibility).

Each grant of options to a connected person (as defined in
the Listing Rules) of the Company, or any of his associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules), must be approved in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Should the Board resolve that a grantee fails/has failed or
otherwise is/has been unable to meet the continuing eligibility
criteria under the Share Option Scheme, the Company would
(subject to any relevant laws and regulations) be entitled
to deem any outstanding option or part thereof, granted
to such grantee and to the extent not already exercised, as
lapsed, subject to certain requirements (the details of which
are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
in Appendix IV of the prospectus of the Company dated 24
March 2016 (the “Prospectus”)).

The grant of share options to any Eligible Participants shall be subject
to the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as amended from
time to time.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Maximum number of shares of the Company (“Shares”)

available for issue

(@)  The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time. No options
may be granted under any schemes of the Company (including
the Share Option Scheme) if this will result in the said 30%
limit being exceeded.

(b)  The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes involving the issue or grant of
options or similar rights over Shares or other securities by the
Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at 8 April 2016 (the “Listing
Date”), and such 10% limit represents 86,400,000 Shares.
86,400,000 Shares represents 10% of the total Shares in issue
(excluding treasury shares) as at the date of this annual report.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Option Scheme

No option may be granted to any Eligible Participant which, if
exercised in full, would result in the total number of Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options already granted or
to be granted to such Eligible Participant under the Share Option
Scheme (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share
options) in the twelve-month period up to and including the date
of such new grant exceeding 1% in aggregate of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of such grant. Any grant of
further share options above this limit shall be subject to certain
requirements provided under the Listing Rules.

Time of exercise of option

(@)  Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Share Option
Scheme, an option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme and the terms of grant
thereof at any time during the applicable option period, which
is not more than ten years from the date of grant of option.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) B RERT 8 (&)

5. Time of exercise of option (Continued) 5.

(b)  There is no general requirement on the minimum period for
which an option must be held or the performance targets
which must be achieved before an option can be exercised
under the terms of the Share Option Scheme. However, at the
time of granting any option, the Board may, on a case by case
basis, make such grant subject to such conditions, restrictions
or limitations including (without limitation) those in relation
to the minimum period of the options to be held and/or
the performance targets to be achieved as the Board may
determine in its absolute discretion.

6. Consideration for share options and the exercise price 6.

On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board
shall be entitled at any time on a business day within ten years
commencing on the effective date of the Share Option Scheme
to offer the grant of an option to any Eligible Participant as the
Board may in its absolute discretion select in accordance with the
eligibility criteria set out in the Share Option Scheme. An offer shall
be accepted when the Company receives the duly signed offer letter
together with a non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 (or such other
sum in any currency as the Board may determine).

The exercise price for any Share under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Board and notified to each
grantee and shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option, which must be a
business day, (i) an amount equivalent to the average closing price
of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant
of the relevant option and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the
date of grant. The exercise price shall also be subject to certain
adjustments (the details of which are set out in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV of the Prospectus).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

7. Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
Options may be granted to Eligible Participants under the Share
Option Scheme during the period of ten years commencing on the
effective date of the Share Option Scheme. The remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme is approximately eight months as at the date
of this annual report.

The number of share options available for grant under the Share Option
Scheme at the beginning and the end of FY2025 was 86,400,000.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options and awards
granted under the Share Option Scheme during FY2025 divided by the
weighted average number of shares of the relevant class in issue (excluding
treasury shares) for the year is 0.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages IV-12 to IV-22 in Appendix IV to
the Prospectus.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of revenue
attributable to the Group's five largest customers are as follows:

16.0%
33.4%

The largest customer
The five largest customers in aggregate

The percentages of total purchases (defined as the sum of (i) the Group’s
total cost of sales less staff cost and depreciation and (ii) purchases of the
Group's owned rental equipment) for the year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers are as follows:

24.6%
49.6%

The largest supplier
The five largest suppliers in aggregate

At no time during the year did the Directors, their close associates or any
shareholders of the Company, which to the best knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares (excluding treasury
shares), have any interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers and
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors

Lau Pong Sing (Chairman)

Chan Kit Mui, Lina

Lau Tsz Fung (appointed on 1 April 2024)

Non-executive Director
Nakazawa Tomokatsu

Independent non-executive Directors
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond
Siu Chak Yu
Li Ping Chi (retired with effect from the conclusion of
the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 28 August 2024)
Lam Sau Fung (appointed with effect from the conclusion of
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 August 2024)

Mr. Lau Tsz Fung was appointed as the executive director of the Company
with effect from 1 April 2024.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Lau Tsz
Fung, shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and will then be eligible for re-election at
the same meeting. Mr. Lau Tsz Fung was re-elected as an executive director
of the Company at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
28 August 2024.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting (the
"AGM"), one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Ms. Lam Sau Fung was appointed as an independent non-executive Director,
a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee,
and the chairman of the Audit Committee, with effect from the conclusion of
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 August 2024.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 76 to 87 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director to be proposed for re-election at the AGM has an unexpired
service contract which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests or short positions of the Directors in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Future Ordinance (the “SFO")), which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which the directors
and chief executive were deemed or taken to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be recorded in the register therein, or were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix
(3 of the Listing Rules (the "Model Code”) are as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

EERKRG - HEROREERDAVE

SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES wRRE (8
(Continued)
Approximate
Percentage of
Number of Total Issued
Name of Directors Nature of Interest Shares Shares (%)
LB &T
BRG B
EEgE EEME G EE BEAE 2 L (%)
Mr. Lau Pong Sing (Notes 1, 2) Interest in a controlled corporation 363,528,000 (L) 42.08%
2UFA LA (T~ 2) R LR
Interest of spouse 284,471,352 (L) 32.92%
BB &
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (Notes 3, 4) Interest in a controlled corporation 284,471,352 (L) 32.92%
BRRIG 2+ (MH5E3 - 4) R LB R
Interest of spouse 363,528,000 (L) 42.08%

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

(8]

FiBiEss

The Company was directly owned as to 42.08% by New Club House
International Holdings Limited ("New Club House"). By virtue of his
100% shareholding in New Club House, Mr. Lau Pong Sing (“Mr. Lau”) is
deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares held by New Club
House.

Mr. Lau is the spouse of Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (“Ms. Chan”). Under the
SFO, Mr. Lau is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in
which Ms. Chan is interested.

The Company was directly owned as to 32.92% by Great Club House
Holdings Limited (“Great Club House"). By virtue of her 100%
shareholding in Great Club House, Ms. Chan is deemed to be interested in
the same number of Shares held by Great Club House.

Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Lau. Under the SFO, Ms. Chan is deemed to
be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Lau is interested.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
(Continued)

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
March 2025, none of the Directors or chief executives of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, so far as the Directors are aware, the following persons
(other than the directors or chief executive of the Company) were, directly
or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the shares or short positions in the
shares and the underlying shares of the Company, which are required to
be disclosed under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which will be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, were as follows:
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Approximate

Percentage of

Total Number the Issued

Name of Shareholders Nature of Interest of Shares Held Share Capital

HEBTRA

REREHE EEME PR IR 1 4B B BRABED

New Club House' (Note 1) Beneficial interest 363,528,000 (L) 42.08%
New Club House' (K15 1) EmiEam

Great Club House? (Note 2) Beneficial interest 284,471,352 (L) 32.92%
Great Club House? (Fft3¥2) BEmiEms

Kanamoto Japan? (Note 3) Beneficial interest 64,800,648 (L) 7.50%

AR (H5E3) BaEs
Note 1: It is directly wholly-owned by Mr. Lau Pong Sing. It is a controlling

shareholder holding 363,528,000 shares of the Company.

Note 2: It is directly wholly-owned by Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina. It is a controlling
shareholder holding 284,471,352 shares of the Company.
Note 3:  Itis a shareholder holding 64,800,648 shares of the Company.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(Continued)
(B Long position

! “New Club House": New Club House International Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability on 8
June 2015.

2 “Great Club House": Great Club House Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability on 8 June 2015.

3 “Kanamoto Japan’: Kanamoto Co, Ltd* (#f =\, & % 77 7 £ ), a company
incorporated in Japan on 24 September 1937.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors were not aware
of any other corporation or individual (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or a short position in the
Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 164 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides, among
other things, that the Directors, Secretary and other officers of the Company
at any time, whether at present or in the past, shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses as a result
of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors and officers liability
insurance.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in this annual report, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or subsisted
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

* For identification purposes only
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DIRECTORS’

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the section headed “Share Option Scheme’ disclosed above,
at no time during the year, the Company, its holding company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements which would enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate. Save as
disclosed in this report, none of the Directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 was granted any right to subscribe for the
shares or debentures of the Company or its subsidiaries or had exercised
any such right during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2025, the Directors were not aware of any business or
interest of the Directors and their respective associates that had competed
or might compete with the business of the Group and any other conflicts
of interests which any such person had or might have with the Group.

REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed a total of 129 employees (as
at 31 March 2024: 133 employees). For the year ended 31 March 2024,
the staff costs of the Group amounted to approximately HK$62.8 million
(FY2024: approximately HK$61.2 million).

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their performance, qualifications, competence and
job nature.

The remuneration of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee and are decided by the Board, having regard to the Group's
operating results, individual performance and comparing with market
conditions. The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to eligible employees.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group has established a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for its Hong Kong employees. The assets of the scheme are held
separately in funds which are under the control of independent trustees.
The retirement benefit scheme contributions charged to profit or loss
represent contributions paid or payable by the Group to the scheme at 5%
of each of the employees’ monthly relevant income capped at HK$30,000
per month.
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RETIREMENT SCHEME (Continued)

The total costs charged to profit for the year of approximately HK$ 1,730,000
(FY2024: approximately HKS$1,838,000), comprised approximately
HK$54,000 and HKS$1,676,000 (FY2024: approximately HK$36,000 and
HK$1,802,000) in directors’ emoluments and other staff costs respectively,
and represented contributions paid or payable to the schemes by the
Group in respect of the current accounting period. At the end of the
reporting period, there were no forfeited contributions available to reduce
future obligations.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital is held by the
public as required under the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS'’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which any Director or an entity connected with the
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as
at 31 March 2025 or during the year.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contract of significance has

been entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
Controlling Shareholders during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange since 8 April 2016. The net proceeds from IPO of the
Company (after deducting underwriting fee and relevant expenses) were
approximately HK$81.8 million. On 26 June 2024, the Board approved
the extension of the expected timeline to 31 March 2025 for utilising the
unutilised net proceeds for the improvement of facility for maintenance of
the Group's equipment since the Company expected that additional time
was required for the Group for planning and implementation to improve
its facility for maintenance of the Group's equipment. The following table
sets forth the status of the use of proceeds from IPO as at 31 March 2025
and the expected timeline for utilising the unutilised net proceeds:
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Investment in transportation B RIERE 5,808 5,808 =
equipment
Improvement of facility AREBRAE 3,517 3,455 62 Bytheend of
for maintenance of the REWNEHRIE 31 March 2025
Group's equipment R20259F3 A31H
ERAET
General working capital —MREEES 5,726 5,726 -
81,800 81,738 62

The unutilised net proceeds from IPO as at 31 March 2025 in the amount of
approximately HK$62,000 has been utilised by 11 June 2025.

The unutilised amounts of the net proceeds from IPO have been applied
such manner consistent with that mentioned in the Prospectus as at the
date of this report.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In May 2025, APR, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
has bought the Keyman Policy from HSBC Life (International) Limited, with
the insured being Mr. Lau Tsz Fung, an employee of APR and an executive
director of the Company, for a sum insured of USD2.5 million with a single
premium of approximately USD0.5 million, with APR being the policyholder
of the Keyman Policy. The Keyman Policy is to be pledged with HSBC for
the provision of financial facility amounting to HK$35.0 million to APR and
AP Power Limited as stated in the Facility Letter. The Facility Letter was
approved by the board of directors of the Company on 30 April 2025.

Save as disclosed, there is no material subsequent event undertaken by the
Company or by the Group after 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this
annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the significant related party transactions which were
conducted in the ordinary course of business are set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the related party
transactions set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements
constituted connected transactions/continuing connected transactions,
or they constituted connected transactions/continuing connected
transactions but were exempted from all disclosure and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HKO0.70 cent
(for the year ended 31 March 2024: HK0.60 cent) per share for the year
ended 31 March 2025. The final dividend will be paid to the shareholders
of the Company whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company as at 5 September 2025, if the proposal is approved by
the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. It is expected that the final dividend will be paid on or around
16 September 2025. Combined with the interim dividend of HK0.16 cent
per share, the full year dividend amounts to HK0.86 cent per share (FY2024
full year dividend — HKO0.60 cent per share).

DIVIDEND POLICY
On 29 January 2019, the dividend policy was approved by the Board with
details as set out below.

Provided that the Group is profitable and without affecting the normal
operations of the Group, the Company may consider to declare and pay
dividends to the Shareholders.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall take into account various factors
including but not limited to, (i) the cashflow of the Group, whether
it is adequate for the Group to operate its daily operation; (ii) capital
requirements of the Group; (iii) operating results and performance of the
Group; (iv) the indebtedness of the Group; (v) the economic outlook; (vi)
the compliance of any signed financial covenants of the Group; and (vii) the
future prospects of the Group, as well as the interests of the Shareholders.

Declaration and payment of dividend by the Company are also subject
to the laws of the Cayman Islands, the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations
(including but not limited to the Listing Rules).

For the avoidance of doubt, there can be no assurance that a dividend will
be proposed or declared in any specific period.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM of the
Company to be held on 28 August 2025, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from 25 August 2025 to 28 August 2025 (both
days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares of the Company
will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM,
all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen'’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on 22 August 2025.

For ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from 3 September
2025 to 5 September 2025 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible
for the proposed final dividend, all transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre 183 Queen'’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong,
for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 2 September 2025.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of the
Company is to be proposed at the 2025 AGM.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's securities.

By order of the Board
LAU Pong Sing

Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Company’s culture

Purpose and Values

The Group is built on professionalism and continuous innovation. The
differences it makes for its clients and its communities come down to its
core values: integrity, excellence, collaboration, and evolution.

The Group has always been a trailblazer since establishment. Having
prioritised sustainability and workplace safety in all aspects of its business
operations, it strives to be at the forefront of advanced technological
applications in the industry and offer cost-effective solutions to keep up
with the dynamic needs of its customers. Riding the wave of sustainability,
the Group is the pioneer in Hong Kong to introduce data-driven solutions
for carbon reduction and energy efficiency to its clients. With its exemplary
quality of services and profound industry expertise, it has been entrusted
by governmental bodies and other market practitioners for long-term
advice on some of the most intricate projects. Together, the Group grows
hand in hand with its stakeholders.

Vision

To be a pioneering equipment services provider that transcends with
excellence and advanced technologies to businesses and individuals
worldwide.

Mission

To be a socially responsible corporate that brings value-for-money and
pragmatic one-stop solutions to customers and communities through
innovation and quality services.
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The Company recognises the importance of corporate transparency and
accountability. The Company is committed to achieving a high standard
of corporate governance and leading the Group to attain better results
and improve its corporate image with effective corporate governance
procedures.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has engaged an
international consulting firm (the “Consultant”) to review and recommend
appropriate actions so as to ensure that the Company is complying with
the requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) in relation to
internal controls assessment, enterprise risk management and corporate
governance advising services. A review on the Company’s internal controls,
enterprise risk management and corporate governance practices were
conducted by the Consultant for FY2025, and the Company has been
improving its internal controls, enterprise risk management and corporate
governance practices continuously with reference to the Consultant’s
recommendations. Moreover, the Company has adopted its corporate
governance practices which are reproduced from the code provisions in
the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set
out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has complied with the
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules (“CG Code”), save and except for the deviation from
code provision C.2.1.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. The roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company are both performed by Mr. Lau Pong Sing. The Board believes
that vesting of the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in
the same individual provides the Company with strong and consistent
leadership, efficient usage of resources and allows for effective planning,
formulation and implementation of the Company’s business strategies
which will enable the Company to sustain the development of its business
efficiently.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Whistleblowing Policy

The Board adopted a whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing
Policy”) in 2016. The purpose of the Whistleblowing Policy is to (i) foster a
culture of compliance, ethical behaviour and good corporate governance
across the Group; and (i) promote the importance of ethical behaviour and
encourages the reporting of misconduct, unlawful and unethical behavior.

The nature, status and the results of the complaints received under the
Whistleblowing Policy are reported to the Audit Committee. No incident
of fraud or misconduct that have a material effect on the Group’s financial
statements or overall operations for the year ended 31 March 2025 has
been discovered.

The Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed and updated periodically by the
Audit Committee to ensure its effectiveness.

Anti-corruption Policy

The Board adopted an anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-corruption
Policy”) on 30 December 2022. The Group is committed to achieving
the highest standards of integrity and ethical behaviour in conducting
business. The Anti-corruption Policy forms an integral part of the Group's
corporate governance framework. The Anti-corruption Policy sets out
the specific behavioural guidelines that the Group's personnel and
business partners must follow to combat corruption. It demonstrates the
Group's commitment to the practice of ethical business conduct and the
compliance of the anti-corruption laws and regulations that apply to its
local and foreign operations. In line with this commitment and to ensure
transparency in the Group's practices, the Anti-corruption Policy has been
prepared as a guide to all employees of the Group and third parties dealing
with the Group.

The Anti-corruption Policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align
with the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best
practice.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the directors of the Company. The Company has made
specific enquiries to all directors of the Company regarding any non-
compliance with the Model Code. All the directors of the Company
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code in FY2025.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

B SRETR R

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for overseeing and supervising the management
of the business affairs and overall performance of the Group and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by directing
and supervising the Group's affairs. The Board focuses on formulating
the Group’s overall strategies, authorizing the development plan and
budget; monitoring financial and operating performance; reviewing the
effectiveness of the internal control system; supervising and managing
management’s performance of the Group; and setting the Group'’s
values and standards. The Board delegates the day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Group to the management. The
delegated functions are reviewed by the Board periodically to ensure that
they accommodate the needs of the Group.

BOARD COMPOSITION

Currently, the Board comprises three executive Directors, one non-
executive Director (the “NED") and three independent non-executive
Directors (the “INEDs"). Since there are three independent non-executive
Directors and at least one of the INEDs possesses the appropriate
professional accounting qualifications and financial management expertise,
the Company has complied with the requirements under Rule 3.10 of the
Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Company has complied with Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules. The number of INEDs represents more than one-third
of the Board. As such, there exists a strong independent element in the
Board, which can effectively exercise independent judgement. The Board
comprises the following Directors:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lau Pong Sing (21#8/X,) (Chairman; Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (B2 18 ) (Chief Operating Officer)
Mr. Lau Tsz Fung (2734 ) (Vice president for sales and marketing of
AP Rentals Limited) (appointed as executive Director on 1 April 2024)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu ()2 & 52,)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond ({a]§&%x)
Mr. Siu Chak Yu (FE'Z25)
Mr. Li Ping Chi (Z=4R7) (retired with effect from the conclusion of
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 August 2024)
Ms. Lam Sau Fung (##5Bl) (appointed with effect from the conclusion of
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 August 2024)
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The Chairman and executive Director, Mr. Lau Pong Sing, is the spouse of
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, an executive Director. Mr. Lau Tsz Fung, who is an
executive Director, is the son of Mr. Lau Pong Sing and Ms. Chan Kit Mui,
Lina. The executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Pong Sing and Ms. Chan Kit
Mui, Lina, are interested in the shares of the Company through their interest
in New Club House International Holdings Limited (‘New Club House")
and Great Club House Holdings Limited (“Great Club House") respectively
(for details, please refer to the Prospectus). Instances of actual or potential
conflict have been identified and minimised. Please refer to the “Directors
and Senior Management’, ‘Directors’ Report — Directors’ Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures’
and “Directors’ Report — Related Party Transactions” on pages 76
to 87, pages 41 to 44, page 48 in this annual report respectively for more
details. Save as disclosed above, the Directors have no other financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with one another
as at the date of this annual report.

To prevent management from abusing its power, the Company has
set up four committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, and the Risk Management
Committee, to monitor and supervise the activities of chairman and chief
executive officer with scrutiny. In particular, the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee are both chaired by INEDs to ensure objective
and thorough supervision over the development of Company's strategy
and policies.

Board Independence

The Board has appointed three INEDs to provide independent and
objective advice and oversight to the board and management team to
enhance effectiveness, transparency, accountability, and sound decision-
making. The background of each director to be appointed is evaluated
during the appointment process. The Company'’s existing governance
framework and mechanisms (including selection and appointment
criteria and appropriate remuneration packages) effectively ensure the
independent views and input of INEDs and NED.
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Non-executive Director and Independent non-executive
Directors

Coming from diverse business and professional backgrounds, the NED
and the INEDs of the Company have shared their valuable experiences
to the Board for promoting the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders. The appointment of each of the NED and the INEDs is for
an initial term of three years and shall thereafter continue on a month
to month basis unless otherwise agreed between the director and the
Company in writing or terminated in accordance with the terms of the
letter of appointment. Each of them is also subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles”).

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each INED, a written confirmation of his
independence to the Company pursuant to the requirements of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all INEDs to be independent in accordance
with the relevant guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director was provided with the necessary induction,
training and information to ensure that he/she has proper understanding
of his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and the applicable laws,
rules and regulations prior to his/her appointment. The Directors are
encouraged to participate in continuous professional development courses
and seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company will continue to arrange and fund suitable training and regular
seminars to provide Directors with updates on the latest developments
and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, all Directors have attended training
in connection with their responsibilities as a director of the Company, and
the attendance of each of the Directors is set out in the table below:

Name of Directors

ESHR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau Pong Sing (2IFB/X )
(Chairman; Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (FRZ18§)
(Chief Operating Officer)

Mr. Lau Tsz Fung (21-F8%) (Director)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (2 & 52.)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond (fa]$22g)

Mr. Siu Chak Yu (B'2F)

Mr. Li Ping Chi (Z=fR5)
(retired with effect from the conclusion of the AGM
of the Company held on 28 August 2024)

Ms. Lam Sau Fung (#£55[Bl)
(appointed with effect from the conclusion of the AGM
of the Company held on 28 August 2024)
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In April 2019, each of Mr. Lau Pong Sing (“Mr. Lau”) and Ms. Chan Kit Mui,
Lina ("Ms. Chan”), who is an executive Director, has entered into a service
agreement with the Company with no fixed term but may be terminated
pursuant to the respective terms of the service agreement (including the
termination by 3 months’ prior notice in writing by either party to the service
agreement). The basic directors’ emoluments for Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan are
HK$2,808,000 for 12 months and HK$2,304,000 for 12 months, respectively.
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu, a NED, entered into a letter of appointment dated
14 December 2018 with the Company, pursuant to which his appointment
would be for an initial term of three years, and shall thereafter continue
on a month to month basis unless otherwise agreed between the director
and the Company in writing or terminated in accordance with the terms of
the letter of appointment. Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu is not entitled to any
remuneration according to the letter of appointment. In addition, each of
the INEDs, namely Mr. Li Ping Chi, Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Mr. Ho Chung Tai,
Raymond, has entered into a letter of appointment dated 8 April 2019 with
the Company, pursuant to which his appointment would be for an initial
term of three years, and shall thereafter continue on a month to month basis
unless otherwise agreed between the director and the Company in writing
or terminated in accordance with the terms of the letter of appointment.
Each of Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Mr. Li Ping Chi, is entitled to a remuneration in
the sum of HK$21,000 per month. Mr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, is entitled to
a remuneration in the sum of HK$52,500 per month.

On 14 December 2022, the Board, with the recommendation of the
remuneration committee, approved the increase of the directors’
remuneration of each of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan, to HK$242,550 per month
and HK$198,450 per month, respectively, starting from 1 January 2023
and approved a discretionary annual bonus for Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan,
amounting to HK$462,000 and HK$378,000 respectively.

On 22 March 2023, the Board, with the recommendation of the
remuneration committee, approved the increase of the directors’
remuneration of the INEDs with effect from 1 April 2023. Each of Mr. Siu
Chak Yu and Mr. Li Ping Chi, is entitled to a remuneration in the sum
of HK$22,050 per month. Mr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, is entitled to a
remuneration in the sum of HK$55,125 per month.

On 23 August 2023, the Board, with the recommendation of the
remuneration committee of the Company, approved the increase of
the director’s remuneration of Ms. Chan from HK$198,450 per month to
HK$238,450 per month. Such increase was to compensate the loss of the
provision of the quarter for Ms. Chan. The provision of housing benefits
was included in the service agreement entered into with the Company in
April 2019.
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On 18 January 2024, the Board, with the recommendation of the
remuneration committee, approved a discretionary annual bonus for Mr.
Lau and Ms. Chan, amounting to HK$242,550 and HK$238,450 respectively.

On 28 February 2024, the Board, with the recommendation of the
nomination committee (which has taken into account the factors set out
in the director nomination policy of the Company), appointed Mr. Lau Tsz
Fung (“Mr. TF Lau") as an executive Director of the Company with effect
from 1 April 2024. Mr. TF Lau has entered into a service agreement with the
Company with no fixed term but may be terminated pursuant to the terms
of the service agreement (including the termination by at least 3 months'
notice in writing by either party to the service agreement to the other
party). Mr. TF Lau is entitled to, under the service agreement: (i) a monthly
salary of HK$115,000; (i) housing allowance of HK$20,000 per month;
and (jii) discretionary bonus and other benefits as may be determined by
the Board upon recommendation of the remuneration committee of the
Company.

Mr. TF Lau has obtained a letter of advice from Deacons, our legal advisers
as to Hong Kong law, on 1 February 2024, (a) enclosing therewith a
memorandum which gives an overview of the main requirements relating
to a listed issuer and/or its directors; and (b) setting out the possible
consequences of making a false declaration or giving false information
to the Stock Exchange for the purpose of complying with Rule 3.09D of
the Listing Rules. He has also obtained details for accessing and viewing a
directors training video prepared by Deacons on 31 January 2024. He has
confirmed to the Company that he understood his obligations as a director
of a listed issuer.

On 20 January 2025, the Board, with the recommendation of the
remuneration committee, approved (i) a discretionary annual bonus for
each of Mr. Lau, Ms. Chan and Mr. TF Lau, amounting to HK$242,550,
HK$238,450 and HK$230,000 respectively; and (ii) the increase of the
monthly salary of Mr. Lau, Ms. Chan and Mr. TF Lau to HK$248,650,
HK$244,450 and HK$119,600 per month respectively.

With effect from the conclusion of the AGM of the Company held on 28
August 2024, Mr. Li Ping Chi retired as an independent non-executive
Director, and ceased to be the chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Ms. Lam Sau Fung was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee and the chairman of the Audit Committee with effect from the
conclusion of the AGM of the Company held on 28 August 2024.
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Lam Sau Fung has obtained a letter of advice from Deacons, our legal
advisers as to Hong Kong law, on 16 July 2024, (a) enclosing therewith a
memorandum which gives an overview of the main requirements relating
to a listed issuer and/or its directors; and (b) setting out the possible
consequences of making a false declaration or giving false information
to the Stock Exchange for the purpose of complying with Rule 3.09D of
the Listing Rules. She has also obtained details for accessing and viewing
a directors training video prepared by Deacons on 16 July 2024. She has
confirmed to the Company that she understood her obligations as a
director of a listed issuer.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of the Directors are governed by the Articles. Article 83(3) of the Articles
provides that any director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, at each AGM, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three,
the number nearest to, but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
AGM at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as
necessary to ascertain the number of directors to retire by rotation) any
Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any
further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to
retirement by rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-
election or appointment and so that as between persons who became or
were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

Mr. TF Lau held office until the last AGM held on 28 August 2024 and was
re-elected as Director at that AGM. At the last AGM held on 28 August
2024, Mr. Li Ping Chi, Mr. Lau Pong Sing and Mr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond
have retired. Mr. Li Ping Chi had informed the Board that he would not
offer himself for re-election at the last AGM due to his other business
commitments. Mr. Lau Pong Sing and Mr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond have
been re-elected as Directors of the Company at the last AGM. Ms. Lam Sau
Fung was appointed as a Director of the Company with effect from the
conclusion of the AGM held on 28 August 2024.
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Pursuant to the CG Code provision C.5.1, the Board should meet regularly
and Board meetings should be held at least four times a year. The Board
meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall strategies as well
as the operation and financial performance of the Group. Directors may
participate in Board meetings either in person or through electronic means
of communications.

If a director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board has determined to be material, the Director shall
abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions and he/she shall not
be counted in the quorum in the Board meeting discussing the matter
concerned.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, 9 Board meetings were held and
1 general meeting of the Company was held. Set out below are details of
the attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, committee
meetings and general meetings held during the year ended 31 March
2025:

Board
Name of Director Meeting
Ezg
Y &%
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HTES
Mr. Lau Pong Sing (218 (Chairman) BRKAE(EE) 99
Ms. Chan it Mui, Lina (B2 18) RZiegt 9/9
Mr. Lau Tsz Fung (2] 752) B 7ieks 9/9
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FRTES
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (2R 72) RERRLE 9/9
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BIkHTES
Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond ({1 &%) fEREL TEA 9/9
Mr. Siu Chak Yu (B52F) BEFRE 9/9
Mr. Li Ping Chi (285 )% FRERE 22
Ms. Lam Sau Fung (#F5 Bl )* MEB L 717
* Attendance of this director is stated by reference to the number of relevant

meetings held during the director’s tenure.
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THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

An AGM is an important forum in which the management of the Company
can communicate with the shareholders. The last AGM was held on
28 August 2024 and the upcoming AGM will be held on 28 August 2025.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee (collectively the “Board
Committees’). The Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee perform their distinct roles in accordance
with their respective terms of reference which are available to shareholders
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board
Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company's expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 17 March 2016, with specific
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules
and paragraph D.3.3 of the CG Code. As at the date of this report, Audit
Committee comprises three members, all being INEDs, namely, Dr. Ho
Chung Tai, Raymond, Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Ms. Lam Sau Fung (Chairman).

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee include, among others,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal
of the external auditor, reviewing the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting and overseeing the internal control
procedures of the Company.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules in that the
Audit Committee must comprise a minimum of three members, at least
one of whom is an independent non-executive Director who possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required in Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
The Audit Committee must be chaired by an independent non-executive
director.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, 6 meetings of the Audit Committee
were held to make recommendations to the Board as follows: (i) on the
re-appointment of the auditor and to approve the engagement letter
of the auditor; (i) advise the Board to engage the Consultant to provide
advisory services about the internal controls assessment, enterprise risk
management and corporate governance advising services; and (iii) review
the unaudited interim results of the Group for the six months ended 30
September 2024 and audited annual results of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024.
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On 26 June 2025, a meeting was held to review the Group’s financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2025. The Audit Committee is of
the opinion that the financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2025 complied with the applicable accounting standards and the
Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Audit Committee oversees the corporate governance functions of
the Company. The responsibilities of the Audit Committee in relation to
corporate governance functions are set out in the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee. Upon the listing of the Company, the Audit Committee
appointed the Consultant to perform a CG Code compliance review. The
review covered the Company’s terms of reference of Board Committees,
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and the senior management
and disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report. The Consultant
has provided certain recommendations on improving the Company's
corporate governance practices, which the Company has adopted
accordingly to ensure sound corporate governance practices.

The Board is responsible for performing certain corporate governance
duties set out in the CG Code, including but not limited, (i) to develop and
review the Company's corporate governance policies and practices; (i) to
review and monitor the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management of the Group; (iii) to review and
monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements; (iv) to develop, review and monitor the code
of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and (v) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 17 March 2016, with
specific written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B.3.1
of the CG Code. As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee
comprises three members, being one executive Director, namely, Mr. Lau
Pong Sing (Chairman), and two INEDs, namely, Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Ms.
Lam Sau Fung. Accordingly, a majority of the members are independent
non-executive Directors.

The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, 2 meetings of the Nomination
Committee were held to review composition of board members and make
recommendation to the Board in relation to the directors to be retired
from office by rotation and then subject to re-election in the AGM of 2024.
The Committee has also reviewed and recommended the appointment
of Ms. Lam Sau Fung as a new independent non-executive director of the
Company, on 23 July 2024,

The Nomination Committee has considered the diversity of Board
members of the Company including but not limited to the gender, age,
cultural background and ethnicity when reviewing and discussing on the
proposed re-election of Directors and appointment of a Director during
the year ended 31 March 2025.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 17 March 2016, with
specific written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.26 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph E.1.2 of the CG Code. As at the date of this
report, the Remuneration Committee comprises three members, being
one executive Director, namely, Mr. Lau Pong Sing, and two INEDs, namely,
Mr. Siu Chak Yu (Chairman) and Ms. Lam Sau Fung. Accordingly, a majority
of the members are INEDs.

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include,
among others, (i) making recommendations to the Board on the policy
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a set of formal and transparent procedures for
developing policies on such remuneration; (i) reviewing and approving
the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's
corporate goals and objectives; and (i) making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of executive Directors and members
of senior management.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, 2 meetings of the Remuneration
Committee were held to review the remuneration package of the staff
and directors of the Group and to make recommendations to the Board
on such remuneration packages. The Committee has reviewed and
recommended the remuneration of Ms. Lam Sau Fung on 23 July 2025,
who was appointed as a new independent non-executive director of the
Company with effect from the conclusion of the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 28 August 2025. The Committee has also reviewed
and recommended the remuneration packages of Mr. Lau, Ms. Chan and
Mr. TF Lau and the discretionary bonus for each of Mr. Lau, Ms. Chan and
Mr. TF Lau on 20 January 2025.

REMUNERATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT BY BAND

Details of the annual remuneration of the senior management of the
Company then in office by band for the year ended 31 March 2025 are as
follows:
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Number of individuals AE

Number of
Remuneration band individuals
FENAR B AE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 L% 1,000,000 87T 1
HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 77T 2 1,500,000 78 7T 1
HK$ 1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 775 2 2,000,000 78 7T 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7 7T & 3,500,000 77T 2
Total @t 5

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 March
2025 are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

OTHER COMMITTEES

A Risk Management Committee under the management of the Company
has been established. As at the date of this report, Risk Management
Committee comprises four members, being three executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Lau Pong Sing and Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, Mr. TF Lau and
one senior staff member of the Company, namely Mr. Wong Cheuk Man.
The primary responsibilities of the Risk Management Committee are
to deliberate risk management related policies and procedures, review
the effectiveness of risk management activities and handle issues of
emergency.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, 2 meetings were held to work
with the Consultant to identify risk events, establishing the risk inventory,
performing risk assessment and formulating risk mitigation plans for
preparing the risk management report for the Group.
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The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views
are available to the Board with the adoption of the Company's director
nomination policy and board diversity policy, details of which are set out as
follows:

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION

The Company is devoted to incorporating diversity and inclusivity in the
workplace in which all employees feel equally valued, involved, supported,
and respected for demonstrating their unique talent and perspectives.
Celebrating differences and promoting equal opportunities could serve
as the catalyst for keeping the attainment of the Company’s strategic
objectives and sustainable development. In doing so, the Company
made initiatives and prepared the action plan with measurable goals that
promote diversity and inclusion in the workplace.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board composition to enhance the quality of its performance. Diversity of
Board members can be achieved through consideration of several factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural background and ethnicity,
in addition to educational background, professional qualifications, industry
and regional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All the
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against appropriate criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board.

The path to the Company’s sustainable and balanced development is built
on diversity and inclusion. The Board currently has two female directors.
Following the retirement of Mr. Li Ping Chi, Ms. Lam Sau Fung, was appointed
as a director to join the Board with effect from the conclusion of the AGM
held on 28 August 2024. As part of our diversity initiatives, the Company
and our male senior management are committed to gender diversity in the
workplace and advocate for gender equality in the organisation. For more
information on the Company’s diversity and inclusion, such as the gender
ratio in the workforce (including senior management), please refer to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

1. Purpose and objectives
On 29 January 2019, the director nomination policy (the “Policy”)
was approved by the Board with details as set out below:

1.1 The Policy sets out the procedures and criteria to be adopted
by the Nomination Committee of the Company in relation
to the selection, appointment and reappointment of the
Directors.

1.2 The Policy aims at ensuring that the Board has a balance of

skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the requirements of the Company’s business.
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Selection criteria
The Nomination Committee shall consider the following factors

(“Selection Criteria”) when nominating potential candidates for the

appointment and reappointment of Directors:

whether the individual's educational background and
qualification, skills and experience are relevant to the
Company's business model and specific needs;

the individual’s character and reputation for integrity;

whether the individual would be able to devote sufficient time
to the Board;

(in respect of appointment and reappointment of
independent non-executive Directors) independence of the
individual with reference to the independence criteria set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules;

how the individual would be able to contribute to the diversity
of the Board with reference to the factors set out in the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company from time to time in force;
and

Board succession planning considerations.

Procedures and process for nomination of Directors

3.1

32

33

The Board or the Nomination Committee shall deploy such
channel(s) for identifying suitable director candidates as it
deems appropriate, including but not limited to referrals
from existing Directors, Shareholders, advisers and third party
agency firms and advertisements.

The Nomination Committee shall adopt such process as it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the potential
candidates, such as interviews, background checks and third
party reference checks, and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals to be nominated
for directorships based on the Selection Criteria.

The ultimate responsibility for the selection and appointment
of Directors shall rest with the Board.
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Mr. Lau Pong Sing, Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, New Club House and Great
Club House (collectively the “Controlling Shareholders”), have entered
into a deed of non-competition dated 18 March 2016 (“Deed of Non-
competition”) with the Company, pursuant to which the Controlling
Shareholders of the Company have irrevocably undertaken to the
Company that he/she/it would not, and would procure that his/her/its
close associates (except any members of the Group) would not, during the
restricted period, directly or indirectly, either on his/her/its own account or
in conjunction with or on behalf of any person, firm or company, among
other things, carry on, participate or be interested or engaged in or acquire
or hold (in each case whether as shareholder, director, partner, agent,
employee or otherwise, and whether for profit, reward or otherwise) any
business which is or may be in competition with the business currently
carried on or contemplated to be carried on by any member of the Group
(save and except for certain residual contracts of which shall be terminated
upon their respective expiry dates (the details of which are set out in the
Prospectus)). Details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the
Prospectus. The Company entered into the supplemental deed on 10 May
2019 (“Supplemental Deed") with the Controlling Shareholders to amend
the Deed of Non-competition. Pursuant to the Supplemental Deed, the
geographic coverage under the definition of “Restricted Business” (as
defined in the Deed of Non-competition) and the undertaking given by the
Controlling Shareholders will be expanded to include the PRC. The details
of the transaction were set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 10 May 2019 and the circular of the Company dated 3 June 2019,
respectively.

The Supplemental Deed and the rights and obligations thereunder are
conditional upon (i) the independent shareholders of the Company
having approved the Supplemental Deed and the rights and obligations
thereunder at a general meeting of the Company as required by and
in accordance with the Listing Rules; and (ii) the completion of the
transactions contemplated under the Equity Transfer Agreement
(as defined in the circular of the Company dated 3 June 2019). The
Supplemental Deed and the transactions contemplated thereunder were
approved at an extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 25 June
2019. Completion of the acquisition took place on 20 September 2019.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has provided confirmation(s) in
respect of compliance with his/her/its undertaking under the Deed of Non-
competition (as amended and supplemented by the Supplemental Deed)
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2025

2 3B K 5 4 - BRIZ 18 22 £+ New Club House &
Great Club House (£i78 [ ARR ) B EHAR AET
Y BEA2016F3 A 18BN TRFRIE([FHSE
2] Bt AR B R E A H )
RAREHE  RIBHBEANR BT ewRER
ZEHBA (REBIMRAERARIBRIN TS ETT
FBRFARIMAL - BRBAR] - HEKHE
B (HPeE)#T  2HEgEGRE It E K
BB E(THEOUARE - EE - A8A R
B EBEREME D N wmARS - EHRsE
ftb R A ) (T 1] B LA S AT RE AR SE B (TR i B A &)
B ATFT R B B B E BB AR F (£
(EREZAEMBBRIENE THTA LRI
(EFBENEBRER)) - ABETHFZENF
BEHNBRER [EERBRRANER] &K
NEIE R 201945 A 10 B EIERE AR R ET 3 1/ 5 2
B(MERE])  MSET IR FRIE - RIEfTT
2 [ZRHEEE| (ERRTHIZBR)ERT
1 3 &5 [B] AT AR AR SR AE L AR BB A E B IEF
o RGWFHB A AER A AT AE R 201965
A1I0BMAERAARBHA2019F6 A3HK
]

TR R E B T AR BERER AR R Tt
MIBAAR  (VARRINBLRREET LR
AIMESR - RARRRERE EHERFTRER
HIBTAAEREEN ERLR - &) e RESE
Em(EEAARFHEA2019F6 A3HME
) IETHETHRS - AZEREE T #HE
TR ZGRARTR 201996 A 25 B BB
BRI RS R E - W 20198 9 A 20 B BRI
i o

HZE20255F3 831 HIEFE  SERBREEHE
FERTHFRIE(EmMaREEsT kmEx) T
K GE TR FER K o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the status
of compliance by each of the Controlling Shareholders of the terms of
the Deed of Non-competition (as amended and supplemented by the
Supplemental Deed) and were satisfied that each of the Controlling
Shareholders has complied with his/her/its undertaking during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the remunerations paid or payable
to the external auditors in respect of its audit services and non-audit
services provided to the Group were approximately HK$1.8 million and
approximately HK$0.5 million, respectively. The non-audit services consist
of taxation advising service (approximately HK$S0.1 million), internal controls
assessment, enterprise risk management and corporate governance
advising services (approximately HK$0.4 million) and other services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY IN
RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2025. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The statement of the independent
auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on
pages 124 to 131.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Group has established a risk management framework, which consists
of the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management
Committee. The Board of Directors determines the nature and extent of
risks that shall be taken in achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and
has the overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation
and the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy in
providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing significant
risks. At least on an annual basis, the Risk Management Committee
identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement of the Group's
objectives, and assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according to
a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then
established and assigned for those risks considered to be significant.
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The key elements of the risk management and internal controls systems
of the Group include the establishment of a strategic risk register to
monitor, evaluate and assess the identified risks. Risk assessment exercise
is performed periodically by interviewing with the management of the
Group so as to identify and prioritise risk events according to vulnerability
and impact. The risk assessment results and mitigation plan are recorded
to the risk register of the Group for monitoring and to ensure appropriate
controls and mitigation actions are in place.

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control system. The internal controls are designed
to meet the Group's particular needs and to minimise the risks to which
the Group is exposed, and are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risks to achieve business objectives of the Group, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against misstatements or losses.

The Company does not have an internal audit function. The audit
committee of the Company recommended the Company to engage
an external consultant to perform the annual review of the Group's
internal controls, enterprise risk management and corporate governance
practices based on the consideration that: (i) the resources for maintaining
an internal audit function for the Group will be very costly; and (ii) its
effectiveness and efficiency might be jeopardized by any staff turnover.
The engagement of a renowned external consultant can ensure that the
effectiveness and efficiency in performing the internal audit function.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company engaged the
Consultant to review the effectiveness of certain of the Group’s internal
controls assessment, enterprise risk management and corporate
governance matters. Deficiencies in the design and implementation of
internal controls are identified and recommendations are proposed for
improvement. Significant internal control deficiencies are reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board of Directors on a timely basis to ensure
prompt remedial actions are taken. Results of risk management and internal
controls review and are reported to the Audit Committee and the Board at
least once a year. During the year under review, the Consultant has issued
the internal controls report ("IC Report’), enterprise risk management
report ("ERM Report”’) and the Corporate Governance report ("CG
Report’) to the Audit Committee and the Board. The Board has adopted
the advice made in the IC Report, the ERM Report and the CG Report and
has continuously improving its corporate governance practices and risk
management with reference to the Consultant’s recommendations.

As a result of the above review, the Board confirms that the Group's risk
management and internal control systems are adequate and effective
and have complied with the CG Code provisions on risk management and
internal control throughout the year ended 31 March 2025.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR

THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO.
Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that
the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that
confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would immediately
disclose the information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure
that information contained in announcements are not false or misleading
as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a
material fact. The Group is committed to ensure that information contained
in announcements is presented in a clear and balanced way, which
requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The role of the company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary’) is performed by Mr. Wong Cheuk Man. The Company Secretary
is responsible for facilitating the Board's processes and communications
among Board members, shareholders and the management of the
Company. The Company Secretary undertakes at least 15 hours of relevant
professional training annually to update his skills and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communications between the shareholders and the Board. An AGM of the
Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined
by the Board.
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SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS
The Board recognizes the vital role of shareholders and other investors EEE&RARE M HMIGTEEEETER A HE
in determining a business’s sustainable growth and development. The EREBERFEDEEZAE  NQ BB HER
Company is committed to maintaining an open, ongoing, and transparent R T IHRF AR - HE LBERANEE - A(2HE
dialogue for facilitating the effective and timely dissemination of the B RERFEM AR TN EL KRR - KAFE
Company's information and performance with its shareholders and market.  HBaF{h M aFAZ AR B S BB RIE - RERES
The effectiveness of the Company’s engagements with Shareholders R ARESHFIOT :

is assessed and evaluated regularly. The channels for shareholders to

communicate their views are listed below:

Shareholders’ meetings

BERRE

Company's website

NGIFEY

(S
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REREBE

The annual shareholders’ meetings and other shareholders” meetings of the Company
are the primary forum for communication by the Company with its shareholders and
for shareholder participation.

The Company encourages and supports shareholder participation in shareholders’
meetings. Shareholders are encouraged to appoint proxies to attend and vote at
meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend such meetings.
Mechanisms for enabling shareholder participation will be reviewed on a regular
basis by the board of directors of the Company to encourage the highest level of
participation.

Chairman of the Board, appropriate members of the Board committees and the
external auditor of the Company will attend the annual general meetings to answer
questions from the shareholders.
AARIMBRRBERGREMBREARAERAAAEARREBRRR2ENFE
RAFSBREFRRZERRAG - ARAAFBHRREZERKRALEEASY
RE ERE(MRERELEERAE)

RAREBFEHETERRARRDEMS] - AREHRS2EKF

ExetR EFSZE9HENERADAIINEZHBAGHERRBFRG L
B 2 AR AR ©

The Company’s website (www.apholdingshk.com) contains information about the
Company including shareholder communications.

The Company will place on its website the Company’s announcements, circulars,
notices of general meetings and other information in compliance with the applicable
laws, rules and regulations.

A B (www.apholdingshkcom) BB IR AR B E R - BIERF @A °
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Shareholders’ enquiries
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Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the Company’s share registrar,
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

Shareholders and the public may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available. Shareholders may
direct their queries to the Company’s headquarters in Hong Kong at Unit 806A, 8th
floor, Tower II, South Seas Centre, No. 75 Mody Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong, for the
attention of the Company Secretary of the Company.

The Company will respond promptly to shareholder queries and concerns.
RERME H R EA5ERE - BRARRRNROBFELEEERRESFERLE
BRAR (it AEBEF2ERNER183FAFFL 17 1712-17165%8) =BT -
R B ARAIRER ZRRHEAR AN AFER - RERAMARBEBEI GBI R
BANEEME 75 5REFRLE ZEIZ0cAE)IREEH - WEFARBEKQARNA

AWE -

AR A NS AR E A & B EIE -

The Chairman, Mr. Lau and other directors attending the AGM on 28
August 2024, held a meeting after the closure of the AGM with all the
shareholders of the Company attending that AGM, asking for their advice
on the performance of the Company and exchanged the ideas of the
Board with the shareholders, including but not limited to the effectiveness
of communication with the shareholders. Both the shareholders attending
the AGM and the Board members were satisfied about that meeting. In
order to review the effectiveness of the shareholders communication
policy of the Company (the “SCP”), questionnaires related to the
shareholders communication channels (the “SCCs") were dispatched to the
Shareholders attending the AGM on 28 August 2024 and the Shareholders
returned the SCCs to the Company.

Immediately after the conclusion of the AGM on 28 August 2024, a meeting
of the Board was held. After reviewing the results of the SCCs received, it
appeared that at least the relevant Shareholders who returned the SCCs
accepted the current SCCs of the Company. Some of the Shareholders in
the AGM wished to contact the INEDs directly for expressing their ideas
towards the Company.

[t was resolved in that Board meeting that the Company should promptly
inform each INED in respect of any emails addressing to the Company by
the Shareholders via the current SCCs. Since the end of the AGM held on
28 August 2024 till the date of this report, the Company has not received
such kind of emails from the Shareholders.

FEREEREMESZ L FE2024F8H28H
BITHRRBFAS  WHARRAFASERE
HEFEZRREFASHEAARERRET
T BORESUARRAREENER - WHER
RREBEMEE  BEETRNEREERDN
R e HERRBEFASHNRREREETSKEY
HZEBRTME ° BRI AQ AR ERBECK
(TRERBEBER]) MM AAGIER2024F8
A28 HMEBERFEBFAENRRTEFARKRRE
EREB(RRBERE]WES MRS
MARARREAREEBERERS -

ZMER2024F 8 A28 HRITHREBAFRAELER
% BERNERITEE S o KEHAMKEINARR
EBERREERSNERE  UTFEPRORRER
REMENABREEIS ARG B AINKRRES
RiE o BHOLFERRAFRENRES L HEH
BN IERITES - UREREHADNANER ©

ZEETEEFHR AR ERBASE I
WTESEMARFTEBB ATMRIIEBRERA
NEIBEHAEAEE - 5202458 A28 HER1TH)
RRBAFRAGHEREEZAREBBRAIL - AAE)E
RUEI AR R 2 H A L BB E o

TEAREERER DA /2025 FF3K



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

foe H=gleri et

SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING (“EGM”)

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more shareholders of the
Company holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company, on a one vote per share basis,
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the company
secretary at the head office of the Company in Hong Kong, which is
presently situated at Unit 806A, 8th Floor, Tower II, South Seas Centre, No.
75 Mody Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. If within 21 days of such deposit,
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may convene a physical meeting at only one location
which will be the principal meeting place, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PUTTING ENQUIRIES BY SHAREHOLDERS TO THE
BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the attention
of the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office in Hong Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS BY
SHAREHOLDERS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING
Shareholders are requested to follow Article 58 of the Articles for putting
forward a resolution at an EGM. The requirements and procedures are
set out above in the paragraph headed “Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting'.

IS
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On 28 August 2024, a special resolution was passed to amend the second
amended and restated articles of association of the Company by way of
adoption of the third amended and restated articles of association (the
“New Articles”) to, among other things, (i) bring the articles of association
of the Company up to date and in line with the latest regulatory
requirements in relation to the expanded paperless listing regime and the
electronic dissemination of corporate communications by listed issuers
and the relevant amendments made to the Listing Rules which took effect
on 31 December 2023; (i) allow the Company to hold treasury shares;
and (iii) incorporate other house-keeping amendments to the articles of
association including to update, modernise or clarify provisions of the
articles of association where it is considered desirable.

Save as disclosed, there was no change in the constitutional documents of
the Company during the year ended 31 March 2025.

By order of the Board

Lau Pong Sing
Chairman and Executive Director
26 June 2025
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The table below contains certain information about our Directors and

senior management.

Name Age Position
o Fie B
Mr. Lau Pong Sing 68 Executive Director;
(BIHBK) Chairman; Chief
executive officer
I FBpK 68 HITES  £fF
TR E
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina 67 Executive Director;
(FBR2HE) Chief operating
officer
BRRIg T 67 WITES
EEEE
Mr. Lau Tsz Fung 39 Executive Director;
(8]F5%8) Vice president —
sales and marketing
of AP Rentals Limited
278854 39 WITES
DEAHERR
NGRS
(HERZH)
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu 52 Non-executive
(FERR) Director
HERAELE 52 FEMITES
Ir Dr.Ho Chung Tai, 86 Independent
Raymond (fr]§E2x) Non-executive
Director
/42 E - TiZAD 86 B IERNITES
Mr. Siu Chak Yu 64 Independent
(FREF) Non-executive
Director
mEFELE 64 BYFNITES

AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2025

TRINETEREEREREEENER -

Date of

appointment
Date of joining to the current Responsibilities
the Group position in the Group
MAEXEE BZEE BN
Y B 58 #H RAKENRE

22 December 2004 11 June 2015 Our overall management
and business development;
setting business strategies,
direction and goals
BMHEREEREBER
HEEBRE ~ AR
BZ

2004F 128228 2015%F6A11H

22 December 2004 11 June 2015 Overseeing our
administration, financial

control and human

resources
2004F 128228 2015F6 1A EERMAOTE - BTG
RANER
1 April 2009 1 April 2024 Overseeing our sales and
(1 April 2024 for marketing affairs
executive director)
20004818  2024F4818 EERMANBEEREHSES
(#2024 4F
411 BEZER
HITES)
14 December 2018 14 December 2018  Supervising the management
of the Company
2018F 128148 2018F 124148 EEARRMNERE

17 March 2016 17 March 2016 Supervising the management
of the Company

2016538178 2016F3[178 EEARANER

17 March 2016 17 March 2016 Supervising the management
of the Company

201631780 2016F3A17H EEARANER



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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OVERVIEW (Continued) BE (&
Date of
appointment
Date of joining to the current Responsibilities
Name Age Position the Group position in the Group
MAREE EZEA BN
nE Fix B B 5 B 5 RASENHE
Mr. Li Ping Chi 65 Independent 17 March 2016 17 March 2016 Supervising the management
(retired on Non-executive of the Company
28 August 2024) Director
(FRF)
FIRERE 65  BUIFWTEE 2016F38178  2016F3A178 EEARANER
(RR20245F8 A28 A
RF)
Ms. Lam Sau Fung 53 Independent 28 August 2024 28 August 2024 Supervising the management
(TR Non-executive of the Company
Director
MER R L 53 BUFBITES 202458 A28H 2024F8A28H EEARTMNER
Mr. Shinji Mitsuya 71 Director of 3 March 2017 3 March 2017 Oversee the operations
(=ZXRfED) AP Singapore business in AP Singapore,
a subsidiary of the
Company in Singapore
=REZKAE 71 AP Singapore & % 201753A38  2017%F3A38  EEARRAREINKE
Bt B /2 &) AP Singapore
O

Mr. Wong Cheuk Man 59
(EE8)

(1) Mr. Lau is the spouse of Ms. Chan and father of Mr. TF Lau.

Financial controller
& Company Secretary

1 January 2010

IS EEE R N RIME 201051 A1H

) Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Lau and mother of Mr. TF Lau.

3) Mr. TF Lau is the son of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan.

(4) Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu is an employee of Kanamoto Japan, and was
appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company on 14 December

2018.

The business address of our Directors and senior management is Unit 806A,
8th Floor, Tower II, South Seas Centre, No. 75 Mody Road, Kowloon, Hong

Kong.

1 January 2010

20101 A1H

Overseeing our financial
management and company
secretarial matters

EERMNTBERER
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The Board currently consists of seven Directors, comprising three executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors. The following table sets forth information regarding
our Directors. The functions and duties of the Board include convening
shareholders” meetings, reporting on the Board's work at these meetings,
implementing the resolutions passed at these meetings, determining
business and investment plans, formulating our annual budget and final
accounts, and formulating our proposals for profit distributions and for
the increase or reduction of registered capital. In addition, the Board is
responsible for exercising other powers, functions and duties in accordance
with the Articles of Association of the Company.

Executive Directors

Mr. LAU Pong Sing 2385

Executive Director, chairman and chief executive officer

Mr. Lau, aged 68, was appointed as our executive Director and Chairman of
the Board on 11 June 2015 and concurrently serves as our chief executive
officer and is one of the authorised representatives of the Company. Mr.
Lau also serves as the director, chairman and chief executive officer of all
the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company except for AP Equipment
Solutions Limited and AP Rentals (Shanghai) Limited*. Mr. Lau serves as the
head of the branch office in Guangzhou of AP Rentals (Shanghai) Limited*.
Mr. Lau is primarily responsible for the Group's overall management and
business development, as well setting our business strategies, direction and
goals. Mr. Lau is the chairman of our Nomination Committee and the Risk
Management Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee.
Mr. Lau is the director of New Club House and Great Club House.

Prior to joining the Group in 2004 as one of the founders, Mr. Lau had
accumulated over 20 years of experience in the construction equipment
industry through his directorship in and management of Ajax Pong
Construction Equipment Limited from September 1983 to March 1992
and Ajax Pong (Holdings) Limited from April 1992 to December 2014. Mr.
Lau had in the past managed or overseen various aspects of the Group,
including business development and strategies, financial management
and management of training to be given to our employees. Under the
leadership of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan, the Group has entered into strategic
partnership agreements with reputable construction equipment suppliers,
and participated in a number of landmark construction projects.

Mr. Lau is the spouse of Ms. Chan and father of Mr. Lau Tsz Fung. Mr. TF Lau
has been appointed as an executive director of the Company with effect
from 1 April 2024.

* The subsidiary is a wholly foreign owned enterprise and its English name is
for identification purposes only.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. CHAN Kit Mui, Lina fR 21§

Executive Director and chief operating officer

Ms. Chan, aged 67, has been our executive Director since 11 June 2015 and
also serves as our chief operating officer. She is in charge of the Group's
administration, financial control and human resources. Ms. Chan is also a
member of the Risk Management Committee. Ms. Chan also serves as the
director and chief operating officer of all the wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company except for AP Equipment Solutions Limited and AP Rentals
(Shanghai) Limited*. Ms. Chan serves as the legal representative of AP
Rentals (Shanghai) Limited*. Ms. Chan is the director of Great Club House
and New Club House.

Prior to joining the Group in 2004 as one of the founders, Ms. Chan has
acquired over 20 years of experience in the construction equipment
industry. She was principally responsible for corporate reorganisation,
business management control, as well as setting up corporate
administration systems and finance systems, during her positions as deputy
managing director of Ajax Pong Construction Equipment Limited from
April 1989 to March 1992, and deputy managing director of Ajax Pong
(Holdings) Limited from April 1992 to December 2014.

Since joining the Group, she has worked closely with Mr. Lau to expand the
Group's business in Hong Kong and Macau and assisted in the set up of our
current operation system and staff welfare scheme.

Ms. Chan obtained a Secretarial Diploma from the Chinese Young Men’s
Christian Association of Hong Kong in May 1978 and an Intermediate Stage
Certificate in Book-keeping from the London Chamber of Commerce and
Industry in Spring 1978. She also completed the Computerized Accounting
System for Commerce and Industry Training Course given by the Hong Kong
Productivity Council in October 1986.

Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Lau and mother of Mr. TF Lau.

Mr. TF Lau has been appointed as an executive director of the Company
with effect from 1 April 2024.

* The subsidiary is a wholly foreign owned enterprise and its English name is
for identification purposes only.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr.LAU Tsz Fung (2] %)

Executive Director

Mr. TF Lau, aged 39, is appointed as our executive Director on 1 April 2024 and
has been our vice president — Sales and Marketing of AP Rentals Limited, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since 1 January 2016, and
oversees the sales and marketing department of the Group. Mr. TF Lau is
also appointed as a member of the Risk Management Committee since
19 October 2024. Mr. TF Lau is principally responsible for encouraging
sustainable development through the delivery of updated market analysis
and information, and works closely with the sales team of the Group in
attracting potential customers and contracts. His roles and duties include
maintaining a high volume of rental transactions and good relationships
with worldwide manufacturers and suppliers.

Mr. TF Lau received his Bachelor's degree in Business Economics from the
University of California Santa Barbara in September 2008. Prior to joining
the Group, he was a marketing officer assistant at Ajax Pong (Holdings)
Limited from April 2008 to June 2008, where he was responsible for
managing relationship with potential customers and overseas buyers. He
joined AP Rentals Limited as a sales and marketing officer on 1 April 2009
and was then promoted as the vice president for sales and marketing since
1 January 2016

Mr. TF Lau is the son of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan, who are executive directors
and controlling shareholders of the Company.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. NAKAZAWA Tomokatsu FER 5T

Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (FH 2 52,), aged 52, is the Deputy General Manager
of Overseas Business Division of Kanamoto Japan. He has over 25 years of
relevant working experience in Kanamoto Japan and its subsidiaries (the
“Kanamoto Group”), and is familiar with business operations, overseas
business development plan, and company policy of Kanamoto Group.

He graduated from Tohoku Gakuin University in Japan in 1996 and
obtained a Bachelor degree of Arts in Economics.

Mr. Nakazawa started to develop his career in construction machinery
business with Kanamoto Japan immediately after his graduation. He
was assigned to Sendai Sales Branch responsible for all-round sales and
marketing activities of rental, leasing and sale of construction machineries
and equipment. He was then promoted to Chief and Deputy Associate
Director of Sendai Sales Branch in 1999 and 2001 respectively.

Since 2002, Mr. Nakazawa has been transferred to various branches and
divisions accountable for sales and marketing management, business
strategy planning, budget control, customer management and internal
management for construction machinery business of Kanamoto Group. He
was then transferred to Kyokuto Lease Co,, Ltd. ("Kyokuto”), a subsidiary of
Kanamoto Japan and was promoted to Managing Director & Sales General
Manager in 2008. His job duties included total management of Kyokuto
from internal management to business development. Since 2014, he has
been Deputy General Manager of Overseas Business Division responsible
for general management of overseas businesses of Kanamoto Group.

In 2018, Mr. Nakazawa has been transferred to Kanamoto (HK) Co., Ltd.
("Kanamoto HK"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kanamoto Japan in Hong
Kong, which enriched his experience in the Hong Kong market. He has
been the Director and the Chief Operating Officer of Kanamoto HK and was
responsible for the business management, development, and planning.
Since 2021, he was then transferred to Kanamoto Australia Holdings Pty
Ltd. ("Kanamoto Australia”) and was promoted to Director of Kanamoto
Australia and Deputy Managing Director of Kanamoto Australia’s
subsidiaries. His job duties included total management of Kanamoto
Australia and its subsidiaries from internal management to business
development as well as strategic business planning of Oceania region.

Throughout Mr. Nakazawa's long career in Kanamoto Group, he has been
engaging in the full spectrum of general management from business
management to internal management. Through such job duties, he
acquired a clear picture of the business operations, business network and
overseas business development plan. He is familiar with the business trend
of the industry and market trends of construction machinery in Asian
regions.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ir Dr. HO Chung Tai, Raymond A& %

Independent non-executive Director

Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, SBS, MBE, S.B. St. J., JP, aged 86, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 17 March 2016
He is a member of our Audit Committee.

Dr. Ho has over 50 years of experience in civil, structural, environmental and
geotechnical engineering industries and has directly managed a number
of mega-sized engineering projects.

Dr. Ho received his degree of doctor of philosophy in Civil Engineering from
the City University of London in June 1971, an Honorary Doctor of Laws
from the University of Manchester in September 2001 and an Honorary
degree of Doctor of Business Administration from the City University of
Hong Kong in November 1999. He graduated from the University of Hong
Kong in November 1963 with a Bachelor of Science in Engineering and
obtained his Postgraduate diploma for advanced studies in engineering
soil mechanics and foundations from the University of Manchester in July
1964.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)
Ir Dr. HO Chung Tai, Raymond {i$& %= (Continued)
Independent non-executive Director (Continued)

As at the date of the annual report, Dr. Ho served or is currently serving as

director of the following listed public companies in Hong Kong:

JI“‘I‘[I

5 N ACE P

H

=€)

BYEHTEE(E)

AERELTREM(E)

BUIBTES (B)

RERBE  [AELEHBREEETINES LT
ARBERANES :

Period Office Listed public company on the Stock Exchange

M % X ETARAR

From 16 June 2020 to Independent non-executive director Superland Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 368)
17 July 2023

20206 A16 Bt
F2023F7H17H

Since December 2013

H20135 12 AL
Since September 2007

B 20079 A#E

Since September 1993

H 199349 AL

Other current appointments and offices of Dr. Ho are further set out below:

Current appointments and offices

B AL R B

BIUFATES

Independent non-executive director

BIUIFATES

Independent non-executive director

BIUFATESR

Independent non-executive director

BUIATES

RAKEERAERAR (B : 368)

ChinLink International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 997)
EE P & BBRERAR AR (RH AT - 997)

GCL Technology Holdings Limited (Formerly known as
GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 3800)

B IER AR R A]
(R AR BB RIER B R A R])
(&R 5% = 3800)

Deson Development International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 262)

R BREREEEGRAF (BN : 262)

et B AR A o KB —SHIN0T

Honorary Chairman (since April 2019) and Chairman (from February 2005 to April

19) of the Guangdong Daya Bay Nuclear Plant and Ling Ao Nuclear Plant Safety

Consultative Committee

EREADEZBL N R EUR LB ATE SR ETE(BH20194F
48 NEFE(H2005F2 ARE2019F41)

Professional advisor to the Office of the Ombudsman of Hong Kong (for the periods

1 July 1995 to 31 March 2013 and 1 October 2015 to 30 September 2021)
EERFEERNBERER(1995F 7 A1 B#EZE 201343 A 31 H BRI K& 2015
FI0A1ARZE2021F9A30H)
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Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. SIU Chak Yu #)2F

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Siu, BBS, JP, aged 64, was appointed as our independent non- executive
Director on 17 March 2016. Mr. Siu is the chairman of our Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee.

Mr. Siu has gained experience in legal practice in Hong Kong. He obtained
a Bachelor of Laws degree and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1983 and July 1984, respectively.
He was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in September 1986, England
and Wales in June 1990, Australian Capital Territory in February 1991, and
in Singapore in September 1992; and as a barrister in Australia in February
1991. Mr. Siu was appointed as a Notary Public in April 1997, a China-
Appointed Attesting Officer in January 2000, and currently a partner of
Hastings & Co.

He was a board member of the Guardianship Board from 1 February
2017 until 1 February 2023. He is also a board member of the Ocean Park
Corporation since 1 July 2022 and is a member of the Hong Kong Arts
Development Council since 1 January 2023.

He was the vice-chairman of the Estate Agents Authority from 1 November
2020 to 28 July 2022 and is appointed as its chairman since 29 July 2022.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. LI Ping Chi Zfi7& (retired as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 28 August 2024)

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Li, aged 65, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 17 March 2016 and retired as the independent non-executive Director,
and ceased to be the chairman of our Audit Committee and a member of
each of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee with
effect from the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 28 August 2024.

Mr. Li has over 40 years of experience in accounting and auditing. He was
an assistant assessor for the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department from
August 1982 to February 1985. He joined Touche Ross Hong Kong in March
1985 and was promoted to the position of audit manager in August 1989.
He later joined Deloitte China in April 1990 as a result of its merger with
Touche Ross Hong Kong and had been a partner from June 1996 to May
2013.

Mr. Li received a higher diploma in accountancy with distinction from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 1982. He is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. Lam Sau Fung # 35 Bl (appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from the conclusion of the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 28 August 2024)

Independent non-executive Director

Ms. Lam, age 53, was appointed as independent non-executive Director
on 28 August 2024. Ms. Lam is the chairman of our Audit Committee and
a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee. Ms. Lam graduated from the Hong Kong Baptist University with
a Bachelor of Business Administration degree majoring in Accounting. She
was formerly a partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in Hong Kong from 1
January 2009 to 31 May 2020. On 2 July 2020, Ms. Lam joined ITC Properties
Group Limited ("ITCP"), whose issued shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (Stock
Code: 199), as general manager. On 1 February 2021, she was appointed as
an executive director and chief financial officer of ITCP, and was responsible
for the finance and accounting functions of ITCP. She was also a member of
each of the corporate governance committee and investment committee of
ITCP and a director of various subsidiaries of ITCP. She subsequently resigned
as executive director and chief financial officer of ITCP and was appointed as
a senior consultant of ITCP with effect from 1 April 2023. She resigned from
such position with effect from 1 October 2023. Ms. Lam is presently a director
of a consulting company founded by her, and a director of a certified public
accountant firm. She is a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, and
has extensive experience in corporate finance, capital market transactions,
accounting and auditing.

Our senior management members are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Company’s business. None of the members of our
senior management has been a director of a public company the securities
of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas.

Mr. MITSUYA Shinji =& 5=

Director of AP Singapore

Mr. Mitsuya, aged 71, has been the consultant of a subsidiary of the
Company, AP Rentals Limited, since 1st of January, 2017. In the wake
of establishment of a new company under the Group in Singapore, AP
Singapore, he was appointed and assigned as Director of AP Singapore on
3 March 2017.

Mr. Mitsuya’s main roles are to launch an equipment rental business in
Singapore capitalizing the Group's experience and know-how as a solution
provider, to develop a new market in the South Pacific Ocean and to
establish a closer relationship and communications with Japanese partners
based on long term strategy.
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Mr. MITSUYA Shinji = % 1§ = (Continued)

Director of AP Singapore (Continued)

Prior to joining the Group, he has been in Europe from 2007 to 2012, three
years in Lyon, France and three years in Utrecht, Holland as a general
manager of local company of Furukawa Unic Corporation, establishing new
sales channels in EU countries.

He has been engaged in overseas marketing since early 1980th at
Hokuetsu Industries Co., Ltd., known as Airman air-compressor until 2006.

Having been working for a long time for Japanese construction machinery
manufacturers, he expanded sales opportunities through new dealers
including commencement of local production in the global market. He
obtained Bachelor's degree in Mechanical Engineering from Kanto Gakuin
University in March 1977.

Mr. WONG Cheuk Man (£ £#8), aged 59, is the financial controller,
company secretary and one of the authorised representatives of the
Company. He is also a member of the Risk Management Committee. He is
primarily responsible for the Group’s accounting, internal control, financial
reporting, resource management and information technology affairs. He
also serves as the supervisor of AP Rentals (Shanghai) Limited*, which is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Wong graduated from the University of Western Sydney Nepean with
a Bachelor's degree in Business Administration in September 1999 and
obtained a Master's degree in International Accounting from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 2001. Mr. Wong has over 30 years
of experience in accounting. He was an assistant accountant at Sanyo
Electric (Hong Kong) Ltd. from July 1987 to April 1990, cost accountant
and later assistant finance manager of STD Holding Ltd. from August 1990
to September 1994. He served as accounting manager and subsequently
financial controller of Ajax Pong (Holdings) Limited from September 1994
prior to joining the Group in January 2010.

Mr. Wong is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants.

Each of our senior management did not hold any other directorship in
listed public companies in the three years prior to the date of this annual
report.

The subsidiary is a wholly foreign owned enterprise and its English name is
for identification purposes only.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
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ABOUT AP RENTALS

AP Rentals Holdings Limited (“AP Rentals” or the “Company”), and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”, “We", “Our” and “Us”) is a leading
equipment rental service company in Hong Kong, with the capability of
providing equipment rental-related solutions and value-added services to
our customers. We focus on construction, E&M engineering, Event, and
Entertainment equipment, including power and energy equipment, high-
reach equipment and material handling equipment. Sustainability
disseminates into our corporate strategy as we recognise our impacts on
society and environment. We seek to deliver our business in a viable, even-
handed manner and in harmony with our environment. We are committed
to initiating Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") measures to
create a healthy and sustainable living environment. The ESG report serves
to disclose the Group's ESG performance and the relevant ESG initiatives.

OUR MISSION

To be a socially responsible corporate that brings value-for-money and
pragmatic one-stop solutions to our customers and communities through
innovation and quality services.

REPORTING SCOPE

In accordance with Appendix C2 — Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the "ESG Guide") of the Main Board Listing Rules
published by the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, we present
this ESG Report for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting Period”
or ‘FY2025").

This ESG Report covers the Group's principal businesses of construction
equipment leasing and trading services in Hong Kong, which are the key
area of focus for our ESG management and was prepared in accordance
with the ESG Guide.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Group's ESG Report conforms to the list of “Reporting Principles” within
Appendix C2, in which the preparation and disclosure of information
follows the underlying four principles:

Materiality: Materiality assessments were conducted during the
Reporting Period with key stakeholders to identify material issues. These
identified issues are stated and presented according to their importance
under the “Materiality Matrix” table, the progression and relevant
information within each issue are disclosed within the contents of the ESG
Report.

Quantitative: Environmental and social performance data were collected
in accordance with the ESG Guide and relevance to the Group's targets
and ESG direction, these data were finalised and disclosed within the ESG
Report to present the Group's performance on key performance indicators
("KPIs") in a quantitative manner.

Balance: The Group presents its performance and describes underlying
issues in an objective and transparent manner without intentions to skew
our results to any degree. This is to allow our readers to assess or reassess
the performance of the Group's ESG performance with the information
provided within this report.

Consistency: To help readers better compare our results within ESG
Reports over time, the Group aims to maintain consistency in its reporting
methodology, data and formula consistency unless stated otherwise.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
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ESG GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is responsible for the Group’s ESG
strategy and reporting. Our management holds the overall responsibility
for monitoring and managing the Group’s ESG-related risks and the
effectiveness of the ESG management systems. We are committed to
achieving sustainable development for the environment, the industry and
our businesses by incorporating green elements into our decision-making
and executing green practices in our operations and activities. Details of
our ESG strategies, policies and measures in various aspects are stipulated
in the below sections. In addition, the Board has reviewed this ESG Report

to ensure it presents a balanced picture of our ESG performance.

To better implement our ESG policies and measures in the Group, an
Environmental, Social & Governance Committee (the “ESG Committee”)
has been established to manage ESG related tasks and directly reporting
on progression and updates to the Board. The ESG Committee is headed
by the Chief Operating Officer and comprising of representatives from
relevant operations and administrative functions such as purchasing,
finance and accounting, human resources and administration, workshop,
business administration and information technology (“IT") etc. to ensure
effective implementation of ESG policies and measures.

AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ESG ER

$§(FE$§J)EE§$E@E@Eseﬁm’éﬁiﬁ%
T - EEEZHEEEEREEAEEMNESG
FERE R & ESG B IR fll E AR  F M B 5 4%
BLTEMANRRER RN EERER TP ER
BEEE BUNEBGRE  TEREBHAIFE
R o BIES HHEAESGREE « BUR Mt
BRTEETRIRE o oD EFEE BRBAESG
it ARERE A ERIBESGARK

BEITRAEERNE R FIFESGBUR RiEhE
BABKYIRE tEREAREZE2([ESGEE
E]) UBRESGHBIE THAERNEESR
iﬁﬁ%a&@&a—%ﬂ%ﬁ FSCEEEHmEERE
HE O UHEERBEERITHRBENRE  WF
B - Eﬁ%&aﬁ APNBEBRRITH - B/ TH
EEREMBENT)) E - BRERHAITESGEK
R FENE ©

ESG COMMITTEE ESGEER
Chief Operating
Officer
giEmE
I
Head of
Head of Head of Administration & Head of
Purchasing & Accounts & Human Resources Head of Head of S
L N . . . ales and
Shipping Finance Department Head of Services Business Information Marketin
Department Department (including ®EXTE Administration Technology %%&g
HER SR training) THEREE Al EE s S
BETEE MIEHEE TRBRAN AR SRR
(BIEEI) X8

The objective of the ESG Committee is to provide strategic guidance and
review the Group's corporate responsibility, safety management practices

and performance. The ESG Committee shall:

90

Define ESG targets and indicators of the Group

Ensure the Group’s operations and practices are conducted in

accordance with the ESG policy and targets

Perform regular reviews for ongoing monitoring and improvement

in ESG performance

Review and approve the annual ESG report

Identify the emerging ESG issues and recommend the corresponding

measures.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL

All members of the ESG Committee are committed to recognising all safety
issues and promoting safety-related measures in the Group. A formal
meeting is held by the ESG Committee on a bi-monthly basis. Existing ESG
policies and measures are reviewed regarding their impact, efficiency and
effectiveness, while remedial actions, if any, will be followed up.

In pursuing sustainable development, the Group has committed
substantial resources to innovation and professional development. A key
self-developed initiative, the Smart System in Mobile Electricity (“SSME”),
represents a significant technological advancement for both the Group
and the broader industry. Designed to reduce fuel consumption and
minimise carbon emissions during electricity generation, SSME exemplifies
our strategic approach to managing ESG risks and underlining our
commitment to sustainability.

A top-down risk management framework and Risk Management Policy
have been established and adopted to form the basis of our risk
management system and provide directions in identifying, evaluating, and
managing significant risks. The Board recognises climate change and
sustainability as emerging topics in recent years. Therefore, it actively
manages and includes them in the annual risk assessment. In addition, the
Board has engaged in an international consulting firm to review and
recommend appropriate actions so as to ensure that the Company is
complying with the requirement of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) in relation to internal controls assessment, enterprise risk
management and corporate governance advising services. For example,
the internal controls assessment is to identify any potential risks, control
deficiencies, and provide appropriate recommendations for improvement.
Based on the abovementioned assessments and corresponding
recommendations, the Board takes a monitoring role to ensure the
practical follow-up actions are in place to manage the risks.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND (

BB e MERWRE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

AP Rentals focuses on integrating the concept of sustainability into our
daily business operations. To better understand stakeholders’ needs and
expectations in our long-term goal of achieving sustainable development,
we actively seek feedback and opinions from all of our internal and external
stakeholders. We have been engaging with different stakeholder groups
through various communication channels during our regular course of
operation, which are shown in the table below:

Stakeholder Groups
B &4 R

Key Communication Channels

TEREBBRE

sOVERNANCE REPORT

?‘J’fﬁ% //\
DRAEEFINERMNAERHLET A
ARBEERES - REFH TRHNENTER
HEHRFEXRATHBERROREBRNHEE -
ﬂfﬁiﬁ%ﬁW%&%%ﬁ@%%&ﬁ%ﬁ&

cHMNBEEE Eﬂ&ﬁf] E%%_%%L
E@W‘F?E@?wﬁ%%%ﬁ¥€§ TRR %%EEJ% ESEpU
TERFR -

Employees

&8

Customers

5F

Suppliers
HrEr
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Email Communication
BHER

Internal Meeting

REE

Employee Training and Activities
EEEIEES
Performance Appraisal

RBERZ

Company Website
NGk DS
Customer Hotline and Mail

PR R ER
Customer Feedback
BEFRE
Industry Events

E =10

Quotation and Tendering
HERKR

Site-visit and Supplier Evaluation
B E R R EET G
Industry Events

EE20
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Stakeholder Groups
B & HE B

Key Communication Channels

TERERE

Press Releases

sk i

Shareholders and Investors

BREREEE

Annual Report and Interim Report

FHREPHRE

Announcements and Circulars

NE R K
Shareholder’s Meeting
BERAE
Company Website
NCIEE

Local Communities
A E B M EREE

Community Activities

HEEE

ESG MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

We have conducted the initial screening to identify the related and
material ESG issues based on AP rentals’ business nature and strategic
development plan. Stakeholders’ views and concerns over the identified
ESG issues have been collected through a set of ESG questionnaire which
were distributed to key internal and external stakeholders and the
abovementioned communication channels. The results from the
stakeholder engagement have been consolidated for ESG risks
prioritisation. These issues were then discussed among the management
to evaluate, validate and determine the relevant and material ESG issues of
the Group.

Donation and Community Investment

ESG E EM T4

HPEENTEDEENEBHERERERY
RETVFEGE  BPHABEREEMEGHESE
RFD BB —ELSCHBMSRERMEYUD S
RIESGRBEMNE R RSN MABRHEDSERS
BRE A RINPIHHOE AR FiB@EE - |
BREERNERBRITES - UHIIESCRR
MEERF  EREREIRZISHE AT
- BB REEAEENEERENSCEE -
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REL AL MEIRHRE

In FY2025, based on the mentioned materiality assessment, ESG issues that #2025 A 4F » E A b it & F 14T -

are relevant and material to the Group are shown in the table below: FAHEZRESGEBI NRATR -
Aspect ESG Issue
FHE ESG &
Environment 1. Air pollution
RE ZESRH R
2. Effluent management
AKER
3. Waste management
REEYER

4. Climate resilience and disaster response

RARIE o SR

5. Energy use and efficiency
BEIRfE A B e

6. Water resource use and efficiency
IKEIRGE AR R A

7. Noise nuisance management
BRELBER

8. Emission of greenhouse gases or other significant gas emission
BERUR ER S E M BRI

Governance @ 9. Compliance
=) TR
10.  Human rights protection
ARERIE
11.  Equal opportunities
FERE
12.  Staff compensation and welfare
8 T8 MAEw
13. Employer-employee relations
LERMIFR

14.  Safe and healthy working environment
72 RN TERE

15.  Staff training and development
8T MER

16.  Prevention of child labor or forced labor
B 1EE Tskaglss T

17. Sustainable & ethical supply chain management
AFENE TEENHEEERE

18.  Standardised value chain, service quality and safety
SREEERE RBEERTD

19.  Innovation and intellectual property protection

BT RS ERRRE
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Aspect
FE

Customer/Clients @

BE &F

Community

#HE

MO ENEENY

Importance to External Stakeholders

© 25

4-6

Environmental
B

ESG Issue
ESG:&RE

20.

Cybersecurity & data protection
B RBERE

21.  Customers' satisfaction
BEEMEE
22.  Customer information and privacy protection
BEF BN RILERE
23.  Prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
BrIEFER - R - HEF R RE
24.  Promotion of corporate social responsibility
RELFREEEE
25.  Community investment and engagement
HRIRE RS HE
Materiality Matrix
EEMER
14
A1
A 2 m’
23
16-m-21
20873
% 3 =15
24
GS
8
12
s
10
A7
Importance to Internal Stakeholders
HAMFHENEEN
B Governance  ® Customers/Clients Community
R BE /5P o

DREAEEERBIR AT /2025 FF5H



REL AL MEIRHRE

As a leading construction machinery leasing service provider, we actively
contribute to building the future of Hong Kong. Our commitment to
delivering products and services that meet high safety standards and
enhance user experiences necessitates the consumption of fuel and
electricity in our daily operations, including office activities and equipment
usage. Mindful of our environmental impact, we evaluate every aspect of
our operations to ensure sustainability and cost-effectiveness, always
prioritising a positive environmental impact and the satisfaction of our
valued clients.

In our day-to-day operations, we are conscious of our ecological footprint
and its effects on both the local community and the broader ecosystem. To
ensure transparency and accountability of our environmental impact, our
Group adopts a systematic approach to assess our carbon footprint across
the value chain. Corresponding mitigation strategies are actively developed
to address the significant environmental concerns, compliance obligations
and stakeholders’ expectations.

The Group is making continuous improvements in minimising emissions
through the introduction and use of advanced equipment. For example,
we have successfully launched our self-developed mobile power grid,
SSME, which is an integration of telematics and an auto power supply
system. SSME can start, synchronise, or stop generating units based on the
actual load demand detected across various construction activities and
sites. In addition, SSME enables staff in remote offices to monitor and
control electricity consumption at different construction sites more
effectively through real-time information automatically collected from
electricity generators. To ensure an uninterrupted power supply, different
sites receive alerts in different specific fault code and timely follow-up
services are conducted in response to various incidents. This innovative
system greatly enhances energy efficiency and reduces energy waste
inherent in the system design.
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BREL ~ ALE g IR

The Company is the member of Business Environment Council (‘BEC"), A2 7 AR FBFHE ([BEC))KE @ BEC—H
which has been at the forefront of promoting environmental excellence by — UAE H#EE) 8 BIIRIR R BIAR © IR1IEHEA B 28T
advocating the uptake of clean technologies and practices which reduce  REE  RAIRE - S1HER - BHIE5% - I
waste, conserve resources, prevent pollution and improve corporate RS PERIRBREESET -

environmental and social responsibility.

"“" SULNBE Mendarihip No.. BEBITL08

Yol Sinine

CERTIFICATE OF MEMBERSHIP
This is to sckRowlsdge that

AP Rentals Holdings Limited

i3 a General Member of
Business Environment Council Limited
RN AR S
From 1 February 2024 to 31 January 2025
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From 1 February 2028 ta 31 January 2028
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REL AL MEIRHRE

During the Reporting Period, there were no material non-compliance cases
against environmental laws and regulations identified, including but not
limited to the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and regulations in the jurisdictions where we operate.

Air Pollution

Air emissions, including Nitrogen oxides (“NO,"), carbon monoxide (“CO")
and particulate matter ("PM"), which have negative impacts on both our
health and to the environment, are generated mainly from combustion of
fossil fuels by rental equipment and vehicles. As an equipment rental
service company, we engage in the rental of equipment and provision of
equipment related value-added rental services to customers. Our rental
customers generate direct emissions from equipment usage; therefore, we
have no direct control over the equipment operations. Thus, the emission
data from them are not included in the scope of this Report.

Nonetheless, we strive to enhance the energy efficiency of our equipment
and embrace energy-saving solutions, aiming to assist our customers in
reducing their carbon footprint. During the Reporting Period, we provided
various rental equipment that utilizes biodiesel B-50 or B-100 for our
customers, such as listed companies, to assist them in reducing their
carbon emissions.

Echoing to the Hong Kong government's vision of “Zerocarbon Emissions -
Liveable City - Sustainable Development” announced in the Hong Kong's
Climate Action Plan 2050, the Group has set a target to reduce air and
greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions:
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Emissions and Pollution Reduction Target
Leveraging green technology and machines to move towards carbon
reduction and enhance energy efficiency.

In particular, the following measures have been adopted for achieving our
target:

Replacing old machines/vehicles with Euro V/VI standard ones
timely;

Purchasing more brand new machines and keeping the equipment
rental fleet in young age (i.e., on average less than five years);

Using Ultra Low Sulphur Diesel in machines/vehicles;
Switching off idle plant/equipment;
Replacing fossil fuels with biodiesel as an alternative to conventional

fuel and energy source with reducing emission of GHG pollutants;

Conducting weekly self-monitoring of machine exhaust (e.g., using
Ringelmann Smoke Chart method to perform a visual inspection on
exhaust) to check for compliance and keeping records;

Performing regular repair and maintenance on machines/vehicles to
ensure their operating efficiency;

Complying with environmental requirements set out by
Environmental Protection Department ("EPD"), such as Non-road
Mobile Machinery (“"NRMM") regulation and Quality Powered
Mechanical Equipment (“QPME") standard;

To help mitigate noise pollution across the HKSAR, we invested in
both “Ultra-silence” and “Soundless” generators;

Providing emission data of machines leased upon the request from
customers;

Using water spray or tarpaulin covers to alleviate blowing dust;
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Promoting the use of the SSME solution and the use of biodiesel
with the Battery Energy Storage System in the SSME system to
customers, which is more energy-efficient when comparing with the
generator-centered power supply system.

During our daily operation, we only generate limited direct air emissions
during machinery repair and maintenance, pre-delivery and after hiring

testing and transportation processes; the direct emission data' during the

Reporting Period were as follows:

Quantity

(kg)

#HE

(F=)

2025 20243
Air emissions? EBR M 2025F 20243
NO, RAly 779 818
CcO —& bk 376 390
PM FRFHLT 57 63

The direct air emissions are calculated with reference to the “Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs" issued by the Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited, Tier 1, 2, and 3 standards and Tier 4 standards for non-road
diesel engines issued by the United States Environmental Protection Agency
and UK Government Conversion Factors for Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Reporting
published by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy in
the UK.

Emissions of sulphur oxides were considered immaterial to the Group and
hence has been excluded from the scope of reporting.

The overall increase in air emissions (NO,, Co and PM) was primarily attributed
to a significant rise in fuel provided to customers (as per their requests),
which resulted in higher emissions. Meanwhile, the air emission intensity had
been maintained at the similar levels as the previous year.
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Intensity
(kg/machine lease)
mE
(FR/#EHE)

For the year ended 31 March

BE3IAMBLEE

2023 2025 2024° 2023
2023  2025%F 20243 2023 F
775 0.72 0.64 061

375 0.35 031 0.29

57 0.05 0.05 0.04
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Going forwards, we aim to reduce air emission intensity by effective
implementation of the above-mentioned air emission reduction measures.

Meanwhile, greenhouse gases ("GHG") are mainly generated directly from
the operating machines due to the combustion of fossil fuel and indirectly
from the consumption of electricity. At AP Rentals, we conduct regular
energy audits in accordance with relevant standards to gain insights into
our operations and identify recommended strategies for the future. These
audits enable us to assess our energy consumption, identify areas for
improvement, and implement effective measures to enhance energy
efficiency. AP Rentals is also committed to reducing its GHG emission
intensity going forward.

The GHG emissions* during the Reporting Period were:

EREARR  BANEEREBERER LAER
T PE B SR B K R SR RS8R

R - B ARERRE  RERE((BER
B IZERRARFRBELEERENENN
HAE - REREAEEMS - RARBAEEESE
TTEHREREZ - AEBRMANZEBRILER
RIREEZ R - BLEFHERMIEATHRER
HFE - BRISCESE - WEEABIE ARG
RBE - SRABERRITENFELRERE
HRER -

BEMREAEERBHRAS

Quantity Intensity
(tonnes CO,e) (kg CO,e/machine lease)
e BE
(H-E{tRER) (FR-GEtHRER HEEE)
For the year ended 31 March
BZ3A31HLEE
2025 2024 2023 2025 2024 2023
GHG Emissions BERBHER 2025 F 2024 F 2023 F 2025 F 2024 F 2023 F
Scope 1 (Direct emission from &1 (R B{L A MREL )
combustion of fossil fuels IR ER
and biodiesel) EE:37900) 554 831 646 51 589 506
Scope 2 (Indirect emission &E(REE NN
from electricity) E237379) 87 89 84 8] 63 66
Scope 3 (Indirect emission from ~ &i[& 3 (R & kK
use of water and paper waste)  RE4K B9 RIZ BERD) 3 7 7 3 5 5

The GHG emissions are calculated with reference to the “Reporting Guidance
on Environmental KPIs" issued by the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited and UK Government Conversion Factors for Greenhouse Gas (GHG)
Reporting published by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial
Strategy in the UK.

° The decrease in GHG emissions is primarily due to a shift to a more
environmentally friendly energy mix for the Group, including usage of
biodiesel.

g For more details, please refer to footnote 3. The increase was primarily caused

by the overall increase in air emissions (NO,, CO, and PM).
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Waste Management

Wastes are generated from both workshop operations and office
administrative works, while part of the workshop operation wastes are
hazardous as defined by the Waste Disposal Ordinance ("WDO"). Therefore,
to effectively identify, monitor and control the waste issue, we have
adopted a standard approach which include appropriate actions to tackle
the issue and demonstrate our support to waste sustainability.

Procurement: Ensuring only needed resources and a suitable
amount of them are purchased to prevent over-storage and wastage

Handling: Ensuring separation of hazardous wastes from general
wastes

Storage: Storing hazardous wastes in suitable containers with labels
for identity; meanwhile securing storage room to prevent
unauthorised access

Awareness: Providing toolbox talk to staff for advising on types of
hazardous wastes, handling method and storage location

Disposal: Engaging only licensed and qualified hazardous waste
collectors for removal of such wastes

The Group adheres strictly to all relevant laws and regulations in managing
the hazardous waste generated during our operations, with on-site
treatment protocols in place and licensed contractors engaged for waste
collection and disposal. While hazardous waste is generated, a significant
portion of the waste from our office operations is non-hazardous.

Despite the potential for increased waste consumption due to customer
demands, AP Rentals strives to reducing its overall waste intensity through
the implementation of various waste management measures, including
but not limited to increasing the promotion of the SSME towards our
customers in the coming future for the SSME can definitely reduce the
wastage. We will continue to explore opportunities to improve how wastes
are managed and strive forward as an environmentally responsible
operation, and therefore the Group has set target to reduce waste and
promote recycling:

Resource Efficiency Target

Continuing to spread the Group’s green philosophy —
Reuse, Recycle, Repurpose and Upcycle” to reduce the disposal of
non-hazardous waste.

“Reduce,
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The following waste reduction measures have been carried out within our R fIE R & E R #1T N 7RI i A ER B2
operations for achieving our target:

Re-using used envelope/paper;

Using Forest Stewardship Council ("FSC”) certified paper;

Assigning appropriate staff to manage collection facilities;

Checking the proper usage of collection facilities and providing
training correspondingly to nurture the awareness;

Maintaining complete recycling/waste collection records for future
reference;

Collecting used paper for recycling purposes;

Providing reusable towel instead of paper towel in the pantry for
drying utensils;

Providing durable utensils in pantry to discourage using disposable
plastic ones;

Using common drive to share company information, if deemed
appropriate, instead of circulating print out copies;

Providing and maintaining recycling bins in different colours to
facilitate metal, plastic and paper wastes collection and recycling;

Using e-Banking and Autopay instead of issuing cheques to minimise
the use of paper and envelope; and

Using Excel logbook to record and monitor the usage of paper by
photocopiers.

L& AEEE R
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BREL - ALE Mg IR

During the Reporting Period, we implemented initiatives to substantially ~ M ¥R&ERE - HPIE L IEER - ARRDAE
reduce waste disposal by the Group, at the same time, helped saving EMENERIEE @ R MEBEERERAE - @
purchasing costs. Recycled items include: W BiE

Quantity
HE
For the year ended 31 March
BE3ABELEE

Recycling Unit 2025 2024 2023
B By 2025 2024 2023 F
Paper Kg 8107 3808 110
AR T

Aluminium cans Kg 4 15 18
fial T

Plastic bottles Kg 2 2 3
21y T

Glass bottles Kg 1 2 2
WG T

Florescent tubes Kg 147 4 8
HAE T

Toner cartridge Kg 4 2 6
HE T

7 The increase in the recycled waste is primarily due to one-time office 7 B REEYIEMEEZHR —RPHAEABEET

housekeeping. YEFTEL ©

g The increase in paper recycling was primarily due to a one-time 8 KRB EERRNAERA T EBTEREY
housekeeping effort in anticipation of the Hong Kong Municipal Solid Waste WEEIMETH — XA EE TIEFE -
charging scheme.
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BRI

The significant hazardous and non-hazardous wastes generated directly by
the Group during the Reporting Period include:

Waste Unit
B B
Hazardous waste Lubricant Litre
BEBEZRY Ehi=g DF
Battery Tonnes
B N
Non-hazardous waste Paper Tonnes
EEREREY) AR NI

To raise awareness of our employees and stakeholders regarding
environmental protection, the Group had joined the Wastewi$e Label
(Membership No.: WW-8339-5613). The Group is committed to meeting
waste reduction requirements and initiated various activities aimed at
environmental conservation in alignment with our objectives. The Group
has accomplished nine waste reduction targets and applied for WastewiSe
Certificate with “Class of Excellence”. The Group has also been awarded the
“WastewiSe Certificate — Excellence Level” under the Hong Kong Green
Organisation Certification ("HKGOC") by the Environmental Campaign
Committee (previously awarded with Basic Level). To promote recycling
and waste reduction, we have placed recycling bins in various work
locations to collect used plastic bottles, glass and aluminium cans. In
addition, we consistently emphasise the significance of recycling and
actively encourage our employees to minimise waste generation in their
daily lives.

g The increase in hazardous waste is primarily due to the Group'’s periodic bulk
purchase and disposal of batteries, which are replaced approximately every
two years in line with their average life cycle. Despite these fluctuations, the
overall hazardous waste levels have remained consistent on average over the
past three years.

s

 ALE EIR R

AEENRENHEREENTIEAEREEE
ZMEHE

Quantity
HE
For the year ended 31 March
BE3IAMBLEE

2025 2024 2023
2025 F 2024 F 2023 &
23,200° 17,400 24,600
32299 2.09 682

1.1 1.1 1.1

AEEBELHERBEEZTE(SERE - Ww-
8339-5613) * B KIBE L MIE 8 RiFHEHIRR
NE#H - AEEBHEIREER  TERER
MM EERRSERREE - AEEE TRNE
WEEBIE WERFE[EZWEA ] REEE K
SESFEEREEHEZESHETBRCEER
F([HKGOC ) Wy R EEEE — S MA R (BAE
EREREH) o BT HEBRERKRDEYD -
BN ZE T BB RS - KRB R
HBAE - IS AT o A B —E R
WHESM  THEGHEETEREEERRD
EEYIRIELE -

e i

L R
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REL AL MEIRHRE

Energy, Water Use and Efficiency

We recognise the scarcity of resources, particularly fossil fuels, and the
adverse environmental consequences associated with their combustion.
Therefore, we strive to reduce energy consumption and enhance operating
efficiency to conserve resources and promote sustainability. Furthermore,
the reduction in energy usage not only aligns with our environmental
objectives but also provides financial incentives that can be allocated
towards the adoption of relevant technologies and initiatives.

The major resources used by the Group include diesel and petrol for
machinery and vehicles, as well as electricity, town gas and water for

business operations. The consumption data during the Reporting Period
were as follows':

Quantity

BE

For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A31HLEE

BER - KERERARME
HIPVREABIR (R B RAC AL 8RB 1 R B A
BEHBRITER T AER « Atk - RABORD
BEROHRE - IREEE MR - WREERIEER
FERRE - LI WA BERFEE TMEN A HAFIR
RRBEZE  TARMSRMBFER - 7] AREE
TR M AE I o

AEEFEANTIEER SRR ITERSE
HEUH AREBELERNES - KRR
Ko PR E B HERESIRI T © :

Intensity
(per machine lease)
BnE
(ZWBRHEE)
For the year ended 31 March
BE3AVALEE

Resources Unit 2025 2024 2023 2025 2024 2023
&R B 2025 F 2024 2023 F 2025 2024 2023
Diesel Litre 169,551 300,769 232,318 156 213 182
s A%

Petrol Litre 13,799 14,607 13,203 13 10 10
e A

Electricity kWh 230,095 227,705 215518 163 161 169
W TR

Biodiesel " Litre 59950 N/ATEM N/ATEM 7 NATER NATER
A AR

Town gas'? Unit 0 217 283 0 0.15 022
el B

Water m? 2,780 2,745 2,531 2 2 2
X LK

e The amounts represent the resources directly controlled and consumed by 10 BRSNS B B E L SR A &

the Group during the Reporting Period. Indirect resources consumptions (i.e.,
those consumed by its customers and other third parties engaged by the
Company) are excluded.

1" Biodiesel is a new type of resources used by the Group during the Reporting
Period.

2 Towngas usage for FY2025 is reported as zero due to the discontinuation of

use of the director’s quarter, which was the sole source of Towngas
consumption in previous years.
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BRI

To better track and monitor the daily recourse consumption involved in
our operation, we have adopted a recourse monitoring mechanism to
facilitate the analysis of resources efficiency and identify improvement
opportunities. In addition, we have implemented a green office approach
within our offices to minimise energy consumption by office equipment.
Meanwhile, we actively promote green awareness among our employees
through workshops and internal communications to cultivate a sustainable
mindset throughout the organisation.

Going forward, AP Rentals is committed to improve energy efficiency in its
operations and reduce energy consumption where applicable to minimise
our impact on the environment. The Group has set target to reduce energy
consumption:

Energy Efficiency Target
Implementing energy-saving measures to create an environmentally
conscious workplace with the emphasis on energy conservation.

For energy conservation in business operations, the Group adopts a holistic
energy-saving management approach under which the following
measures have been adopted:

Opting for energy-saving equipment such as LED/T5 fluorescent
tubes rather than traditional light bulbs, and Grade 1 Energy label air

conditioners;

Using separate switches to control air conditioners and lightings in
different zones of office;

Maintaining air conditioner temperature at 25.5 degree Celsius and
posting such friendly reminders in the workplace;

Posting energy-saving labels in the workplace;
Switching off idle lightings; and
Using more energy-efficient, reliable and cost-effective ways to

provide electricity to the electrically powered equipment for our
customers.

s
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Despite not being a water-intensive industry, we are equally care about
conserving water resources and work towards reducing our Group’s water
footprint. Initiatives such as installing high-pressure faucets and promoting
water-saving awareness programs have been actively implemented across
our operations.

Although water is a not a material resource to our operations, we are aware
of its scarcity and its vulnerability to waste and pollution. The Group has set
target to reduce water consumption:

Water Efficiency Target
Continuing to cultivate awareness in water conservation among
employees to ensure sustainable water management.

The Group has no issue sourcing water for its operations since its principal
operating premises in Hong Kong have a municipal water supply. In
addition, due to our business nature, we do not produce a significant
amount of sewage during the Reporting Period. Therefore, disclosure in
relation to water discharge does not apply.

Other Environmental Impacts

In addition to emissions control and resources conservation, we exert
ourselves in minimising all negative impacts on the environment and
natural resources, even though there are no other significant
environmental impacts except for the emissions described above.

The Group has established a sound risk management system led by the
Risk Management Committee. It manages the overall risk level of the
Group, which gives appropriate priority when taking environmental risks
into consideration, among other operating risks. Significant environmental
risks are identified for developing adequate mitigation plans. We ensure
sufficient resources are deployed for the implementation of these
mitigation plans to reduce environmental risks.

The Group upholds the principle of environmental protection and executes
in every detail. For instance, we consume no shark fin or other endangered
species at any company banquets or events.

Furthermore, the Group has not used a significant amount of packaging

materials during the Reporting Period, and therefore disclosure in relation
to packaging materials does not apply.
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REL AL MBI

Climate Change

We believe that businesses across all sectors have a crucial role to play in
safeguarding our planet and mitigating climate change to reduce the
frequency of adverse weather events and natural disasters, which can have
detrimental effects on economies and disrupt our day-to-day operations.
We have also conducted preliminary simulations and forecasts to estimate
the impacts to our staff and assets, including our office premises and
equipment, in order to mitigate the potential losses brought by the
extreme weather conditions. Our standard operating procedure and policy
acknowledges the severity of extreme weather situations and is prepared
to manage its risks accordingly by taking preventive measures, ensuring
appropriate responses during emergencies and conducting post-extreme
weather maintenance activities.

Our pre-inclement weather checklist outlines measures to be taken
promptly after the issuance of tropical storm signals 3 and above. This
checklist is designed to ensures that our assets are properly protected and
potential damage is minimised. In the event of an emergency, our
Emergency Response Plan provides detailed guidance to our employees
on the necessary actions to take during typhoons or strong winds. These
actions include, but are not limited to, avoiding locations prone to falling
objects and ensuring that power supplies are turned off with plugs
removed from outlets. Following the event, our post-inclement weather
checklist specifies steps to be taken after a typhoon signal 8 has been lifted,
including thorough clean-ups and comprehensive inspections of
machinery to verify the safety levels of our facilities and determine the
feasibility of promptly resuming operations.

As a responsible employer, AP Rentals places a strong emphasis on ensuring
that our talent policies and practices comply with local labour laws and
regulations. Our Human Resources Department monitors and develops
responsive policies for up-to-date information on labour laws and regulations
and establishes appropriate internal controls in the human resource
processes to ensure compliance. During the Reporting Period, the Group
established a standalone Human Rights Policy, covering employment,
termination, remuneration and welfare, employer-employee relations,
working environment, staff development, child labor or forced labor and
equal opportunity, providing more comprehensive care for our employees.

The Group is committed to establishing and maintaining a safe working
environment for our employees to raise occupational safety and health
awareness and minimise the potential risks and hazards in our operation.
Regularly cleaning, sanitising, and disinfecting surfaces in our facilities and
equipment were implemented to reduce the spread of germs to ensure
the health and safety of employees. We have also adopted flexible working
hours and work-from-home policies if necessary to promote a healthy
work-life balance for enhancing employees’ health and wellbeing at work.
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REL AL MEIRHRE

To attract and retain our talents, the Group provides a competitive
compensation package. Our remuneration package is determined based on
market trends, employee’s positions and responsibilities as well as
performance. In addition to the remuneration package, we also provide our
employees with additional welfare such as medical insurance, the mandatory
provident fund ("MPF"), etc. We are proactively looking for practical benefits
for our employees to create a better working environment. We implement
working hours with full consideration of employees’ physical and mental
health. Overtime work is determined based on operational needs, and it is
compensated in accordance with relevant regulations.

Although our core business operation lying in the industry where the
workforce composition has been predominated by male, we remain
committed to promoting gender and racial equality by actively recruiting
qualified candidates regardless of their background and gender.

The Group maintains a diversified workforce. We provide equal
opportunities to all staff based on their capabilities in a fair manner. To
keep track of our employees’ performance, we have established an
employee performance system. Regular performance evaluation is
conducted to increase employee engagement, and the remuneration is
adjusted based on the result of the performance evaluation. We accept no
tolerance towards discrimination, regardless of age, gender, marital status,
nationality, disability, religion, etc.

The Group is also dedicated to advancing gender diversity of employees of
all levels. We believe that a diverse workforce will lead to better decision-
making process by integrating contrasting insights and elevating different
opinions. To achieve workforce diversity, we consider various factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural background, ethnicity,
educational background, professional qualifications, industry and regional
experience, skills, knowledge, and length of service. By valuing these diverse
attributes, we create an inclusive environment that promotes collaboration.
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REL AL MBI

The tables below show the composition of our workforce by gender,  FREFIRMRI - BIFEIET - FH AR K& 2
employment type, age group and geographical region: DR TEBE AR :

Number of Employees™
EEAE™
For the year ended 31 March
BEIAELEE

2025 2024 2023
Category Al 2025 F 2024 F 2023
By Gender R BIE S
Male S 102 106 105
Female z 27 27 22
By Employment Type RERERE S
Permanent K 103 99 98
Temporary A 26 34 29
By Position Type BB ERE S
Full time 25 128 130 127
Part time R 1 3 0
By Employee Category RESELES
Senior management =SRERE 11 1 11
Intermediate staff and management FRETRERE 12 11 10
General staff —fRET 106 111 106
By Age Group RERERE D
Below 30 30 BRFUAT 20 27 30
31-50 31-50 5% 67 62 60
51 or above 51 BB A 42 44 37
By Geographical Region RiLEE D
Hong Kong a5 117 120 117
Macau JERPT 3 4 4
Singapore s 6 6 3
Mainland China R R A 3 3 3 3
1 The reported number of employees excludes those with less than three FrREmEEARTEERSHION=EANE

months of service to account only for the stable workforce. 8 - EFERENSE S -
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During the Reporting Period, total employee turnover rate was 16% (2024:

JE R

20%, 2023: 30%), detailed breakdowns as below:

Category

By Gender
Male
Female

By Age Group
Below 30
31-50

51 or above

By Geographical Region

Hong Kong
Macau
Singapore
Mainland China

During the Reporting Period, we did not identify material non-compliance
against employment-related laws and regulations in Hong Kong, including ~ &BEFIEBEHEKX TS RGN -
but not limited to the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), and other laws on equal opportunities and anti-

5l

BRI & D
5

78

RERARIE S
30 BEIATR
31-50 3%

51 B AE

Rit B8 D
e

BT
N3
HEIA

Employees Left during the year
FREBNESAR

R EEH B8 8RR KEE16%(2024F :
20% i 20234F : 30%) © FFERRRMRMT ¢

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE3AMALEE 2025 &
2025 2024 2023 Turnover Rate
2025 & 2024 F 2023 F A=
16 23 33 16%

4 5 19%

6 10 10 30%

9 13 15 13%

6 4 13 14%

19 26 37 16%

2 0 67%

0 0%

0 1 1 0%

discrimination. We also complied with relevant employment regulations in -~ {E{E#R 1 -
other jurisdictions where we operate.
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Safe and Healthy Working Environment

The Group strives to create a healthy and safe working environment for our
employees. The Occupational Health and Safety (“OHS”) Policy was
formulated to provide safety guidelines and defines responsibilities from
top management to the front line to achieve an accident-free workplace.
The management is committed to investing sufficient resources to
implement the OHS policy, treating all OHS issues as an integral part of our
business performance, and reviewing the OHS policy and management
system every six months.

B b oy st
amPRTARLY

AP Rawaabs [ i
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3.4 o o g

T

WA e )] b S

Apart from these, we have reviewed the following work safety-related
policies and procedures to increase employee safety awareness.

Manual handling procedures;

Use of Ladders;

Principles of load safety/transporting an engineering plant; and
Use of Personal Protective Equipment ("PPE”)

In addition, safety risk assessments are performed for works related to high
risk equipment, including generators, forklift trucks, and mobile elevating
work platforms to identify potential safety hazards and corresponding
mitigations. The management monitors and review OHS practices regularly
to ensure compliance with the OHS Policy and alignment with latest OHS-
related laws and regulations while striving for continual improvement.

To further mitigate the health and safety risk in the workplace, staff will
receive appropriate and adequate training concerning their respective
duties and responsibilities. Such training serves to help staff in thoroughly
understanding and implementing the OHS Policy.
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REL AL MEIRHRE

To enhance staff safety awareness, the Group steps further and includes
“Safety Awareness” as one of the performance factors of the performance
appraisal for all levels of staff. The performance evaluation outcomes will
have a direct bearing on the salary adjustments and discretionary bonus
allocations for staff.

Besides, staff are encouraged to propose reasonable opinions with respect
to the adequacy and improvement of the OHS Policy. As such, staff,
especially construction machinery operators, are aware of the
responsibilities of safety operations. Besides, we collaborate closely with
machinery manufacturers to enhance the safety standards of the
equipment to safeguard the operators, users, and service staff.

We understand that our service team needs more comprehensive
protection as they are exposed to a risker-working environment due to the
job nature. Therefore, we provide strengthened PPE for them, we also
provide substitutes to enrol mandatory safety training for operators of
cranes and qualified masks, hearing protectors and eye shields are
distributed to staff and those required to work in high-risk locations.

During the Reporting Period, there were no work-related fatalities (2024: 0,
2023: 0), and there was a total of 72'* (2024: 158, 2023: 223) lost days due to
work injury.

The Group strives to comply with OHS-related laws and regulations,
including but not limited to Cap. 59 of Factories and Industrial
Undertakings Ordinance, Cap. 509 of Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance, Cap. 406E of Electricity Wiring Regulations, Cap. 2958
Dangerous Goods (General) Regulations, Code of Practice for the loading
of vehicle issued by Transport Department and other regulations in the
jurisdictions where we operate, to protect the staff and other stakeholders.
During the Reporting Period, we did not identify material non-compliance
with the aforementioned occupational safety and health-related laws and
regulations.

“ The reported lost days due to work injury involved an employee who was
injured while working at a client site.
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REL > AL LR IR

Staff Training and Development

To satisfy organisation’s needs and equip staff with solid skills, knowledge
and safety awareness, we allocate resources and deliver targeted training
programs to our employees to cultivate safety awareness throughout the
Group. During the Reporting Period, we enhanced the management of
staff training and development by creating a standalone Training and
Development Policy.

By establishing adequate training programmes, we can provide necessary
occupational knowledge and skills to our staff. During the Reporting Period,
the number of staff trained and training hours received by gender and
employee category were as follows:

ETHINERE
RimRABTE R EEIRBRENREE - A&
Rzz2EH  BMASPEERASETIRHABRNE
MIBIAEEEEASRENL2ER - RREH
]+ FAPIE B B E S8 S R0 5 7)1 L 3 R IR SR 2R hn o
BTHIIRERMNERE

FBWEEENIFIIRE - R RE TREN
BB R IR RE - RIS HIR - RIER e
BEANESHZINETABRZIIRHLT

Percentage of Employees Trained Average Training Hours

EZRIESR AL
(For the year ended 31 March)
(BE3A31BLFE)

P E IR
(For the year ended 31 March)
(BZE3A31HLEE)

2025 2024
Category Al 2025F 2024 %F
By Gender R4 B El 5
Male = 77.5% 86.8%
Female g 81.5% 55.6%
By Employee Category’ R {E{EEAE 55
Senior management BREERE 90.9% N/ATNEHR
Intermediate staff and RRETRERE
management 100.0% 59.1%
General Staff —mRET 74.5% 84.7%

The Group offers orientation for new employees with initial information
and training in their specific job functions and skills and condition of
employment to assist them in quickly adapting to their positions.

B We have enhanced the coherence of the categorisation of the employee-
related data.

2023 2025 2024 2023
2023F 2025 2024%F 20234
59.0% 9.9 93 64
81.8% 64 8.0 5.7
NATNER 155 NATNER NATER
61.9% 14.2 196 13.9
63.2% 7.6 76 48
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The Group's technical staff regularly attend specialised seminars jointly
conducted by equipment manufacturers and the Group. These
collaborative educational programs are designed to ensure our technicians
are equipped with the necessary product knowledge, skills, and expertise
to deliver exceptional service and support to our clients. Such seminars
include training regarding the equipment structures, operational features,
operator safety training and equipment repair. In addition to the internal
trainings, our technicians also attend external industry courses and obtain
relevant certifications. The training covers hydraulic, electrical and
mechanical, electronic, engine systems, special equipment and tools for
troubleshooting.

Meanwhile, we have developed a formal and systematic training
programme for SSME, including classroom and practical training, aiming to
further accelerating the wider application of the system. In the future, we
plan to expand the scope of the training programme to our customers to
ensure their SSME operators are equipped with sufficient skills. In addition,
to align with our sustainable development mission, we have incorporated
sustainability elements such as resources management, energy
management, and other environmentally friendly practices in our existing
training content. We aim to nurture a green and environmentally-
conscious working culture through education and training initiatives.

The Group also provides easy access to training materials for supporting
our employees’ continuous learning and development. The Group is
currently preparing a series of instructional training videos with a specific
focus on operational safety protocols. Meanwhile, we also are developing
virtual safety training sessions to keep our employees of different offices in
Mainland China, Singapore and Macau updated with the latest safety
requirements.

Training and development resources are reviewed regularly for their
sufficiency and adequacy to ensure a competent workforce capable for
delivering exceptional, customer-centric services. The representative in
Human Resources Department will actively look for the applicable external
training programme for the team to maintain our competence.
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Prevention of Child Labor or Forced Labor

We have deployed sufficient controls in our human resources processes to
prevent child and forced labour employment, including verifying personal
identity documents and entering into a legitimate employment contract
with employees.

The Group strictly prohibits child and forced labour of any kind in
accordance with the local labour laws, including but not limited to the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
regulations in the jurisdictions where we operate. Should any case of child
labour or forced labour be reported or discovered by AP Rentals within our
operations, clients or suppliers, immediate actions will be taken including
reporting to relevant authorities and the temporary suspension all business
relation until further confirmation. During the Reporting Period, the Group
did not employ any child or forced labour, and there was no non-
compliance against the aforementioned child and forced labour-related
laws and regulations.

Sustainable & Ethical Supply Chain Management

Focusing specifically on our construction machinery leasing services, the
Group places a strong emphasis on supplier performance, as the
specifications of our equipment fleet are a critical factor directly impacting
our environmental and social responsibility objectives. During the reporting
period, we established a standalone Supplier Code of Conduct to clearly
outline our expectations for all suppliers regarding environmental, social,
and governance aspects.

Green procurement is one of the critical elements in the Group's business
operation as we recognise the selection of sustainable products can reduce
environmental impacts and safeguard human and labour rights. In our
supplier selection process and prior to procurement, we carefully consider
environmental impact alongside cost efficiency and product quality.
To implement this practice, we encourage the use of environmentally
preferable products and materials where feasible. Our user departments
are guided to prioritise suppliers with demonstrated commitment to
responsible environmental and social practices.
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As such, we source our equipment from sound and reliable suppliers,
including but not limited to reputable international equipment
manufacturers from Japan, the US, Europe and China. As of 31 March 2025,
we had a total of 282 suppliers.

Region =
Asia M
Europe B
North America dE=
Total aEr

To consistently uphold our product standards and organisational
reputation, we maintain strong, collaborative business relationships with
our manufacturing partners and suppliers. The Group closely monitor their
performance across all key operational metrics. Regular review on their
performance, including environmental and social aspects, is conducted for
the suppliers. In addition, the corresponding user department of the Group
will evaluate performance of each supplier based on the result of the
review and quality of the product, and timeliness of the service delivery.

Furthermore, our manufacturers will ensure the qualification and expertise
of the trainers to deliver training courses with respect to the operators of
our machines. Our training department held various sessions of product
and operation training during the Reporting Period. We also import and
use qualified machines with engines fulfilling EU Stage IlIA, US Tier 3 or
Japan Ministry of the Environment (“MoE") standards 1 or above to comply
with the emission standard and noise level standard of EPD to minimise
the overall environmental impacts.

Standardised Value Chain, Service Quality and Safety

The Group positions customer relationships as one of our top strategic
priorities. We strive to provide top-notch service to our customers, and we
strive to understand customers’ needs and act from customers’
perspectives, thereby cultivating a long-term customer relationship. During
the Reporting Period, we further promoted these values by creating a
standalone Product Responsibilities Policy.

As a renowned industry leader in construction machinery, the Group strives
to provide consistent and quality services to customers, which cannot be
achieved without a high-performing technical team. As such, we place
much emphasis on staff training as abovementioned and extensive
customer training and support. As a result, it enhances the machinery
operators'’ skills, safety responsibility and reduces unnecessary wearing and
tearing of the machinery.

AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2025

Hit - HMABEATENEERFEERE  2F
BTRREAKREBEAR - EH - BN EHEANHEE
R RLER - P202543A318 RMEA
282 B ERS o

Number of Suppliers
HEREEE

2025 2024 2023
2025 F 2024 F 2023 £
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Meanwhile, a customer service hotline has been established to collect
customers’ feedbacks, regardless of appreciation or complaint. Our
professional customer service staff are responsible for promptly following
up on all client feedback to improve customer experience. To facilitate
better responses, distinct divisions support diversified service hotlines. For
example, our customers can directly reach out to technical support team
for equipment maintenance.

To provide a clear overview of the services and products offering,
marketing brochures are prepared to help introduce our service details and
product specifications. In addition, to facilitate customers in making
informed purchase orders, we refer to the information provided by our
suppliers and manufacturers in preparing marketing materials to reflect
accurate and fair information of our services and products, meanwhile
complying with the Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Cap. 362 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and regulations in the jurisdictions where we operate.

Product Quality

The Group has established a product quality management system to
guarantee the delivery of safe and reliable products to our customers. Our
team of highly qualified and certified technicians maintain our equipment
fleet regularly to ensure they are all consistently in optimal operating
conditions, and our quality assurance process ensures the Group’s products
are in appropriate conditions to reduce the occurrence of complaints and
maximise our customers’ satisfaction rate towards the quality of our
products and services. As of March 2025, there were 2,637'® cases of
complaint (2024: 1,144 cases) which are mostly resulted from the natural
depreciation of machineries. All complaint cases were properly followed
up by the respective service teams until the clients’ concerns were
resolved.

As an integral component of our quality enhancement, the Group actively
seeks improvement and service enhancement ideas, feedback, and
requests from technicians, customers, and salespersons. We value the input
of our stakeholders and consider their comments and suggestions as
valuable resources for driving improvement. Based on the comments and
suggestions from the stakeholders, our technical and development team
will conduct the product recondition, modification and redevelopment to
catch up with the fast-changing market needs.

Moreover, we keep increasing the portion of machines with engines
complying with the US Tier 3 or Japan MoE standard 1 in our equipment
fleet to reduce emissions. Furthermore, we ensure our equipment fleet is
appropriately labelled according to EPD’s requirements regarding NRMM
and QPME. We believe our tremendous efforts in improving service offering
and product quality will receive much appreciation and trust from our

customers.
L2 The increase in the complaint cases is primarily attributed to the increase of
rental days.
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As of 31 March 2025, there were 3,007 service calls in over 295,766 machine
rentals days, resulting in a service call frequency of 1.02 cases per 100 rental
days (2024: 0.96 case per 100 rental days). The service calls were primarily
enquiries calls made by clients regarding the operation of machines. The
service call frequency tends to be correspondent to the level of business
activities, albeit seemingly had an upward trend in the Reporting Period, it
remains to be amongst the lowest in the industry demonstrated by our
exceptional product quality and service standard. Due to the inherent
nature of our business, none of our products are subject to recalls for safety
or health reasons.

Innovation and intellectual property protection

AP Rentals recognises the significance of intellectual property rights and
places great importance on proper usage of licensed products within our
operations. Our employees are required to comply with the necessary
terms and agreements when using licensed products and are expected to
refrain from any actions that could lead to the misuse of licensed products
or potential copyright infringement. AP Rentals is aware that violations
against the fair use of intellectual properties can pose a risk to the
Company'’s reputation and hinder the progress of innovation. Therefore,
we take our duty to protect all intellectual property used within our
operations seriously.

Cybersecurity & data protection

The Group respects the privacy of personal data. Accordingly, we
guarantee to implement all feasible controls to protect the personal data
of our stakeholders, including our employees. Furthermore, we ensure our
work practices comply with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap.
486 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and regulations in the jurisdictions where
we operate as a minimum in protecting personal data.

With respect to sensitive business and personal information, the Group
implements strict internal controls in safeguarding our data, particularly the
transaction data with our suppliers, business partners and customers, to
protect the interests of our stakeholders.

During our daily operations, we have applied the following measures to
ensure data privacy and to prevent any potential data leakage, which may
affect the interests of our stakeholders and our brand image:

No transfer or disclosure of personal data to any entity that is not a

member of the Group without consent unless required by law or
previously notified;

Only collect and retain personal data relevant to our business
operations; and

No Installation of unauthorised third-party software or applications.
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Terms regarding business data confidentiality have been stipulated on
both our employee handbook and the employment contract.

During the Reporting Period, we did not identify any material non-
compliance with the aforementioned service, product and data privacy-
related laws and regulations.

Prevention of Bribery, Extortion, Fraud and Money
Laundering

The Group implements adequate internal controls for preventing and
detecting corruption, bribery, and other fraudulent activities. To avoid
bribery and corruption, we have established and implemented the Code of
Anti-Corruption (the “Code”), which sets out the standards of conduct that
employees must follow. The Group has reviewed the Code regularly to
ensure their applicability to our current operations. A Gift Acceptance
Declaration Form which is designated for staff members to declare benefits
received has been set up. Under the Code, staff who receive any forms of
gifts or presents that value HK$500 or above must report to the
management.

Furthermore, we have implemented a Whistleblowing Policy that
encourages employees to disclose instances of suspected misconduct and
strictly prohibit any victimisation, retaliation, or unfair treatment against the
whistle-blower. The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the
Whistleblowing Policy regularly.

We also organise periodic seminars and training sessions on anti-corruption
measures, guidelines, operating practices, and business ethics for our
directors and staff, enhancing their awareness. Furthermore, to strengthen
awareness of our staff about the importance of business morals and
integrity, the anti-corruption video produced by Independent Commission
Against Corruption (“ICAC") is shown during orientation to educate new
joiners on the importance of integrity and awareness of various kinds of
corruption traps. In addition, refresher training on business ethics is
regularly delivered to our directors and staff to review and update the
measures and guidelines.

During the Reporting Period, we did not identify any cases of non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to corruption, bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering, including but not limited to the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
regulations in the jurisdictions where we operate. Furthermore, there were
no concluded legal cases in relation to the aforementioned matters.
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Community Investment and Engagement

Our Group is deeply committed to fostering a prosperous society not only
through our business operations but also through active engagement with
the communities in which we operate. This commitment is driven by our
core values of respect, helpfulness, and selflessness. We recognise the
importance of understanding community needs and ensuring that our
activities align with and support these interests. In living out the Group's
value, the Group encourages staff to serve the community including
volunteering and participating in community initiatives. We offer all
necessary support to our staff participating in such activities, including
special leaves, allowances, etc.

As the average age of the people in Hong Kong is climbing up each year,
the need help for the community support for the elderly is growing. The
Group is always committing to the evolving needs of the community. For
FY2025, the Group has taken several initiatives to arise the elderly
specifically, we donated rice to the elderly through the Dashun Foundation
and the Hong Kong Chinese Reform Association.

In addition to supporting the elderly, our Group is dedicated to protecting
and restoring the planet and its wildlife. To this end, we encouraged our
staff to participate in the “Walk for the Earth” campaign organized by the
World Wide Fund For Nature ("WWF") Hong Kong in April 2024. This
initiative aimed to promote the reduction of carbon dioxide emissions by
encouraging walking over driving. Through these efforts, we hope to
contribute to the global effort to restore the Earth.

AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2025

HERERZSHA
AEERNBANBBFEHEE MG ELE
FRAEAL R SRR R R RO R o IR R TR
B8  PARELOROEEMHED - LAIRB
BRLERRNEEN  TRARRMNEDTS
FXFFELERNE - RERAEEEE AEE
BETEBETRBERZ2EMEEHALRIER
Bt BHPIR2NERESNE TRE—VIMEX
& BRFRIRBEERSE -

BEEASTRNFHFREF LA HEHESE
SEMFERIMER RS - AEE—ER M EA
ETET LB K o 722025 1 F - AN E B FRER
ZIFFRAREMBNER - WEMBBRFEE
SREAEAETHERNREREDXK -

BT REERHIEIN  ARE TR RERIK
EHRREFELEY - Bt RASZBETSHE
HtERAARAESE ((WWF]) BB D RN 2024F 4
HEWN [ AT AS - BHEBE AR
BIAFZTRERE - EmESRD — AR
Mo HMBRBBELE N AERSMEEL
PR TAREHERL ©



A

By consistently investing in these areas, our Group not only addresses BB ERE N Z SR - AEETER AR
immediate community needs but also promotes long-term societal growth R BN  BREEHANLSEREMEE - 2
and stability. These engagements ensure that our business operations are  E2ZZ5E S FER RPN ESE S B I EF S
conducted with a mindful approach to the community’s interests, BT R#ETT * B REFIGEAEH SRR T AR o
demonstrating our unwavering commitment to societal betterment.
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Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED
DEAEEERERAF

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AP Rentals
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as “the Group”) set out on pages 132 to 224, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code"), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,

P ST A% BRI R

BARETER

RREFSERREAMANIERHE - RAEYHA

were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial HIRAMBRRANBHSAEENZIE - ZLF

statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

BARETER

ARAERMEFTBBSFAMBERRLAZRR
ETREN - RUTSHELEHREHEBNE
H o

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BMNENAHARETERETRE

Impairment assessment of plant and machinery

HaE R Bt el (E 7P AL

We identified the impairment assessment of plant and
machinery as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
carrying value of plant and machinery to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and involvement of the
extensive audit work.

ENHEE RSB REESBRRBES VBRI RAE
BET TIEME R - RIAIBRIHE R MORER (4 R R
BATEE -

As disclosed in the note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying value of plant and machinery reported
under property, plant and equipment as at 31 March 2025 was
HKS$146,174,000. The Group's accumulated impairment losses
of plant and machinery as at 31 March 2025 was HK$5,950,000.
A reversal of impairment losses of HK$267,000 has been
recognised in the profit or loss for the current year.
HMINERE M SRR M T 14T EE - 202563 A31H -
R BERBREETA2 RSB RERANREER
146,174,000/ 7T ©  EHREM 202543 A 31 B AH# 28 R i
W) RETR B8 55,950,000 87T © 267,000 7T KR B E
BROENANFEERRPHER -

As detailed in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements,
when there is indication of impairment with reference to the
utilisation and income generated from the plant and machinery
in recent years, impairment assessment is conducted and the
recoverable amount of plant and equipment was determined
based on at fair value less cost of disposal.

WMINGRE SRR 4P aF I - B2 RRIT F 28 R
WEE BB R KEEBABRETRE - SETRERT
il WRAAER L ENAEEWRM R R B AT E 25

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of plant and machinery included:

B E R B MR ET A ERNERFE
1’

Obtaining an understanding of management’s process
of reviewing and evaluating impairment assessment of
plant and machinery; and

R iR T JE A M B I M TRORL (B AT O BB B e R (B
B\ K

Assessing the reasonableness of the fair value less cost
of disposal estimated by the management by checking,
on a sample basis, to the recent disposal values or
transaction prices of similar assets in the market.
BAMEREET S T RAUEENROLEEE
EARSER  THEEREGMANAABREEK
RE)EEM o
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Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BARETER

Impairment assessment of lease receivables and trade
receivables

FEREE AR B 5 B R b (e

We identified impairment assessment of lease receivables and
trade receivables as a key audit matter due to the significance
of lease receivables and trade receivables to the Group's
consolidated financial position and the judgements associated
with the impairment assessment of the lease receivables and
trade receivables.

EREWEEFIERE ZHERWHIEE BEEBEGRSTEIR
MNBEE R EEKRESHIARE S RKRFIERE HE
R e - IR WA EFIA K B Z RIS IR RERT
HARMRETRE -

As at 31 March 2025, the Group'’s aggregate amounts of lease
receivables and trade receivables amounted to HK$38,714,000.
M2025F3H31H - EEENEREERENRE S EW
FRIB4BFE 538,714,000 87T ©
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BMNENAHRARETERETRE

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
lease receivables and trade receivables included:

HAFInt R WA B IR K B 5 WG IB R E T (& T B A A
RFEE:

Understanding how the management estimates the
credit loss allowance for lease receivables and trade
receivables;

BRI B A Al {5t R A B R TE )R B 5 IR LK
B EEEREE

Challenging management'’s basis and judgement in
determining credit loss allowance on lease receivables
and trade receivables as at 31 March 2025, including
the basis of individual assessment, the reasonableness
of management’s grouping of lease receivables and
trade receivables into different categories, and the
basis of estimated loss rate applied in each category
(with reference to historical default rates and forward-
looking information);
BREREEEBETN2025F3A3BHEKEE
FIERESHREFIENEEBREHEMANEE
A - BFEER T EEER  BEEKEKA
ERENE HRKKIBDBEE NAEARNN SR
ARERSEARNGEERNEAR (2 BER
HWERATEMEER)
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Key audit matters

P ST A% BRI R

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BARETER

As disclosed in notes 4 and 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group estimates the
amount of lifetime expected credit loss ("ECL") of lease
receivables and trade receivables based on individual
assessment or by grouping of various debtors that have similar
risk exposure, after considering internal grouping of lease
receivables and trade receivables. Estimated losses are based on
historical observed default rates and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable and
available without undue costs or effort.

WA ETBREMT4RIIFAEE - EEBEEEER
BAE R A S B A BB LR R O 8= B ERSCET D
B EFTRREETIERE SRKNFEN 2 BEREES
BHEBEEBE) &  EPLERBRHEERIARE
ZRBGIEH AR DA o EET BB RBEBEERIIAE
AERFEFEH  UREFMNETIBENERNE HANAIE
SHEEEAREBENRE M EREL R -

As disclosed in notes 19 and 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group's lifetime ECL on lease receivables
and trade receivables as at 31 March 2025 amounted to
HK$18,169,000. Impairment losses of HK$2,847,000 has been
recognised in the profit or loss for the current year.

BUNERE B IS TRRM T 19 31 FifEE - EHEER 2025F
3A3AMEKAERIERE S RERKRIENZ MEREE
/&5 18 518,169,000 7 JT © 2,847,000 7% JT KB (B B B E R A
FEEBRRPHER o

BMNENAHRARETERETRE

Checking calculation and basis of default rates adopted
by the management for the impairment assessment to
the underlying information used by management, on a
sample basis, with reference to the historical settlement
analysis of lease receivables and trade receivables; and
K2EZRPHEFEIESREFENBELEE
D& - TR E B IR B RORE 5Tk IR P ER AR &Y
BROXRFEAFAREE  UKEEEMARIEH
BH R

Checking the information used by management for
developing the impairment assessment for lease
receivables and trade receivables, including aged
analysis as at 31 March 2025, on a sample basis,
by comparing individual items in the analysis with
the relevant sales invoices and other supporting
documents.

BRGNP ERIEE EAEMEHERREREM
BRANMETLER  mEREERERRKES
FRIBRE S REBFIAS T REEETRER -
BIER 202543 A 31 BREREIR DI

TEAREZERERRAF /2025FFH 1.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

P ST A% B

REMRERGRS P BBRRABNEE

ZAMBERE  REHSAMBHREAEEBES AFHE
R ERMERNERNERLIS A E
g UIRBHEERERENZBRROAE
ERMBROZEBENRSE  FRILASN - RPN
ST REEMARE - HPLTHABREZAR
BEMEMALREEAREEIEZEE -
BEREZRKENRE  BTERBLBEE
FTEAETNETER —BERERRAFER
AR o SHERPRALAT LA R EREF SR ARSI - 4N
REEBHEMNERNERERAIETEERE
KBZERAMBREMELOLERE - AIF
R SRR B AT IR AR AN ©

EREEBETEETETBESD - HMAE
A RHEN LRI FRIREAEE » L I

a8k Bl B2 R A e 1A BR B 2k R 1 48 AR A B
BRERFEEAERRANELR - ReT &
HITE R AREZEAR - U RER
FENMEENEAEE  EREMERN
At - HNBFARRSRER BE &
BER ERMASEZEAREZEZ LK
B - HURBER AR IGF M SR E A
AR R LR B R BE IR R ER SR T G 2
M E A SRR AR -

AR B RET R N EREEE - ARFTEE

MEFTERF  HXFEEY BEREHNR
EREEARRERER -

AHEEEMRASABRRELREALM
fEH gt AT RIERNER L AR -
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor's report is Cheung, Chung Yin, Lawrence (practising certificate
number: P04858).

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Ao e 18 s S H At 4 T A A

For the year ended 31 March 2025 8 & 202543 A 31 B L FE

2025 2024
2025 20244
NOTES HK$'000 HKS'000
B aE FTER FAT
Revenue U #5 5
Goods and services B &R 40,019 59,550
Leasing of equipment HERE 120,205 114,520
Total revenue FEl g 160,224 174,070
Cost of sales and services SHE R ARG A A (113,774) (122,028)
Gross profit EF 46,450 52,042
Other income H A 6 3,377 3,232
Other gains and losses Hfh s K & 18 7 10,275 2,197
Reversal of impairment losses BHERYIZE - W KRR ERE
(impairment losses) recognised on EstE R R OREEE) F5
property, plant and equipment, net 14 (54)
(Impairment losses) reversal of RIEFEHREEEEER
impairment losses under ECL model EREREREERER
recognised on lease receivables and Z S EWFIECREEE)
trade receivables, net BB & R B 5 31 (2,847) 1677
Administrative expenses THAX (40,732) (39,847)
Selling and distribution expenses ﬁﬁ%& A 8 5 2 (597) (1,205)
Share of result of a joint venture DMh—HEE B ENEE 47 (2,920)
Finance costs BhE A A 8 (1,887) (1,656)
Profit before tax Rt A& A 14,353 13,466
Income tax expense FriS &t X 9 (2,196) (3,102)
Profit for the year AN A 10 12,157 10,364
Other comprehensive income (expense) NG fE H fth 2 U 25 (Bs)
for the year
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to H & AJ B H M EBas I IHH -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on BMEBINEBEER
translation of foreign operations PEH =% 162 (600)
Total comprehensive income for the year ZN4E & 2 [ Yt a5 4258 12,319 9,764
Earnings per share — basic (HK cents) FREF— AR CE) 13 1.20
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FU\;\\(‘IVV\L POSITION

W]?

& BRI R

At 31 March 2025 72202543 A 31 H

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current Assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment YIEE - A R 14 165,925
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 3,416
Prepayments and deposits paid for BB - Hm
acquisition of property, HENE RN IR
plant and equipment Rig& 19 1,089
Rental deposits Hekse 19 650
Deposit placed for a life insurance policy S {RETF K 16 3,047
Interest in a joint venture R—REEEEENER 17 =
174127
Current Assets REBEE
Inventories FE 18 22,453
Trade and other receivables, Z 5 REMERGRIE -
deposits and prepayments & RIERHIE 19 43273
Amount due from a joint venture FEl—F& & ERFIR 25 5,552
Pledged bank deposit EHEMRITFR 20 360
Cash and cash equivalents RENRREEEY 20 93,661
165,299
Current Liabilities pE =R
Trade and other payables and B 5 REMBERRIER
accrued charges FE=tE 21 37,315
Amount due to a joint venture B —REA S ERFIE 25 420
Contract liabilities eHaE 22 952
Receipts in advance TEUWAR K 3,975
Tax liabilities HIEAE 4712
Borrowings — due within one year BR— —FERFH 23 38,085
Deferred income BEEWA 6 429
Lease liabilities HEBE 26 3,120
89,008
Net Current Assets REEEZE 76,291
Total Assets less Current Liabilities #EERRBAR 250418
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FlN ANCIAL POSITION

AR BRI AL

At 31 March 2025 72202543 A 31 H

2025 2024
2025 F 20244
NOTES HK$’000 HKS'000
B aE F#&xT FET
Non-current Liabilities FkRBAE
Borrowings Bk 23 1,068
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIEBE 24 20,645
Lease liabilities HERE 26 399
22,112
Net Assets BEEFRE 228,306
Capital and Reserves BEARf#EiE
Issued capital BEITIRAR 27 864
Reserves EE 227,442
Total Equity MR 228,306
The consolidated financial statements on pages 132 to 224 were approved — #XH 5 132 B 25 224 B Z 48 & B 3RER B 7 2025

and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2025 and are

signed on its behalf by:

LAU PONG SING
BIFBK

Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

Ara MR B SR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &% 202543 A31 BIEFE

Issued Share Merger Legal Translation Retained
capital premium reserve  reserve reserve profits Total
B#1T
BE ROEE GORE ZERE EXRE RKREEA st
HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
THr FEr FEr  TEnD THEr TEr TEx
(Note i) (Note ii)
CGEDRC D)
At 1 April 2023 R202364 718 864 232345 (102443) 12 523 92,857 224,158
Profit for the year AEERF = = = = = 10,364 10,364
Exchange differencesarisingon BN ERELR
translation of foreign operations (B Z% = = = = (600) = (600)

Total comprehensive (expense)  AEE2E(F%)

income for the year eyt = -
Dividend paid ERRE - -
At 31 March 2024 R2024E3A318 232,345
Profit for the year KEERT

Exchange differences arisingon B BN ETSAE A )
translation of foreign operations (B ¥, =58

Total comprehensive income AFEE2ANRBE

for the year
Dividend paid BERRE
At 31 March 2025 R2025F3 8318 232,345
Notes:

Merger reserve represents the difference between the amount of share
capital and share premium of the Company issued, and the issued share
capital of AP Rentals Limited exchanged in connection with the group
reorganisation on 21 July 2015.

In accordance with Article 377 of the Commercial Code of Macau Special
Administrative Region, the subsidiary registered in Macau is required to
transfer part of its profits of each accounting period of not less than 25% as
legal reserve, until it reaches an amount equal to half of the capital.

(102,443)

(102,443)

GEE

= (600) 10,364 9,764
= = (5616) (5616)

228,306

12,157

162

12,157 12,319
(6,566) (6,566)

103,196 234,059

AHFEEERAAREBITRASERRMDE
BEHER205F7A2IBETEEEAMK
BROREAHEERAAIDEITRAZ =% -

REBORPIRFBITT R BESR S 377 15 - HORPT
AEMEME R R ABE S G BEN DR 25%
WENERELERE  EEEIASERE
EA—HNEHE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Operating activities ReEEH
Profit before tax BR A% A1 g A 13,466
Adjustments for: BLATIE B EH A%
(Reversal of impairment losses) impairment losses & ERPIEE ~ HW K R
recognised on property, plant and equipment CREEERRE) REEIE 54
Write-down on inventories WoRfF&E 437
Impairment losses (reversal of impairment losses) R IETEHAE B E1EE #ER
under expected credit losses recognised on BRHESRIERES
lease receivables and trade receivables, net FEWGRIE R B & 1B
(REEEREE)FE (1,677)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M - B R EETE 45,220
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 3,526
Finance costs LRI 1,656
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment & ¥IEE - #H K RIS (2512)
Amortisation of deferred income ST A B (130)
Share of result of a joint venture e —EEERENES 2,920
Interest income FLEMA (2,651)
Operating cash flows before movements EEECEDANKEHERE
in working capital 60,309
Increase in inventories FEEm (9,252)
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables, B 5 REMEIIE « 24 Kk
deposits and prepayments TR I ($E00) B> 6
Decrease (increase) in amount due from B —fE& & ERFKRIE
ajoint venture B (3 n) (5,552)
Increase in trade and other payables and B 5 R EAM R FRIAL K
accrued charges FEETE RN 5,094
Decrease in amount due to a joint venture BN —REE & EENFKIERD =
Decrease in contract liabilities ERaERD (202)
Decrease in receipts in advance TEU R TR > (7,366)
Cash generated from operations EEMFHES 43,037
Income tax paid ERPTSE (5,836)
Net cash from operating activities RETEMERSTFE 37,201
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

EEHESHER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(Z 202543 A31 HIEFE

2025 2024
2025 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Investing activities BEEE
Interest received BUFI B 2,651
Increase in prepayments and deposits for WREYDZE - W R ER B EY
acquisition of property, plant and equipment TERTFRIE RIZ S 18 1N (665)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB « MW RERE (18,252)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEMH - B R B EFTSRIE
equipment 8279
Contribution to a joint venture mM—REEErETE (2,500)
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFMARESEE (10,487)
Financing activities REEE
Interest paid EfFIE (1,656)
New borrowings raised g fER 20,263
Repayments of borrowings EEEBN (16,372)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHSEAR (3,675)
Dividend paid BT B (5616)
Net cash used in financing activities RETEFMARESFE (7,056)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEWENFE 19,658
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUNESRESEEY
of the year 74,559
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNEFE R BB v 2 (556)
Cash and cash equivalents atend of theyear F£AREERREZEY 93,661
Analysis of the balances of cash and HeRESEEYEHRIN
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents BekBEeEEY 93,661
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEE B R M B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

1.

138

GENERAL INFORMATION

AP Rentals Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as
an exempted company and registered in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands on 11 June 2015.
The shares of the Company have been listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 8
April 2016. The addresses of the registered office of the Company is
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business is Unit 806A,
8th Floor, Tower II, South Seas Centre, No. 75 Mody Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 37.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong

Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A S R I AL

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &(Z 202543 31 HIEFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on 1 April 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 (lassification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-Current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-Current Liabilities with Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and HKFRS 7

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in the current year has had no material impact on the Group's
financial positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FU\ ANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification

and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or

Joint Venture'
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards — Volume 113

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting Standards mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
42 B IS H 2R [ 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(Z 202543 A31 HIEFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements
(“"HKFRS 18”)

HKFRS 18, which sets out requirements on presentation and
disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements ("HKAS 1"). This new HKFRS Accounting
Standards, while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS
1, introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provides
disclosures on management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improves aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial
statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved
to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors and HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33
Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early
application permitted. The application of the new standard is
expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or loss
and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group is in the
process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR R M T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving
the consolidated financial statements, a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A S R I AL

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &(Z 202543 31 HIEFE

REMBRENEHREERBAE
T BURE R (8)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EXREFHEERER

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when
the Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

GANBRENEREER AR
HEREER (@)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2

EXEHEREER )

SN

Investment in a joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
a joint venture.

The results and assets and liabilities of a joint venture are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements
of a joint venture used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the joint venture. When the Group's share of
losses of a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that
joint venture, the Group discontinues recognising its share
of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the joint venture are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the joint venture
that are not related to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &(Z 202543 31 HIEFE

REMBRENEHREERBAE
T BURE R (8)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 EAEFEEER@E

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual value and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. LEUBBRNVGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL TR ER (@)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 EAEFEEER@E)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of plant and machinery are estimated
individually.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount.

Deposit placed for a life insurance policy

Deposit placed for a life insurance policy is initially measured
at cost and subsequently, interest income net of the policy
premium, expense and insurance charges of the deposit
placed is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &(Z 202543 31 HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEMBBRRNGREERERS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL FTEEER )

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EAREHBXERE)
Inventories 78
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable FERKA R EEFEMERERE
value. Costs of inventories are determined using the first-in, PIER « FEMAIRLASLLIEERE -
first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated AR REEFE 2 EERE—
selling price for inventories less all costs necessary to make P E PR o ETTIHE IR
the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental BRAEERETIHEVAEEZH
costs directly attributable to the sale non-incremental costs EIERIE KA EE RN 2 EIERA -

which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents ReRBELEEY

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the statement of ReELBFEFBYRUBMRRAEKEZ

financial position include: 5 - B
cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand . Re HeEFEReREH
deposits, and fF3k
cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term . ReEEBY HemEH0RE
(generally with original maturity of three months BRI AZEARER)
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily A pER I AB NEEES R
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are BEZHEARIANSREME
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash RE - ReEBYRIEMRE
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short- B3R S AE - MIEARIREK
term cash commitments rather than for investment or HEMER -

other purposes.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REVEBRNEREERERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STEERER (#)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EAREHBXERE)
Financial instruments @I E

148

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
("HKFRS 15"). Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(Z 202543 A31 HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. RMEMBEBRRNGREEREXRS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STBRER (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EAREHBXERE)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRIE(E)
Financial assets TREE

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REVEBRNEREERERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL TEERER (#)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 EAEHBEER(HE)

150

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on financial assets (including rental deposits, trade and other
receivables, amount due from a joint venture, pledged bank
deposit and bank balances) and lease receivables which are
subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and lease receivables.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since

initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

0] Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; or

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(Z 202543 A31 HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(0

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
there is a rebuttable presumption that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, except for those the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (jii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FU\ ANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, there is rebuttable
presumption that default does not occur later than
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
since the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event; or

(c) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(Z 202543 A31 HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining the ECL
is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the
lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables and lease
receivables are considered on a collective basis
taking into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped with reference to the following basis:

Nature of financial instruments; and

Past-due status;

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of lease receivables and trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(Z 202543 A31 HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HGEMKBRNGEREERERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL FTEERER (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 EAEHBEER(HE)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
amount due to a joint venture and borrowings) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating to
contracts with customers is provided in note 5.

Leases

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of rented premises and equipment that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-
term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability; and

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(Z 202543 A31 HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HRENKBRNEREEREAS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STBRER (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 EAEHBEER(HE)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Rental income which are derived from the Group's ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in a
contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE
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SRR ()

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period, in which they are incurred as the Group does not have
any qualifying asset, which is asset that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or
sale.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss
on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.
Government grants relating to compensation of expenses are
presented under “other income”.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(Z 202543 A31 HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

GAMBBRNENEEREAR
SRS (50

3.2 EAEHBEER(HE)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
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GANBERNANEEREAR
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

3.2 EAEHBEER(HE)

162

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HKS) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve.
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GANBRANRRELEREAR
SRS (50

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EAREHBXERE)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
including Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the "MPF”
Scheme) and state-managed retirement benefit schemes, are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer MPF
contributions expected to be offset as a deemed employee
contribution towards the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS
19.93(a) and it is measure on a net basis. The estimated
amount of future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits derived
from the Group’s MPF contributions that have been vested
with employees, which are deemed to be contributions from
the relevant employees.
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4.

164

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets within the next
financial year.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and lease
receivables

Credit-impaired trade receivables and lease receivables are assessed
for ECL individually. In addition, the Group determines the ECL for
the remaining trade receivables and lease receivables by grouping
of various debtors that have similar risk exposure, after considering
internal grouping of lease receivables and trade receivables.
Estimated losses are based on historical observed default rates and
are adjusted for forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable and available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

At 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of trade receivables and lease
receivables are HK$639,000 (2024: HK$2,319,000) and HK$38,075,000
(2024: HKS$36,067,000), net of allowance for credit loss of HK$487,000
(2024: HK$286,000) and HKS$17,682,000 (2024: HKS15,036,000)
respectively. The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables
and lease receivables are disclosed in note 31.
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5.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
Revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

(a)

(i)

customers

Sales of
machinery
and parts
R
BHEE
HK$'000
TET

Geographical markets 5

Hong Kong BE

Macau R

Singapore s

Total @t

Timing of revenue  WHEBERAEY
recognition

A point in time R

Over time !

Total @t

oy

AR ¥ 3R M AL

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 20253 A31 BIEFE

Lease
related
operating
services
HHEER
MR ERAE
HK$'000
TER

18,383
44
3,833

22,260

22,260

22,260

5. WERIBER

(a)

Wz
() FFENWHENSE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZ2025F3ANALFE

Repairand
maintenance
service
BER
RERHE
HK$'000
TER

Delivery Installation
service service Total

RERE — ZEERB At
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TR TR

35,745
438
3,836

40,019

13,747
26,272

40,019
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@) Revenue (Continued)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued)

5.

(a)

For the year ended 31 March 2024

W=k o EER (&)

Wt (48)

BEFENRENSE(E)

BZ0uF3A3IBLFE
Lease
Sales of related Repairand
machinery operating  maintenance Delivery Installation
and parts services service service service Total
ERk HHERH BER
THEE WBRERE  RERE  ORERE  ZERH @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR
Geographical markets 138735
Hong Kong s 24383 17,045 5,730 5,571 1126 54055
Macau B 337 10 17 9% 5 467
Singapore I 140 4,888 = = = 5028
Total @t 24,860 2143 5747 5,669 1,131 59,550
Timing ofrevenue  HEBERAEH
recognition
A point in time E-EEH 24860 - - 5,669 = 30,529
Over time BE R - 22143 5747 - 1,131 29,021
Total @t 24,860 22143 5747 5669 1,131 59,550
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(Z 202543 A31 HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(@) Revenue (Continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sales of machinery and parts

Revenue from sales of machinery and parts is from
contracts with customers and recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the goods.

Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been accepted
by the customer. The customer has full discretion
over the usage of the goods, and has the primary
responsibility when on selling the goods and bears the
risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods.
The normal credit term is 0 to 90 days upon invoice
issued.

The Group normally receives 10% to 40% of the contract
value as deposits from customers when it signs the
sale and purchase agreement. The deposits will be
recognised as revenue when the customer obtains
control of the machinery.

All the sales of machinery and parts are completed
within one year. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.

Lease related operating services income

The Group offers equipment operating services in
Hong Kong and other geographical markets by sending
equipment operators to operate the equipment at the
job sites of its customers. Such services are recognised
as a performance obligation satisfied over time as
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as
the Group performs. The Group applied the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15 to recognise revenue in the
amount that the Group has the right to invoice based
on the terms of the relevant agreements in which
the Group bills based on the time charged by the
equipment operators. The normal credit term is 0 to 45
days upon invoice issued. The invoice is issued upon the
completion of service.

5. WERHWER )
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(ii)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Revenue (Continued)

(a)

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)
Lease related operating services income (Continued)

The contract periods for lease related operating service
are one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.

Lease related other services income

The Group’s other services income, which arise from
rental arrangements including repair, maintenance,
delivery and installation services. Revenue from
delivery service is recognised when the goods have
been delivered to the customer’s specific location.
Revenue from repair, maintenance and installation
services are recognised over time because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs. The Group applied the practical expedient in
HKFRS 15 to recognise revenue in the amount that the
Group has the right to invoice based on the terms of
the relevant agreements in which the Group bills based
on the time charged. The normal credit term is 0 to 45
days upon invoice issued. The invoice is issued upon the
completion of service.

The contract periods for lease related other services
are one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILF[E

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WHREDIER (&)

(a) Revenue (Continued) (a) Wz (&)
(iii) Leases (iii)y =&
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
For operating leases: MGEHEMS
Lease payments that are fixed .ETHETTJL/T 114,520
For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, there is B E2025F K 20243 A31H
no contingent rental recognised. IEFE - WEBERSNAES -
(b) Segmentinformation (b) ZBER
For management purpose, the Group is organised based on REBEE®  RNEBZRHEEREEHHE
its business activities. The Group determines its operating Mo AEERMEEREDETHK
segments based on these business activities that are reqularly EoE - AEEEEREE (AR
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, i.e. the APMTES) EHEN  UoEEIR
executive directors of the Company, for the purpose of PEREE S

resources allocation and performance assessment.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments ABME  AEEREEBUBRS
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are as follows: ERFEH (AL 55 N2, K
LEDET -

Leasing —  Leasing of equipment, lease related operating HE — HERE HHEFEM
services and other services including repair BIERS AR - &
and maintenance service, delivery service and ERIERRERY  RE
installation service MRS R 2 R AR

Trading —  Sales of machinery and parts BE — HBRESHHEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &z 20254 3 A 31 HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WHRAHELR (@)

(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) ZWERE)
Segment information about these reportable and operating ERAMEAE2RMELED T D PE
segments is presented below: BRTX25 -
Segment revenue and results 2Bk S I A
For the year ended 31 March 2025 Bl 2025F 3 H31 HILFE
Leasing Trading Total
HE BB At
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTET FET
Revenue Wz
Leasing of equipment HER 120,205 120,205
Lease related operating services  E2FH &5 B A IR 1EARTS 22,260 22,260
Repair and maintenance service 4 1& MR B IR 3,632 3,632
Delivery service 3K AR 75 5,851 5,851
Installation service 2R RS 380 380
Sales of machinery and parts M R E 1 HE - y 7,896
Segment revenue 7 EBUL AR 152,328 g 160,224
Results E
Segment results DEELE 43,393 43,737
Unallocated income R BEWA 2,799
Unallocated expenses RAOMHAZ (32,944)
Unallocated exchange gains R B b 5 s 714
Share of result of ajointventure D {h—fE& B ERELE 47

Consolidated profit before tax AREBRZEBTANESR
of the Group 14,353
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(Z 202543 A31 HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment information (Continued)

(b)

5.

Wi R 2B E R ()
(b) ZERER(E)

Segment revenue and results (Continued) EBU R I 4R ()
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BB 20243 A31 HIFFE
Leasing Trading Total
HE BE st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FAT FAT FH&T
Revenue g
Leasing of equipment HERME 114,520 = 114,520
Lease related operating services  ERFHE A BB 1EAR TS 22,143 = 22,143
Repair and maintenance service  # {8 R IRE RIS 5,747 = 5,747
Delivery service IR % AR 75 5,669 = 5,669
Installation service L H RS 1,131 = 1,131
Sales of machinery and parts e G B E = 24,860 24,860
Segment revenue 7B ES 149,210 24,860 174,070
Results E
Segment results DERELE 38,820 6,293 45,113
Unallocated income Ao EEUWA 2,865
Unallocated expenses ROBLF (31,277)
Unallocated exchange losses Ao BLIE H B 1R (315)
Share of result of a joint venture D —fE& B EMNES (2,920)
Consolidated profit before tax NEB LTS BB ANG A
of the Group 13,466
The accounting policies of the reportable and operating A2 MRS D EBE TR B
segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies STl AR EB st EAR - D F
described in note 3. Segment results represent the profit HEERZEDEFTREAEF - MR

earned by each segment without allocation of interest
income and certain sundry income, exchange gains (losses),
central administration expenses and share of result of a joint
venture. This is the measure reported to the chief operating
decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

The chief operating decision maker makes decisions according
to operating results of each segment. No analysis of segment
assets and liabilities are presented as the information is not
regularly reported to the chief operating decision maker
for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of
performance.

BN S WARE THERA - EX
Yzt (B518) « FRITEAS EoE—
REERENESE - WIRABHFEE
REREERARIEE R ERFER
BTG EER -

BREEERREREBE AN HaLLE
FEELIRTE - WEWEFDEEER
BENDIT - RESZFEMLETE
HREF2ERREERABIEER
DI RAHERA
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 8 & 202543 A 31 B L FE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WERDZT/ER (%)

(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) DEER(HE)
Other segment information Hip &R
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BB 2025F 3 A31 HIFFE

Leasing Trading Unallocated Total
HE B ROE st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz TR THET TR

Reversal of impairment losses BRERME - BHR
recognised on property, plant R ERBRRTER
and equipment, net
Impairment losses recognised BRER BN EFIER
on lease receivables and 2 S EWFIRRERSE
trade receivables, net pecs
Write-down on inventories HREE
Depreciation of property, plantand )% « M LRGN E
equipment 42,952
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {F BB ENE 3,492
Gain on disposal of property, k27 BN S
plant and equipment 9,561
For the year ended 31 March 2024 B Z 2024 3 A31 HIEFE
Leasing Trading  Unallocated Total
il BE ADER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TET TET TR

Impairment losses recognisedon B HERYE « K%

property, plantand equipment, net =R EREE 1T 5 54 - - 54
Reversal of impairment losses BREREKEETIER

recognised on lease receivables 2 S RNGEREER

and trade receivables, net e 1,508 169 = 1677
Write-down on inventories WRFE - 437 - 437
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ ¥1% « #4% & 3R &1 &

equipment 44213 19 988 45,220
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {F FEEEITE 3413 - 113 3,526
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - W KA

plant and equipment 2512 = = 2512
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 20253 A31 BIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b)

Segment information (Continued)
Geographical information

The Group's revenue from external customers is mainly
derived from customers located in Hong Kong, Macau,
the PRC and Singapore, which is determined based on the

location of customers.

5. WERIWBER @

(b)

External revenue:

Hong Kong
Macau

PRC
Singapore

oMU

RFT
I
N3

The Group's non-current assets based on the geographical
location of the group companies owning these assets are as

follows:

Non-current assets:

Hong Kong
Macau

PRC
Singapore

FRBEE :

)
RFT
E
N3

Note: Non-current assets excluded rental deposits and deposit

placed for a life insurance policy.

DERE R ()
REEREIBEL AW ERIT
ERER ORF REEF AT
B KSR EFMEMEEE -

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHT

144,122 157,549
4,789 3,891

7 158
11,306 12,472

160,224 174,070

AEBEMERDEE (LKEBLEE
ENEBARMEMBAESD)H
FET

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 £
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FHET

155,945 156,680
1,086 1,955
115 5077
5,617 6,718

162,763 170,430

Mz ERBEETREESKRERER
REFK
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 8 & 202543 A 31 B L FE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WERDZT/ER (%)

(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) DEER(HE)
Information about major customers FHEEREFNER
Revenue from customer during the year contributing over REFIEREFH LW ERE10% K E S
10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows: IasE 5T
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT
Customer A* B A 22,481
* Revenue from leasing and trading segments
6. OTHERINCOME 6.
2024
2025 F 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interest income from: FEWAKRE :
— bank deposits — RITIFK 2,553
— deposit placed for a life insurance policy — EHRIREFXK 98
Subsidies related to acquisition of assets B A E AR AAL ()
(note ) 130
Sundry income HIFI A 451
3,232
AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2025
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B ZE 20253 A31 BIEF/E

6. OTHER INCOME (Continued) 6.

Note:

U]

In prior years, the Group has received subsidies of HK$640,000 from
the Construction Innovation and Technology Fund in Hong Kong for
acquisition of a crane mounted on a new motor vehicle. The amount
has been treated as deferred income. The amount is amortised and
transferred to income over the useful lives of the relevant asset.

Movement of deferred income is as follows:

HaWA ()

BeE

0]

RBEFE  AEERBERRENTE
EmREgREBRERAMES KR
640,000/ TLRI RS © BB WR BIEIE
WA - ZEeEERNHBEEENAERFH

EIERAZ BT

Deferred income

EEWA

HK$'000

FAET

At 1 April 2023 R2023F4H1H 559
Amortisation in the current year RARFE E#H (130)
At 31 March 2024 7202453 4318 429
Amortisation in the current year RARFE E (147)
At 31 March 2025 202563 531 H 282
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 8 & 202543 A 31 B L FE

7.

176

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

7. HttKR=mRER

2025
2025 F
HK$°000

FHET

Exchange gains (losses), net [ 5 Uz (B548) %58

Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE -« W N RE WS
equipment

FINANCE COSTS

8. MMEMAK

2025
2025
HK$’000
FHT

Interest on borrowings
Interest on lease liabilities

RS 1,739
HEBEFNE 148

1,887
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2024
2024 4
HK$'000
FHET

(315)

2512

2024
2024 4F
HK$'000
FHET

1,460
196

1,656



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B AR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &(Z 202543 31 HIEFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FBHAX
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHBxT T
Current tax; BIHARRIA
Hong Kong Profits Tax BAEFER 5319
Overprovision in prior years: B FE B
Hong Kong Profits Tax BBFEH (188)
Deferred tax (note 24) FEIEFETE (M 5E24) (2,029)
3,102

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HKS2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

For the subsidiary registered in Macau, Macau Complementary
Income Tax is calculated at 12% (2024: 12%) of the estimated
assessable profit exceeding MOP600,000 after the deduction of
dividend paid for both years. No provision for Macau Complementary
Income Tax had been made as it had no assessable profits for both
years.

For subsidiary registered in the PRC, under the Law of the PRC
on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiary is
25% (2024: 25%). No provision for EIT had been made as it had no
assessable profits for both years.

For the subsidiary registered in Singapore which is subject to
Singapore income tax at 17% (2024: 17%). No provision for Singapore
income tax had been made as it had no assessable profits for the
year ended 31 March 2024. No provision for Singapore income tax
was made for the year ended 31 March 2025 as the assessable profits
were absorbed by the tax losses brought forward.

RBEFISE MRS AEREEEENS
2H BB T M i8R 8. 25% B - MR @2
B BB TR R R 8IR 165% B - TRF&
IS AR B A & B F B2 A s F S A 1%
16.5% HI A — i BEEL

RNRPIEMOMB AR ME @ ZMES
ERPIFMERHATRIRNGREIREREE
78 18 600,000 F9 7T &Y fily 51 FE &R B s ) &Y
12% (2024 4F < 12%) 5t & - BRAKERZ

P fE F I SRR BUE N - BURBET IR
FIFTIS R FE A o

FRPREFMONBARMS - RIEF
EMBRE([REMEBE]) ROXEA
BREEREN  PREBARNTEA
25% (2024 4F : 25%) o A AN &= B A 5% WA 1
FEHEBERBETN - BRBEHREEM
SRR -

RRFTANS RO B A R ZBHZ17%(20244F
17%) BIRL R BANFT I3 FTiSRL - AR TERE
EX4F3ANALFEERRTSF
MABHEF IS HEE - ARER
20254F 3 A 31 B IEFE FER B s 1 4 82
O H0 765 B 18 AT IR KL - MUK B BT R BT AN A
1SR -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 9.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled from the
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

FRr&HBA (40)
AEEMRSHAXEGABREEME2E
Wan o Pk BR B A A E BRI T

other comprehensive income as follows:

2025 2024
2025 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Profit before tax BRA AR A1 13,466
Tax at applicable tax rate of 16.5% REABE 165% 5T ERIFIR 2,222
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AR A ST 2
tax purpose 1,031
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARMBANREZE
tax purpose (468)
Tax effect of share of result of SME—HEEEENEED
ajoint venture 7852 482
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERRIEE BTG E 575
Utilisation of tax loss previously 3 A SE AT R FE R R TS 65 18
not recognised (274)
Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries REMREZEREREER
operating in other jurisdictions MEARNKEREENTE (113)
Overprovision in prior years B FEBEARE (188)
Income tax at concessionary rate REEBRFTENMEH (165)
Income tax expense for the year REESHAS 3,102
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10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B AR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 20253 A31 BIEFE

10. AFEEHEF

2025
2025 £
HK$’000
FHBxT

Profit for the year has been arrived at after
charging:

Auditor's remuneration

Cost of inventories recognised as expenses,
including write-down of inventories of
HK$3,632,000 (2024: HK$437,000)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Staff costs:
Directors’ emoluments (note 11)
Other staff costs:
— Salaries, allowances and other benefits
— Retirement benefits scheme
contributions (note)

ER T 5IH B REAF RS

ZEE I &
ERIERTMEERAR
(B IEMURTE & 3,632,000 78 7T
(20244 : 437,000787T))
ME - B REETE

EREEENE

BTRRA:
EEHE ()
HAh B TAA :
— e  EMREAMER
— RN ET B R (B )

Total staff costs

BB TR

2024
2024 4
HK$'000
FHT

1,800

12,406

45,220
3,526

7,485

51,940

1,802

53,742

61,227

TRAEEERER AR /2025 FFHR
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

180

Note: The Group has established the MPF Scheme for its Hong Kong

employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately in funds
which are under the control of independent trustees. The retirement
benefit scheme contributions recognised in profit or loss represent
contributions paid or payable by the Group to the scheme at 5%
of each of the employees’ monthly relevant income capped at
HK$30,000 (2024: HK$30,000) per month.

The eligible employees of the Company'’s subsidiaries in the
Macau, the PRC and Singapore are members of pension schemes
operated respective local governments. The subsidiary in Macau is
required to contribute MOP60 for every employee per month. The
subsidiary in the PRC is required to contribute a certain percentage
ranging from 0.2% to 14% of the relevant cost of the payroll of these
employees to the pension schemes to fund the benefits for both
years. The subsidiary in Singapore is required to contribute 16%
of the employee’s monthly gross salary. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
required contribution under the schemes.

The total costs charged to profit or loss for the year of HK$1,730,000
(2024: HK$1,838,000), comprised HK$54,000 and HK$1,676,000 (2024:
HK$36,000 and HK$1,802,000) in directors’ emoluments and other staff
costs respectively, and represented contributions paid or payable to
the schemes by the Group in respect of the current year. At the end of
the reporting period, there were no forfeited contributions available
to reduce future obligations.
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10. ZAFERF (%

BeE

$%§Ez%§%1%%;ﬁﬂﬁi a1l o 5T
BMEENBY EAAEENESEAS
FIFHE - NBEMERAR RS 5T 8 #5K
BARE B SR B P 30,00078 7T (2024 F -
30,0007 70) & LR A A B8 B % 5%t E
ST ET BRI -

ARABFERP © A B RTINS A B A R
NEBEREEASENBNERNERS
FTEIKE - RPIWMNBARIESARESR
1B B FR60RPITT o B AT A RIZE
MR A S EWEL Z S5 E B HEF SR
NF02% 2= 14% M FHEE T 2 LL AR A
AZMEFENRIREES - FINEH
wgﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁm%ﬁ
c REEBBRAREAENE—FT
%ﬁﬁ+ﬂ¢mﬁm#ﬁc

RERBSINER Z KA LB EE A 1,730,00078
7T (2024 % : 183800058 7T ) © B 1 5 5l
55400078 7T & 1,6760005 7T (20244 :
36,0007 7T} 1,802,000/ 7T) B EME &
Hih B TAA - H$%@?ﬁ$¢ﬁmﬁr¥u
EH B S E LR - RIREHIR - I
QU Y (R AT m&_wkxf& o



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &% 202543 A31 BIEFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 11. EE BETHAEREEMS

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the directors of the
Company are as follows:

ik
HK$'000
BT

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z 202543 A31 HILEE

Executive directors: WITES
Lau Pong Sing ZUFBK,
Chan Kit Mui, Lina BRR1E
Lau Tsz Fung (appointed on 2782 (R2024F4 818
1 April 2024) EZT)
Non-executive director: FEMITESE -
Nakazawa Tomokatsu HERR
Independent non-executive directors: B JFHITEE :
Siu Chak Yu RETF
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond g%
Lam Sau Fung (appointed on MER (R 202458 A28 H
28 August 2024) EZT)
Li Ping Chi (retired on 28 August 2024)  ZXffi5 (7 20248 A 28 B
RE)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%F 3831 HILEFE

ENRENARREFOMEFBNT

Other emoluments
Hiti &
Basic
salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and other scheme
benefits contributions
EXxFHE -
)= 3:1:9 54 BIREF
Hits @7l HE T3 et
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
BT FHIT THIT

Executive directors: HITES :
Lau Pong Sing 21765, = 3,155 18 3,173
Chan Kit Muj, Lina BR2iE - 3,102 18 3,120
Non-executive director: FHTES -
Nakazawa Tomokatsu PERT - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: B JFHITES :
Li Ping Chi FAE 265 = = 265
Siu Chak Yu BEF 265 - - 265
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond [BE:ES 662 = = 662
1,192 6,257 36 7,485
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

11.

182

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Mr. Lau Pong Sing is also the Chief Executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by
him as the Chief Executive.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly
for their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services
as directors of the Company. No emoluments were paid to the
non-executive directors for both years. The non-executive director
waived his emoluments in the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024. There was no other arrangement under which a director or
the Chief Executive of the Company waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration for both years.

The Group has been providing accommodation, which is leased
from a third party to Mr. Lau Tsz Fung (2024: Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina)
for use by his/her and his/her family members at no charge. The
relevant short term lease expense is HK$240,000 (2024: HK$160,000).

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group for
the year, three (2024: two) of them were directors of the Company,
whose emoluments are included in above. The emoluments of the
remaining two (2024: three) individuals were as follows:

11.

EX BRTRAEREEMS
(#)
BIAREENRIARRBITRAR - £
XA BEEMEREREARBITRAR
RERBOMS -

FMBTEEHES T EHERETEARAA
EAREEZBERUREEB - LBk
HWTEEWS EBHEARETARAIES
RMREAER - ZMEFERERIERTT
BEERAME - FERITEETHEEHZE 2025
FR24F3ANAUEFENME - AR
AEFTYARE=ITHRA BRZMEFE AL
ENEN R B NEEMF MO M HE -

AEE—BELERERE=FHEANESE -
LA B 788 % 4 (2024 4F - BB L +)
RERGKEFR - HESHEERZ R
240,000 78 7T (2024 £ 1 160,000787T) °

AEE AEBREERHFALTHR=F
(2024%F : ME) BARBES  HP&E
FFAEXA - B TME(2024F - =) A
THBEOT ¢

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHBT FHET

Basic salaries and allowance EARF & KoEB R HEMEF
and other benefits 3,290
Discretionary bonus BEIEAL 504
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 3R K@ FIET 2421 54
3,848
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B AR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B ZE 20253 A31 BIEF/E

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The number of the highest paid employees who are not directors of
the Company whose remuneration within the following band is as
follows:

11.

EX BRTRAEREEMS
()

MENF TIBEOFARAEERDH
EEHAWT :

Nil to HKS$ 1,000,000 =% 1,000,000 7T

HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000

1,000,001 7T 2 1,500,000 75 7T

2025 2024

2025 2024 F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A N

1

2

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the
Company or the five highest paid individuals (including directors
and employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office during both years.

DIVIDEND

Dividend recognised as distribution of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2025 represented final dividend for the year ended
31 March 2024 of HK0.60 cent per share, totally HK$5,184,000 (2024:
HK$5,616,000) and interim dividend for the reporting period ended
30 September 2024 of HK0.16 cent per share, totally HK$1,382,000
(2024: Nil) in aggregate.

Subsequent to the reporting period, a final dividend in respect of
the year ended 31 March 2025 of HK0.70 cent per ordinary share,
in an aggregate amount of HK$6,048,000, has been proposed
by the directors of the Company and is subject to approval by
the shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting
(2024: HKO0.60 cent per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount of
HK$5,184,000).

12.

AEEXMEFELEAARARESERT
EBEEBHFAL(BEEEERES) VS
1 A3 0 B 7K 5= 81 a8 A0 B2 s ) 2R D o B Bk A8

g

R E

MEBE205F3A3B L FECHERE
ARATDIREOKREEEREE2024F3 A
STAIEFEERKRM0EI - BFE R
5,184,000/8 7T AU R BAAR 2. (20244 : 5,616,000
BIT)  WREE 202459 A30 8 IFREH
MERARM168 1l - 4% A 1,382,000
JCRIRR HAAE B (2024 F « £E) ©

RFEHE AARESCEZIRER
20253 A31 AL FEIRMS REBAKR B
LA 0707l - 48%8 56,048,000 75 TT © Kk
BRPBREBFREREERRAEFAS
EBEE (2024 F - AR BAR 06078 - &
FE/55,184000787T) °
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (% 2025 %3 431 HIESFE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BRER
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to owners RATHEEABRGERERBRTIIERT
of the Company is based on the following data: FIBUERTE ¢

2025 2024
2025 & 2024 £
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&xT FET

Profit for the year attributable to owners ARG EERERBFIFARRA R
of the Company for the purpose of basic A NERAFERERF

earnings per share 10,364
‘000 '000
T & TH&
Number of shares f& & B
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose AR s+ E G IREAREFIH
of basic earnings per share T EAT AT B 864,000
Note: The calculations of the basic earnings per share for both years are Mizx : MEAEEERERNENIRAATES A
based on the profit attributable to owners of the Company using the SN RENDRETROEHTE -

number of shares in issue during the year.

No diluted earnings per share is presented for both years as there AR EEEE BT EER - SRR
were no potential ordinary shares in issue. ZMEFENSREERT) -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z 202543 A31 B ILFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plantand
machinery
RN
HK$'000
TET

CosT A
At 1 April 2023 R203E4A1R 520,344
Additions NE 27,997
Transfer from inventory BEREER 19
Disposals HeE (23,761)
Exchange realignment B3 A (816)
At31 March 2024 R20453A31R 523,960
Additions NE 28,853
Transfer from inventory BEEER 3,770
Disposals HeE (31,895)
Exchange realignment [ A% (130)
At31 March 2025 R025%E3A31A 524,558

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT 47 8 2 J8i (&

Office
equipment

BAERME
HK$'000
/BJL

14. Y¥ - WK% E

Furniture
and Leasehold
fixtures improvements

RAR HE

Motor
vehicles

BEHE VA RE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
:F 5T BJT ?«E‘,TE

468 6915 14622
244 = 1779
= = (831)

17,994

Tools Total

I8 @it
HKS000  HK$'000
TAT

1,998 548457
30 30,368

= 1%

= (2459)

= (820)

557,093

At 1 April 2023 R023F4A18 340,686 3302 441 6,294 8,668 1,945 361,336
Provided for the year FERR 4750 276 28 368 1718 80 45220
Impairment losses recognised in 2 M8 28 FERAHY

profit orloss REBE 54 = = = = = 54
Eliminated on disposal HERTH (17,994) - - - (831) - (18,825)
Exchange realignment R (99) 0] ) - - - (101)
At31 March 2024 R202453A31H 365,397
Provided for the year FRERE 40,955
Reversal of imparmentlosses B AMB AR

recognised inprofitorloss  AEEBEE (267)
Eliminated on disposal HERTH (27,549)
Exchange realignment s (152)
At31 March 2025 R205%3A31R 378,384
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At31 March 2025 R2025%3A318 146,174
At 31 March 2024 R2024%3A318 158,563 848 243 253 6,015 3 165,925
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

186

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum after taking
into account the residual values:

15% to 30%
20%

Plant and machinery
Others

Details of pledge of plant and equipment is set out in note 34.

The Group as lessor

The Group leases out plant and machinery under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of one month. None
of the leases includes variable lease payments. The plant and
machinery disclosed in the above table represents the machinery
leased out under operating leases.

Impairment assessment

The management of the Group assessed and concluded if there
was indication for impairment by reference to the utilisation and
income generated from the plant and machinery in recent years, and
impairment assessment are conducted on recoverable amounts of
the plant and equipment with impairment indicator. The recoverable
amount of the plant and equipment are estimated individually.

The determination of the recoverable amounts of the assets is based
on the higher of value in use and fair value less cost of disposal.
Value in use is based on the estimation on the future profitability
from leasing the assets, future utilisation and future lease rates; and
fair value less cost of disposal is based on the estimation on resale
values, with reference to the historical disposal values and cost of
disposal, or market transactions. The recoverable amount of plant
and equipment was determined based on at fair value less cost of
disposal categorised into level 2. Based on the fair value less cost
of disposal, a reversal of impairment losses of HK$267,000 (2024:
impairment losses of HK$54,000) has been recognised against the
carrying amount of plant and equipment.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s accumulated impairment losses of
plant and machinery was HK$5,950,000 (2024: HK$6,217,000).
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B ZE 20253 A31 BIEF/E

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. EAEEE
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Carrying amount AREE
— leased properties —HEWE 3416
Depreciation charge heEs
— leased properties —HEWE 3,526
Expense relating to short-term leases BENHEENRY
— in respect of rented premises — B@HERAEM 6,475
Total cash outflow for leases MERS R LR 10,346
Additions to right-of-use assets FREESENRE 230
For both years, the Group leases warehouses for its operations. The RZMEFE  AEEREEERESE -
leases are fixed lease payments. Lease contracts are entered into HEFTEREEHERE - HEAHN HIRE
for fixed term of two to three years (2024: two to three years). Lease EME=FHQ04F - ME=F)FIAL o
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different ME TR E R EERER - B PRIER
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing KA o B TE FH HA R 54 71 BT BEH HA R
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the BRRE - AEBEREGAONESR - WE
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the TR RBIBITE LM EAR -

contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for rented N 55 B TE HABEAE R R P M M AR AT SZ A ER AR
premises and machinery. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the portfolio B o R2025F &2024F3 A31H - BEA
of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to EdAHE FXHBENERAEER X EN
which the short-term lease expense disclosed above. WEEHEEEEL -

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the REBARSENHEEENERERIN
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. HEHZEIL M EERMRZL - HEEET
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. 1S FRVERERIEIR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

16. DEPOSIT PLACED FOR A LIFE INSURANCE POLICY

16. SRAERERFM

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&xT FHTT

Deposit placed for a life insurance policy SRIREF K

3,047

The Group entered into a life insurance policy (the “Policy”) with
an insurance company to insure a director of the Company. Under
the Policy, the beneficiary and policy holder is a subsidiary of the
Company and the total insured sum is US$1,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$7,757,000).

At inception of the Policy, the Group is required to make a single
upfront payment of US$332,000 (equivalent to HK$2,497,000) which
includes a fixed policy premium charge and a deposit. Monthly
policy expense and insurance charges will be incurred over the
insurance period with reference to the terms set out in the Policy.
The insurance company will pay the Group a guaranteed interest
rate of 4.2% for the first year and a variable return per annum
afterwards (with guaranteed minimum interest rate of 2%) during the
effective period of the Policy. The Group may request full surrender
of the Policy at any time and receive cash back based on the value
of the Policy at the date of withdrawal, which is determined by the
gross premium paid plus accumulated interest earned net of the
policy expense and insurance premium charge. If such withdrawal is
made between the first to eighteenth policy year, a pre-determined
specified surrender charge will be imposed on the Group.

The directors of the Company consider that the possibility of
terminating the Policy during the first eighteen years was low and
the expected life of the life insurance policy remains unchanged
since its initial recognition. The interest income of the deposit
placed, net of policy premium, expense and insurance charges are
recognised in profit or loss.
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17.

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
456 IS 2R [ R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILF[E

17. RA—REEeELENERS

Cost of investment in a joint venture

Share of post-acquisition reserves

Amount due from a joint venture
— non-current asset (Note a)

2025 2024

2025 F 2024 5

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#&xT FAT

—HaEREREKAE 2,500

W B BRI (2,500)
Bl —REE & ERIFKRIE

— ERBEE (MizEa) -

Less: share of post-acquisition losses that are  J8, : 515 U B 14 B i@ &

in excess of the cost of the investment AR E 18 -
The joint venture is accounted for using equity method in the AEMENEREARGE BB®@ME &
consolidated financial statements. As at 31 March 2025, the joint F2025F3A31H  GECEEHAEEL

venture is not material to the Group.

B2 488
BEATE -

(@)  The amount of HK$500,000 (2024: Nil) is unsecured and interest-free. @) 5% 2% A 500,00078 T (2024 4F « ) A E IR
BRES -
Aggregate information of the joint venture that is not material: SEPENIEBERELER
2025 2024
2025 F 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
The Group's share of profit (loss) and total AEE FEEF (E5E) &
comprehensive income (expense) (note) A (Fx) 2% (Fis) (2,920)
Note: According to the joint venture agreement, when the loss exceeds st REAE RS EFEBRBAGLMESEDR
their interests in the joint venture, all joint venture partners are XN MEBGERHEHY AN KR
required to share the loss. For the year ended 31 March 2024, the loss Ko HE204F3IANBILEEE  BEA
exceeding the interest in the joint venture of HK$420,000 had been R AEIE 4200008 T E TR
recognised with a corresponding adjustment to the amount due to I ¥ PR — & & 1 5 A FRIB 1 AR FE
a joint venture and was reclassified to the interest in a joint venture B BREZE2025543A31 BIEFESEH

during the year ended 31 March 2025.

DEER—MEELENES -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 8 & 202543 A 31 B L FE

18.

19.

190

INVENTORIES 18. #&
Equipment =54
Spare parts T4

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

PREPAYMENTS

DEPOSITS AND 19.

B5 R EBERRE -

IR

Lease receivables from:
— outsiders
— arelated company
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses

FER T IIA LR EHE IR

—NRAL
— — B AR
" REMERERRE

Trade receivables from contracts with
customers
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses

REEFPAMMNE SRR

W REMEE R R R

Rental deposits paid BEfNHEeEe
Other deposits and prepayments Eize RIS HRIE
Analysed as: DR
Current mE
Non-current — prepayments and JERE) — BB
deposits paid for acquisition of WA 2 2R HY

property, plant and equipment
Non-current — rental deposits

ENBEMRERES
FnE —HeRe

AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2025

2025
2025 &
HK$’000
FHBxT

8,990
12,590

21,580

2025
2025 F
HK$°000

THET

55,545
212

(17,682)

38,075

2024
2024 £
HK$'000
FET

11,292
11,161

22453

REREMN

2024
2024 £
HK$'000
FET

50,891
212
(15,036)

36,067
2,605
(286)
2,319

650
5976

45,012

43,273

1,089

650

45,012



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINAN (‘l ,»\L STATEMENTS

WJ‘

& BB = B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B ZE 20253 A31 BIEF/E

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

As at 1 April 2023, trade receivables from contracts with customers
amounted to HK$3,018,000.

The following is an aged analysis of lease receivables and trade
receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

19.

ESZRHEMEWKIE - RERFEF
FIE (48)

R2023F4 818 BEFENEENESE
W 3R IE 53,018,000 78 7T °

UTARREHRIZEZAH25 R
MEFRIBALE ZRKFIA(EHREREERE
B B RRER DA

2025 2024

2025 & 2024

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Within 30 days 30K 16,197
31 to 60 days 31HZE60H 10,035
61 to 90 days 61 HZE90H 2,453
91 to 180 days 91 HZE180H 4,885
Over 180 days HB3E 180 H 4816
38,386

During both years, the normal credit term of the lease receivables is
0 to 90 days upon invoice issued and the normal credit term of the
trade receivables is 0 to 90 days upon invoice issued.

As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group's lease receivables and
trade receivables balances are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$23,724,000 (2024: HK$25,301,000) which were past
due at the end of the reporting period. Out of the past due balances
as at 31 March 2025, HK$12,420,000 (2024: HK$7,983,000) has been
past due 90 days or more and are not considered as in default as
debtors normally will settle the outstanding balances after 90 days
overdue with reference to the debtors settlement pattern. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are
set out in note 31.

REZmEFE  REEEFEN—REE
HRELBERENOENE - MEHEIK
RIERN —REEHABLERRMOE0H -

MR2025F3A31H ASEERBEER
BRESEWFBEAPEREDELER
23,724,000 7% 7T (2024 £F : 25,301,00078 7T ) B
FEUBRFR - B RE B RE 8 A - 72025
FIAN AR EEAAHRT - 124200005
70 (2024 FF : 7,983,000 7T ) B #1 H1 90 A 3k

A EBIEEREN  HEKER—RE
R0 A& 2 ERURR N B

REBER NEBUWARRZEERTTE
Erﬂﬁﬁuu°

BoHMEMEKE
MFEE31 ©

KR HY R (E R A R B R
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(Z 202543 31 HILFE

20. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT/CASH AND CASH 20.

21.

192

EQUIVALENTS
At 31 March 2025, bank balances and deposits carry interest of

0.01%-4.40% per annum (2024: 0.01%-5.30% per annum).

At 31 March 2025, pledged bank deposit carry interest at market
rates of 0.01% per annum (2024: 0.01% per annum).

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances and pledged
bank deposit are set out in note 31.

EEBARITER ReRBESEE
)

R2025F3 8318 @ RITEBRFRIRF
F| 2R 0.019%-4.40% (20249 = £ F| R 001%-
530%) 5T & °

R2025F3 A31 8 BEBRITEFEZRIZT

BEFIE001% (20244 : FEFE001%) 5
SH

IRITHE AR R B IRIRTTIF AR E R
B FEST ©

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 21. EZREMENRERETER
CHARGES
2025 2024
2025 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&xT T
Trade payables (Note a) B SN HIE (fEEa) 5452
Payables for acquisition of property, UGB 2E ~ M K R IE Y
plant and equipment (Note a) FERTFRIE (FdEE ) 16,486
Accrued expenses (Note b) FERTRZ (FiTED) 12,486
Other payables (Note c) HAb R 5 (3E o) 2,891
37,315
Notes: BiE -

(a) As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, trade payables and payables for
acquisition of property, plant and equipment are under normal credit
term granted by suppliers. The credit period is ranging from 0 to 540
days (2024: 0 to 540 days).

(b) As at 31 March 2025, included in accrued expenses are mainly accrued

staff costs of HK$9,774,000 and provision of LSP of HK$ 1,956,000 (2024
HKS$7,009,000 and HK$1,695,000).

(©) As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, included in other payables are mainly
professional fee payable, insurance payable and other utility payable.

AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2025

@  M2025F K% 2024%3A31 8 BHERNK
B R UREE YIS - HEAR S SR B FE S ZRIE T
REEEER TN —REESR - EEHN
TF0ZE540 H (20244 : 0F540H)

() M20255F3A31H BRI EEBIE
FEET B TR 7K 9,774,000 7 7T & & IR & #4485
1,956,000 7T (2024 4 : 7,009,00078 7T &
1,695,000 77T ) ©

© 2025 F % 2024F3 A31 8 - EMERK
BXrERERENEXER  EHRBRHE
o AR B o



21.

22.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
45 A S R Mt

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B ZE 20253 A31 BIEF/E

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 2. EZRHMENRERETER
CHARGES (Continued) (%8)
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables, presented based NTARBREAREEZARLINES
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: FERIBRBRER D AT ¢
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&xT FET
Within 30 days 30 A 2,616
31 to 60 days 31HZE60H 841
61 to 90 days 61HE9H 414
91 to 180 days 91 HZE180H 197
Over 180 days #8180 H 1,384
5452
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. EHEE
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&xT FET
Relating to sales of machinery and parts ER A I T 1 5 S AR S 952

As at 1 April 2023, contract liabilities amounted to HK$1,154,000.

R2023F4 418 AHEEAE1,1540007%8

T o
The Group normally receives 10% to 40% of the contract value AEBBEREPEIEEHERRAERK
as deposits from customers when it signs that sale and purchase BMAHNEBEMINE4INTEAZE - B
agreement. The deposits will be recognised as revenue when the & N = B EUS A S T4 89 58 4 e B v
customer obtains control of the machinery and parts. REWES -

TEAREERER DA /2025 FF3K
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(Z 202543 31 HILFE

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 22. EHEE®E)
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised TRERCERNERTZLEEESL
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates to BEMRABRZLVHEFIEBEETT E’J E HEE
performance obligation that were satisfied in prior periods. 1B o

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHET

Balance at the beginning of the year F) e 1,154
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of S ARER W =S

recognising revenue during the year that (REFTFAGLHERE)

were included in the contract liabilities at BYREHEBERD

the beginning of the year (1,154)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of FE U ER AR N D EHE R

receiving deposits in respect of sales of RS ERE DB EEN

machinery and parts 952
Balance at the end of the year FREpEE 952
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &% 202543 A31 BIEFE

23. BORROWINGS 23. f&®
2025 2024
2025 F 20246
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
Carrying amounts of borrowings that do R B B R IRE KR FRIEK
not contain a repayment on demand BN TG BEE R 1B 5K
clause and repayable: KIERTEE :
Within one year —FA 1,700
More than one year but not exceeding ZR—F  BTRERWE
two years 896
More than two years but not exceeding ZIME - BAZRASE
five years 172
2,768
Carrying amounts of borrowings that contain £ & 78 & B 5K i2 TR ISR E K
a repayment on demand clause (shown (RRBAEETZ5)) 8
under current liabilities) and the maturity BREEREZRER GRS TEE
analysis based on the scheduled repayment 33X B EiFTEZIER B D AT A ¢
dates set out in the loan agreements are:
Within one year —FK 17,444 11,777
More than one year but not exceeding SN —F - BRZRME
two years 16,587 11,596
More than two years but not exceeding ZRME - BTAERAFE
five years 4,737 13,012
38,768 36,385
41,860 39,153
Less: Amounts due within 12 months B RREBBEET 258
shown under current liabilities 1218 A B ER I8 (40,498) (38,085)
Non-current liabilities FERBBE 1,362 1,068
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(Z 202543 31 HILFE

23. BORROWINGS (Continued) 23. fER(&)
At 31 March 2025, included in Group's borrowings of HK$41,860,000 R2025F3A31H - AEEMERE BE
(2024: HK$38,407,000) are fixed-rate borrowings carrying flat interest 41,860,000 77T (2024 £F © 38,407,000 77T ) HY
ranging from 1.50% to 2.45% (2024: ranging from 1.50% to 2.45%) & TE F R AEFK - 3T 1.50% = 2.45% (2024
per annum. No variable-rate borrowing (2024: HK$746,000) carries F N T1.50% F 245%) FF LG L o BHE
interest at 3.2% per annum over one-month Hong Kong interbank 2 BB TR (2024 F : 746,000 70 ) I F B &
offered rate ("HIBOR"). 2% M—EABBRITRAEFREXR(ES

MITEEFER]E -

The secured borrowings of HK$41,860,000 (2024: HK$38,407,000) A B’ | & 3418600007 Jr(2024%F ¢
were secured by property, plant and equipment, deposit placed for 38,407,00078 7T, ) LAMY FE34 TR BR O W 25 -
a life insurance policy and pledged bank deposit as disclosed in note WA 515 - SRR EFRIARE EIFR
34, TR o

24. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 24. BEEBIEAE

2025 2024
2025 & 2024 £
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&xT FET

Deferred tax liabilities FEERIAEE 20,645
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24. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised
by the Group and movements thereon during both years:

Accelerated
tax

depreciation

24, EEHEERE (H)

Tax
losses

MEREAE  BUEEH
HK$'000 HK$'000
F7T FA7T

At 1 April 2023 R2023F4H1H 25,156
(Credit) charge to profit ~ (§f AB2%)

or loss BiEmR (2392)
At 31 March 2024 202453 A31R 22,764
Credit to profit or loss FABRR (480)

At 31 March 2025 R2025%F3 A31H 22,284

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of HKS24,468,000 (2024: HK$24,886,000) available for offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of HK$16,533,000 (2024: HK$7,376,000) of such losses. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
HK$7,935,000 (2024: HK$17,510,000) due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses
of HK$8,684,000 (2024: HK$6,476,000) that will expire by 5 years
from the date of originating. Other tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

(1,454)

237

(1,217)
(1,511)

(2,728)

AT RAEERMEFEAERNEEE

ECL
provision Total

RHEE
BERE Hity @t
HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THT THT FHET

(1,082) 54 22,674

260 (134) (2029

20,645
(2,100)

18,545

RBERR AEEBEARHHHRIBEIE
24,468,000 TT (2024 4F : 24,886,000 T )
AR TOER Y EHZSEEF
16,533,000 7% 7T (2024 4F : 7,376,0007% T ) T
RIEEFLIEE B o B H S A T8 A K 2% F)
SRR+ WAL EE R ER T 797,935,000 78 7T (2024
F 11751000078 0 ) MRBELEHIBEEE -
8,684,000 JT. (2024 %F : 6,476,000 JT ) HY
EIEREEAERNHIESESR  RER
Z BB SFNEIHR o H 5 TE & 18 7] £ R A7
e o
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25. AMOUNT DUE FROM (TO) A JOINT VENTURE
The amount due from a joint venture is arising from the sales of
machinery by the Group. The amount is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on 30-day after the acknowledges of the receipt of the
machinery by the end customer of the joint venture. Based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period, the ageing of the
amount due from a joint venture is within 30 days.

Details of impairment assessment of amount due from a joint
venture is set out in note 31.

The amount due to a joint venture is non-trade, unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

26. LEASE LIABILITIES

25. W (FEfY) —EEE BRI

el —FAEEENFATI AR EENE
WMIHEMEL - ZAREER 28R
ARBELFENERE . ERWE MR
30AREE - NREHRZERBHHE
R —ME L EERNFIAERMRE B30HA °

W —HAEEENFRMNBEGEFB

BAAKIEE3 ©

RN—FHAEEENKABIESHIEE
BER  RERARELRER -

26. HEEE

2025 2024
2025 & 2024 £
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&xT FET

ENEERE :

Lease liabilities payable:

Within one year —FR 3,120
More than one year but not ZR—F - BTZHRME
exceeding two years 399
More than two years but not LIME - BTEZRAF
exceeding five years -
3,519
Less: Amount due for settlement within -~ & : 1218 B A EI BRI E 8k 1A
12 months shown under current (RREBBETHIR)
liabilities (3,120)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 A& 3 B4 E B 518
12 months shown under (RIERBEFETIIR)
non-current liabilities 399

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease
liabilities was 4.21% (2024: 4.01%).
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ISSUED CAPITAL 27. EETRAK
Number of Share
shares capital
BHEE [} &S
HK$'000
FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each SARE{E 0.001 A ITH E @R
Authorised: SERE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and M2023F4H1H -
31 March 2025 20243 A31H
} 202593 A31H 10,000,000,000 10,000
Issued: B 817 :
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and R2023F4H18
31 March 2025 20243 H31H
} 202543 A31H 864,000,000 864

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group has adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution in writing passed by all
the shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting on 17 March
2016. The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that
eligible participants had made or may make to the Group.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the board of directors (“the Board")
may at its discretion grant options to eligible participants, including:
(i) any director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the Group or a
company in which the Group holds an interest or a subsidiary of such
company (“Affiliate”); or (i) the trustee of any trust the beneficiary
of which or any discretionary trust the discretionary objects of which
include any director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the Group or
an Affiliate; or (i) a company beneficially owned by any director,
employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent,
partner, adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.

28.

DR AERNNAR
AEBBRBEMBRENR2016F3H17H
MR ERIAS FRBEMRZEREMNE
IRiEETE ([ERAESTE]) - BREEA
B HEEET & RS kAt Bl 5 AT B
HELH e eHAEEELEEMNEGE
BBEE o

REBERESS EFe((EEg)AUH
BRRERSRERLBRE 2% 0
AEBEMES BB HHA HEA
T BF #ER K2 ABAXEH
BESASERN L Fopr 30 PNCTE T 3N
AINMMEB AR (TBEAL]) S ARE
BEMES B8 #H#A FEAL
B2E - HER - RIB - &% A SRR R
BB AT AR m AN EAEERIA
PR REERH AN 2EETEN
XA HAKREEMES B8 - &
AABEAL FFP - #fER KE-
BEA BERIACHIBBALTERE
BHRE -

DEBHEERER DA /2025FFH 199



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED

FI\ ANCIAL STATEMENTS
*vj? jﬂ’%i&%ﬁﬁnf

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

200

The exercise price for any share under the Share Option Scheme shall
be a price determined by the Board and notified to each grantee
and shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
Company's share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option, which must be
a business day, (ii) an amount equivalent to the average closing
price of the Company’s share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the relevant option and (iii) the nominal value
of the Company'’s share on the date of grant. The exercise price shall
also be subject to certain adjustments.

Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Share Option Scheme,
an option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme and the terms of grant thereof at any time
during the applicable option period, which is not more than ten
years from the date of grant of option.

Under the Share Option Scheme, there is no general requirement
on the minimum period for which an option must be held or the
performance targets which must be achieved before an option can
be exercised under the terms of the Share Option Scheme. However,
at the time of granting any option, the Board may, on a case by
case basis, make such grant subject to such conditions, restrictions
or limitations including (without limitation) those in relation to the
minimum period of the options to be held and/or the performance
targets to be achieved as the Board may determine in its absolute
discretion.

From the date of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up

to 31 March 2025, no share option has been granted or agreed to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme.
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29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

29. AQBHMBEMRRRRARQBFE

2025
2025 F
HK$°000

THET

138,135
21,071
26,959

186,165

158
33,284
6,865
29,234

69,541

Non-current Assets FREEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHTE A AR E
Loans to a subsidiary EXT—HEHBA R
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUSHI B A R 5IE
Current Assets REBEE
Prepayments TEfFRIE

Amounts due from subsidiaries i S NGIEOE
Loans to a subsidiary BERT—HMHEB AR
Cash and cash equivalents RERIFCEEY
Current Liability REBAE

Other payables and accrued charges

H Aty JE A 5008 S FEF T B

2,050

67,491

253,656

864
252,792

Net Current Assets REBEEFE
Net Assets EEFE
Capital and Reserves EXR#HE
Issued capital BEITIRA
Reserves e

Total Equity ks

253,656

2024
2024 £
HK$'000
FET

138,135
6,534
21,165

165,834

206
29,534
27937
32,023

89,700

1,400

88,300

254,134

864
253,270

254,134
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(Z 202543 31 HILFE

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

202

(Continued)

The followings are the movements of the Company’s reserves for

29. ARAIMBRRERRARDAREE

(43
(%8)

TR MEFEARRNFEEES :

both years:
Share Retained
premium profits Total
IR 6% 18 R T e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FABT FAT FHET
At 1 April 2023 20234 A1 H 232,345 21,445 253,790
Profit and total comprehensive AN [E i | &
income for the year PHEW R = 5,096 5,096
Dividend [E5) = (5616) (5616)
At 31 March 2024 M 2024F3A31 R 232,345 20,925 253,270
Profit and total comprehensive AN JE i F| &
income for the year FHEWELTE - 6,088 6,088
Dividend 5] = (6,566) (6,566)
At 31 March 2025 M 20253 A31H 232,345 20,447 252,792
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30.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B AR M RE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(Z 202543 A31 HIEFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
throughout the year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
include borrowings, lease liabilities net of cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
management uses short-term funding to finance its daily operation
to minimise finance costs. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends and new share issues or repayment of
existing debt.

30.

EXERER
AEBEREARNERNAERNE
BARERE  ABEAE(CESREE
8 RREFMBAEE - FR - KK
e S RS — B TR o

AEENEARBEEERFR BT
AR HERRGIRRAS MRSEFEY)
UARARBHEEAREED (BREEITR
AR ) °

ARBEETFHRATERREE - ERILLR
A —& D EEEEEARAREEE
EXEANRR EEEEREHPES R
NEAEZE UKAREMEERENK
Ko RBEFEER  AKERBEBIIK
BRBETHBRNIEERGEE FEHEE
REARE o
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % 20253 A31 HILFE

31.

204

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

31.

TRITH
a. TRMITAER

2025 2024
2025 & 2024 5
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THET FHET
Financial assets EREE
Amortised cost BIER AR 138,609
Financial liabilities cReE
Amortised cost - 3i-[p%N 64,402

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The major financial instruments of the Group include trade
and other receivables, lease receivables, rental deposits,
amount due from a joint venture, pledged bank deposit, cash
and cash equivalents, trade and other payables, amount due
to a joint venture, borrowings and lease liabilities. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Certain transactions of the Group are denominated in
currencies which are different from the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities and therefore the Group is
exposed to foreign currency risk. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure if
necessary.

AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2025
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINAN( ‘l ,\L STATEMENTS

»‘/]?

& BB = B 5

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &(Z 202543 31 HIEFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities of the respective
group entities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31. @I E %)

b.

Assets

BE

2025
2025 &

HK$'000

FET

TREMEERBRRBEK(E

mEEE (E)

B (E)
BEEEBERNREPRAINETHER
EREERERABEREENT

Liabilities

&&

2024 2025 2024
2024 4 2025 & 2024 £
IOl HKS000 HK$'000
FET TR FET

Japanese Yen (“JPY") HE(TBE]D 9,295 5,598
United States dollars (“US$”) ESMAE D) 3,457 2972
Euro ("EUR") BT ([&otl) 2,136 138
Singapore dollars (“SGS$") #hnsg T (TE g T l) 5,968 1,478
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT

The following table details the sensitivity of the Group to TRFAVNAEBH S EBEEINE S

a 5% increase and decrease in foreign currencies against
the relevant functional currencies of the respective group
entities. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive
number below indicates an increase in post-tax profit where
the relevant currencies strengthen 5% against relevant
functional currencies of the respective group entities. For a
5% weakening of the relevant currencies against the relevant
functional currencies of the respective group entities, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit.

BT RE T TE R EF K T B&E 5% A
BREE - SHBABRAETEEEE A
BREINER I RFATANSBELL
K RERE IR EHE KA pE BB AT
5 FUREDITEBERIRE RN
KEBINETENEBIER - WAE
BB 500 1ETE N A o T XA IERK
ETEHAESH S EEERENEREY
RE S B0 I = _E Tt 5% MY i 1 0 1) 35
R MEREBLSSEEENER

WEEEEHE R T 5%  SHRIEK
BEMBRASFERARNTZE -
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31.

206

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

31.

JPY against HK$ HEX BT
EUR against HKS BRT A AT
SGS against HKS N T AT

TR T A )

THREREEREREE@E

i EkE ()
B (8)
GRE DT (&)

2025 2024
2025 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
154

83

187

For the monetary assets and liabilities denominated in USS,
since HKS is currently pegged to USS, the management
considers that the exchange rate fluctuation is not significant.
Accordingly, no foreign currency sensitivity analysis is
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of the USS.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to pledged bank deposit, fixed-rate borrowings and lease
liabilities. The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances (see note
20 for details) and variable-rate bank borrowings (see note
23 for details). The Group cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank
balances and HIBOR arising from the Group's Hong Kong
dollar denominated borrowings. The management will take
appropriate measures to manage interest rate exposure
if interest rate fluctuates significantly. The management
considers the fair value interest rate risk to the Group is
insignificant.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate hedging
contracts or any other interest rate related derivative financial
instruments. However, management monitors the Group'’s
related interest rate exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure when the need
arises.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #(Z 202543 A31 HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances and bank
borrowings. The Group manages its interest rate exposures
by assessing the potential impact arising from any interest
rate movements based on interest rate level and outlook.
The management will review the interest rates and ensure
they are within reasonable range. The directors of the
Company consider that the exposure of cash flow interest
rate risks arising from bank balances and bank borrowings are
insignificant.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group's credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables, lease
receivables, amount due from a joint venture, rental deposits,
pledged bank deposit and bank balances. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial assets.

31. €@ T A ®)

b.

THEREEREREEE)

mEEE (E)

FEE g ()

BUREDT
AEERERENERABREIERT
RIRTTEER R IRTTIE RV R B -
REBRBREERNEKFHATR
L F R BB AT S R BB IR
ERENEEAR - BEEER SR
Ko UHRREESHEEN - A7
EER/BBITERMRITERESE
MR RENRRBRMTRE

FERBRBERE
ERERBREAEENRF T REER
TEANER KMBRAEEARR
MBEENER - AEENERERR
AEETEHNE S MEMEREOR
EWRRESE - Bl —RAZEREN
R ke  BEMRTERK
RITHEER - ARERB A EMERR
HEMBEARBEEBESRHEEN
SEER -
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31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers and lease
receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group uses an internal credit grading system
to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits and grading attributed
to customers are reviewed each year. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management
of the Group estimates the credit-impaired amount of lifetime
ECL of lease receivables and trade receivables based on
individual assessment whereas the remaining balance are
assessed by grouping of various debtors that have similar
risk exposure, after considering internal grouping of lease
receivables and trade receivables with reference to ageing,
repayment history and/or past due status. Estimated losses
are based on historical observed default and are adjusted
for forward-looking information, such as the external credit
agency's expectation on the macro-economic condition, that
is reasonable and supportable and available without undue
costs or effort. In view of the decrease in default rate, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

Amount due from a joint venture

The directors of the Company continuously monitor the credit
quality and financial positions of the counterparties and the
level of exposure to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover the debts. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the directors
of the Company reviews the historical settlement records of
the amount due from a joint venture, and thus assessed the
ECL allowance for theses receivables measured under lifetime
ECL method to be insignificant.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Rental deposits and other receivables

For rental deposits and other receivables, the directors
of the Company make periodic individual assessment on
the recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The directors of the Company
believe that there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m ECL. As at 31 March 2025
and 2024, the Group assessed the ECL for other receivables
and rental deposits were insignificant and thus no loss
allowance was recognised.

Pledged bank deposit and bank balances

The credit risk on liquid funds are limited because the
counterparties are banks and an insurance company with
high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL for pledged bank
deposit and bank balances by reference to information
relating to probability of default and loss given default of the
respective credit rating grades published by external credit
rating agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL
on pledged bank deposit and bank balances are considered to
be insignificant.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on liquid funds
which are deposited with several banks with high credit
ratings.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in Hong Kong, which accounted for 92%
(2024: 87%) of the lease receivables and trade receivables as at
31 March 2025.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 38% (2024:
11%) and 52% (2024: 34%) of the lease receivables and trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and
the five largest customers respectively within the industry of
the property and infrastructure construction.

31. €T A %E)

b.

THEREEREREEE)

EEREKRETS(E)

Tz tee KA M EWKIE
RESEeRAMERKREmS -
RABIEERELEHDE - AL
B AENTEMEEERREGEE
B A RE (4 & B ETT E BB RIFE S o R
NEESHEBEERXERARE@AE
BEHEERBIEBEIL N - MAE
BAFHIRE2EAEBREESEZ
B ° 12025 F 20243 318 -
NEB G EMEKRENBREER
B8 mASEeTTEKX - AtR
TR B IR B -

ERIFRITRAR IR THE#R
nBESHEERRER - REEY
F I EBREEREIEREEBR
BIEEFENRITRIRR AR - A&
E2EZHBEOBERINHEERR
BEZRANEREETRERNED
BRRWER - UFHEEERRTE
RRBITHEBONREARBEES
18- RBFHBEEE - D \WRRTE
RRRITHESON 12EAEREES
BHORRRLTEX -

AEBEFRRETRERENRRITH
RBESHAEESTER

AEEEBBUEESNEERR
FEEFREBRS 202538318
FEUR A ERIE & B 5 FE WK IE A 92%
(2024 % : 87%) °

AEBOEERKRET RESERK
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31.

210

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Pledged bank deposit and bank balances (Continued)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises

the following categories:

31.

EMITE )
b. “REAERE

BEERBEE)

FERBRRRERE(E)
ERAFFRITIFARRTHE (B)

AEBERABEERBRFRETHRT
BBIEA TR

I

Internal Trade receivables/ Other
credit grading Description lease receivables financial assets
g5 EKRE

REEEFR RE FE i EROR HitemEE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts over 1 not credit-impaired
year

vENE HARAORERE BNBE—FREEME 2HRBEEFE— NEAAEHEEESE
Hiskia WEREERE

Watchlist Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL — not credit-
usually settle in full within 2 years not credit-impaired impaired

KR BEBAREREHBREN  EBERME i%ﬁ%ﬁﬂgﬁ_ FHRBEEEE —
W%gmﬁ WEEERE WEEERE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL — credit-
impaired credit-impaired impaired

BB BRBENEECEERE FHRHEEFE — 2HRBREEEE—

FERE EERIE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off  Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

i 35 AREBRAESARRBENBRE A  SEEHH SR M

SEERR
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. E@MIAE®)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. 2RMEMBTEBEERBEK(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERRRFEEFME(E)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group's TRFMBEASETENAEESH
financial assets under the Group's assessment, which are BEEERBAE (ZEEEEE
subject to ECL assessment: FHEARIR)

External Internal
credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount

HBEEFR APEETR NEARZHRMEEER REAE

HK$'000  HK$'000
TEx  TER

Financial assets at amortised cost

RB#ERATIRNEREE
Trade receivables — sales of
machinery and parts (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)
BHRWHIE — B R THHE i (Krat) 2HRMEEERE LREERE)
Loss Credit-impaired
B8 RERE
Lease receivables (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 43,819
ERBEHIR / (i) 2HRHEEER (YEEERE)
Loss Credit-impaired 11,938
B8 FERE
Amount due from a joint venture N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)
R —F &S hENFE TEA 1EE R 2HRHEEER (YEEERE)
Pledged bank deposit Aa3 N/A 12m ECL
EEARITER Aa3 ~EA 128 RSBEEER
Rental deposits N/A Low risk 12m ECL
Heke TER &R 128 BRABEEER
Bank balances Ba2orabove  N/A 12m ECL 108,281 108,281
RITHER Ba2 M L TEA REARAEEER
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. TR
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. 2REAKREEBEERBEEEE)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERERRENE(E)
External Internal
2024 Notes  credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
20045 M= SMIEETR ANEETR NEARZHRECEERR RE®E
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Financial assets at amortised cost
RBHERATIRNEREE
Trade receivables — sales of
machinery and parts 19  NA (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 2515
BHRKHIE — B R THHE NER (P 2 HREBEEER
(TEEERE)
Loss Credit-impaired 0 2,605
BB EERE
Lease receivables 19 N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 39,269
FE e E500R NER () 2 HRBEEER
(TEEERE)
Loss Credit-impaired 11834 51,103
BB FERE
Amount due from a joint venture 25 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 5552 5552
fE—F A**/JE%E’JTAIE NER iVEN L HRBEEER
(TREERE)
Rental deposits 19  NA Low risk 12m ECL 650 650
ik asa NER iVENA REARSREEER
Pledged bank deposit 20 Aa3 N/A 12m ECL 360 360
EERRTER Aa3 TER 2EAEREEER
Bank balances 20 Ba2 or above N/A 12m ECL 93,59 93,59
RITAEER Ba2 b b NEM REARBEERR
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Note: For lease receivables and trade receivables, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors that are assessed
individually, the Group determines the ECL on these items by
grouping these items by similar risk exposure, after considering
repayment history, and/or past due status. There are two
internal grouping named as Class A and Class B respectively.
The receivables in Class A are customers usually settles within
one year after due date and Class B are customers usually repay
one year after due date.

The following table provides information about the exposure
to credit risk for lease receivables and trade receivables which
are assessed based on the collective assessment as at 31
March 2025 by lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Debtors with
gross carrying HK$12,069,000 (2024: HK$11,924,000) as at 31
March 2025 were assessed individually by lifetime ECL (credit-
impaired).

Gross carrying amount for balances

SRTE@®
b. LREMETEEEREEGAE)

FERBRKBERE(E)

YA - SRMEE TR R B 5 B IRT
5 AKBCRAEBMBHEE
AFIRATHEIT AU ERR
HIEHE BRI E R - R (E
AFFHEMEBA  AREEBES
R R SO - E A
BRORBRBROETOHE - UEE
BRABMRMEEER - BME
AR 40 BT S ASE R Ko BRERY
AR P IR IR B F D 8
it —FR#E - MBEJITFAE
FEIHA—FRER -

TREHEFEERKEERERE S E
WHIENEERBRHBONES - B
= BEER 20253 A31 B2 HTEH
FEBEE(LEGERE)EITERE
FFfE - 20253 A31 8 @ BREAE
712,069,000 78 70 (2024 F : 11,924,000
VBT A FE U BR SO (E Bl 2 BRTE HA(E
BEE(EERE) TS -

EREE AR ETAR(E

Trade

Internal grouping

Average
loss rate

PR RE

receivables
from sales of
machinery
and parts
R E R
SHEEN
EEIJELBLTA
HK$'000
FET

Lease
receivables

FE WK 38 B 7R IR
HK$'000
TR

Total

nvea n—l-
HK$'000
TAET

37,455 38,259
6,364 6,555
43,819 44,814
2024
2024 &
Class A 6% 2,515 35,993 38,508
AER
Class B 29% - 3,276 3,276
BAE R
2,515 39,269 41,784
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. EMIAEW@®
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. £HEMREEBRBERBEE)

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERERRENE(E)
Gross carrying amount for balances (Continued) FREERYARE 4218 (48)
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical B EEEREBAERINENE
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors REWER R B TERT S BAh 5T - AR
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is MEMNEBZ BRSNS AR EGH
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is AIEMEREITHAE - HHEBRAEE
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant B E E Bt AT - DARRIR B B4 TE B
information about specific debtors is updated. BRRHAEREE R B B -
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRETHERHEERERE S EK
that has been recognised for lease receivables and trade HIBRIRE( N ERN 2 ETEAE
receivables under the simplified approach. BEBZ -

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
ZHITE
FEER >HEH

(AJ|EE FEEBR
wWE) (FERE) #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TAT

At 1 April 2023 R2023F4A1H 5,357 11,642 16,999
Transfer to credit-impaired BERSEZEREE (267) 267 -
Impairment losses recognised B R E R e 923 502 1,425
Impairment losses reversed BEEREEE (5413) (785) (6,198)
New financial assets originated ¥ & @& 2,798 298 3,096
At31 March 2024 720243 A31H

Transfer to credit-impaired EREEERE

Impairment losses recognised BHERREBE

Impairment losses reversed B EDRERE

New financial assets originated g mEE

At 31 March 2025 20253 A31H
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STATEMENTS

& BB = B 5

March 2025 & ZE 202543 A31 BILEE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) @I A
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. 2RMEMBTEBEERBEK(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERRRFEEFME(E)
Gross carrying amount for balances (Continued) FREER AR E 4218 (48)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables and lease

B 5 AR N e W & SRR TR 1

receivables are mainly due to: HEEBHEZEHRR :
Increase (decrease)
in lifetime ECL
ZHFEHEEEEE M ORL)
Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired
W EEERE FERE
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT THT
2025 2025 F
Trade debtors aged within 1 year with  EFEWHERERE 5 EWGKTE
a gross amount of HK$42,350,000 TR 15 4818 42,350,000 B TTHY

recognised allowance for lease and
trade receivables

Trade debtors aged over 1 year but not
credit-impaired with a gross carrying
amount of HK$1,934,000 recognised
allowance for lease and trade
receivables

Trade debtors transferred to credit-
impaired with a gross carrying
amount of HK$557,000

Trade debtors assessed as credit-
impaired with a gross carrying amount
of HK$557,000 recognised allowance
for lease and trade receivables

Settlement in full of trade debtors with
a gross carrying amount of
HK$34,292,000

Rk R —FANE 5 EYERK

B i WA B 5R0R I 5 R WGR

ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%@%ﬁ,%mw%m
MR BE—FELECERE

0 E 5 YRR

#45 2 BR T 488 557,000 78 T HY
FEREE S EKRIRR

EFEREE

EEREE S RYERR

TEBN 4L BR T 42 (E 34,292,000 S TTHY

B 2 AR

= E N E 5 EWFOE
MR IR T 428 557,000 7 TTHY

(2,452)
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31.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

& BB = B 5

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Gross carrying amount for balances (Continued)

31. @I E %)

b. £HEMREEBRBERBEE)

FERBRRRERE(E)
R AR EIAR(E (%)

Increase (decrease)
in lifetime ECL
ZHEEEEEBEE MR L)

Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired
W EEERE EERE
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET

2024 2024 F
Trade debtors aged within 1yearwith B HEWHAEZIE K E 5 B

a gross amount of HK$51,243,000 TR E 4818 51,243,000 /%SSEE’J

recognised allowance for lease and IR A—FANE S EBIER

trade receivables 2,798 298
Trade debtors aged over 1yearbutnot B HLEWAERB R E 5 EKGIE

credit-impaired with a gross carrying TR E AR T 4218.1,696,000 45 7T

amount of HK$1,696,000 recognised RERER BB —F R EEERE

allowance for lease and trade HE 5 MU AR

receivables 923 -
Trade debtors transferred to credit- 2 BRTH 4218 769,000 7 TTHY

impaired with a gross carrying ZEREE S EKEER

amount of HK$769,000 (267) 267
Trade debtors assessed as credit- EREWAERIARE S EBGK

impaired with a gross carrying amount R 15 BR T 421 769,000 %EH’\]

of HK$769,000 recognised allowance EEREE S EKERR

for lease and trade receivables - 502
Settlement in full of trade debtors with 8455 BRI 4818 52,361,000 78 TTHY

a gross carrying amount of =) G

HK$52,361,000 (5413) (785)
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the operations of
the Group, and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, borrowings
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks
choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

ERTE®

b.

TREMEERBRRBEK(E

RBE S E R

BRBETABRNEEMS - AKE
ERMMRERERREANRE R
ReFEMKFUARAEENEE

RIEES  WHEKRS RS FRINE
@,

TRAJREEFETESHAENR
TAENIHE - BREZEBIEAEERR
BERZNNZEARSREENR
ﬂﬁfﬁfﬁﬁmuiﬁﬁfﬁ% ° Eﬁgﬁﬁ_ﬁ ’ "F%‘t
BRRBFIEFIETNER BN &
FHREAERNA - TwRITTAEZ AR
BEBIBITM BN - HABIEDTA
SREBENIEA AR EERB R
BAE o

Liquidity risk analysis BB ER ST
On
Weighted ~ demand or More Total
average less than 1to2 than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year years 2years cash flows amounts
i RERL RAERRS
FiF= PME 1228 B2 RELRE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TER TAT TAR TAR ThR
31 March 2025 2025534318
Non-derivative financial iabilities ~ FEFT4 2 BAE
Trade and other payables B o REMENTIE 14,319 = = 14,319 14,319
Borrowings EEA 20,482 18,19 5,103 43,781 41,860
Other item HiIRR
Lease liabilities BEAR 3,337 2,919 2,093 8,349 7,946

38,138

21,115 7,196 66,449 64,125
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31.

218

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. EMIAEW@®
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. 2REAKREEBEERBEEEE)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESRERE (&)
Liquidity risk analysis (Continued) BB ER ST ()
On
Weighted demand or More Total
average less than 1to2 than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year years 2 years cash flows amounts
ik REL KRR
T H= PR1E 1525 HRLF mEEE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TR TR TEL TEL TEL
31 March 2024 2024538310
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ FEAT4 £ BEE
Trade and other payables B o REMWENTIE - 24829 - - 24829 24829
Borrowings &5 559 38,085 926 174 39,185 39,153
Amount due to a joint venture EN—EAENENZE = 40 = = 40 40
Other item HiIRE
Lease liabilities HERRE 401 3484 401 - 3885 3519
66,818 1327 174 68319 67921

The Group's borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “On demand or less than 1 year” time band
in the above maturity analysis. At 31 March 2025, the carrying
amounts of these borrowings amounted to HK$38,768,000

(2024: HK$36,385,000).
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31. @I A%

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. £HMEMEEBRBERBEKE)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESRER ()
Liquidity risk analysis (Continued) B A & A (B)
Taking into account the Group's financial position, the directors BEBAEEGBANE - EFEHE
do not believe that it is probable that the counterparties RGHFPRAEITERENHEREE
will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate SKENRFETR - EFREZFETHR
repayment. The directors believe that such borrowings will be BERGEMSTEERAHER
repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set BHAFFHN T &
out in the loan agreements, details of which are set out in the
table below:
Maturity Analysis — Borrowings subject to a repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayment dates
ZH B 24T — FEEREREBEREN
RIBFETEN B HANER
Total
undiscounted
Less than 1to2 2to5 cash Carrying
one year years years outflows amounts
REEHR
DPR1E 122 2855 RERHAR fREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET THET FET
31 March 2025 202583 A31H 18,629 17,094 4,794 40,517 38,768
31 March 2024 202453 A31H 12,992 12,331 13,343 38,666 36,385
The amounts included above for variable interest rate WZEA RS E ERRE I RETE
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject HFEGEFEMRMER - AIERER L
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those HWIETAESRMABEEHMNETANS
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the HegmEs -
reporting period.
c.  Fair value measurements of financial instruments ¢ ERIANAAENE

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

ARREER RGP HRR IR E
HRASIRNEREER SR AER
EEREARERE -
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32. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 32. KEHERH
The Group as lessor rEBAHEA
All of the plant and machinery held by the Group for rental purposes REBEFEHFTA RN EE /5 a8 R
have committed lessees for the next three years. A RK=FHEMA ©
Undiscounted lease payment receivable on leases are as follows: BEAHEENEUAKRERESENZIWT
2025 2024
2025 2024 FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Within one year —F X 1,110 3,600
In the second year F_F 94 125
In the third year F=F - 94
33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. BXEE
2025 2024
2025 2024 FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Capital expenditure in respect of the BMEFTHERNERE B HRE
acquisition of property, plant and FHREB BRI BT - R &
equipment contracted for but not RENEARRA
provided in the consolidated statement
of financial statements 13,800 19,754
34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 34. EEEH
The following assets were pledged to banks as securities to secure RBERARBER TRITIERREBFTE
the borrowings and facilities granted to the Group at the end of the BRERRREERGHEERNT
reporting period:
2025 2024
2025 2024 FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Property, plant and equipment M - R 6,042 4519
Deposit placed for a life insurance policy ERRETFR 3,112 3,047
Pledged bank deposit EEAIRITIF 360 360
9,514 7,926
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35. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Other than as disclosed elsewhere, during the year the Group
entered into the following transactions with related parties in which
some directors have beneficial interests:

A Ashareholder
joint of the
venture Company

RELE XLNA-ERR

HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
Placement of rental deposit RfffeHE
Short-term lease expenses RHRERY
Purchase of machinery RBEHA
Revenue fiom leasing equipment BGIEEL
Operating lease expenses inrespect 75 BATR A
of leasing machinery HERERY
Installation charge ZEB
Expenses paid on behalf of REGEREXN
joint venture MER
Contribution to ajoint venture A-EaEtETE

Balances with related parties are disclosed in the consolidated
statement of financial position and related notes.

The Company’s key management personnel are the directors and
their remunerations are included in the emoluments disclosed in
note 11. The remunerations of a close family member of the directors
are included in the highest paid employees disclosed in note 11.

35. BEAIEE

BREMBOMKEEIN  RAFE - A%
BRETEEHAEAREMNAN AL
THRS

2024

20046
Arelated Arelated
company company
in which in which
Mr. Lau Mr. Lau
Pong Sing and Pong Sing and
Ms. Chan Ms.Chan
Kit Mui, Lina A Ashareholder Kit Mui, Lina
have beneficial joint ofthe have beneficial
interest venture Company interest
— M [k
RERRRE KRR
LT HERES TTHEREH
gl TEaH)
BHAH RELE ARA-ERE LN
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000

TER TAL TAL L

= = 120

= = 420
4617 = =
477 = =
= 420 =
182 = =
291 = =

BT RN & B TS RR R BB M3
R -

ARANEBREREABR/REST  MEF
MM ST AME R ENTN - EF—
BEBOMEFT AT N ARENRSH
BEMSE -
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36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 36.

[N

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.

RETBELENEEYHK

TRIBASBEAREZDELNEESR

EESE

BRACRIRCED - BER

BEANABRERSRELARKEADR
EEFIRRARBEGEARERERTHE

RBEERBRE

HemEmatE -

Dividend Lease

payable Borrowings liabilities Total

2RE B HESE st

HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHT FHT FHT

At 1 April 2023 M2023F4H1H 35,262 7,079 42341
Financing cash flows MERSRE (5616) 2,431 (3,871) (7,056)
Dividend declared EEIRRE 5616 - = 5616
Finance costs BE AL AN - 1,460 196 1,656
New lease entered HEIHE - - 230 230
Exchange realignment [ 5 = = (115) (115)
At 31 March 2024 2024331 H - 39,153 3519 42,672
Financing cash flows MERESRE (6,566) 968 (3917) (9,515)
Dividend declared EEIRRE 6,566 = = 6,566
Finance costs BhE A AR - 1,739 148 1,887
New lease entered EIMHE - - 7,704 7,704
Exchange realignment [E H, - - 492 492
At 31 March 2025 2025463 A31 H - 41,860 7,946 49,806
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37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 37. MEBRAFE
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 and 31 202593 31 H K2024F3H31H + &
March 2024 were as follows: ARIMBARFEET ¢
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid ordinary
registration/ share capital/ Equity interests
Name of subsidiaries operation registered capital attributable to the Group Principal activities
BEARAR
MR/ LERE/
HEARZE B/ EEhY R REBELRE TEEH
Directly Indirectly
Ei 3
2025 2024 2025 2024
20255 QEMOZESN 20255 [MIZES
AP Rentals (BVI) Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands US§2 100% - Investment holding,
AP Rentals (BV)) Holdings Limited  REBRZE S 2ET REER
AP Rentals Limited Hong Kong HK$27,378,000 = 100%  Investment holding, trading and leasing

of equipment, and provision of leased
related operating and other related

services
SEARERRAR i 273780007 RERR EEREERE -
M&ktﬁ%ﬁ SIRRNBIER
A AR
AP Equipment Leasing and Macau MOP25,000 = 100%  Leasing of equipment
Engineering Limited
DEARRBERTE 3 25000 M7 HERE
ARAR
AP Equipment Rentals (Singapore) - Singapore SGD100,000 100% - Trading and leasing of equipment, provision
Pte. Ltd. of lease related operating and other
related services
AP Equipment Rentals (Singapore) T A3 10000057 14 T EERHERE RUEREHEEN
Pe. Ltd. Hf?&ﬁfﬁﬁ%ﬁ%
AP Rentals China (BV)) Holdings ~ British Virgin Islands Us§2 100% - Investment holding
Limited
AP Rentals China (BV) Holdings ~ REBRZEES VEH REER
Limited
AP Power Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100%  Provision of mobile electricity supplies and
solutions and relevant commodities and
accessories and short-term leasing of
equipment
SEAENERAR i 1000077 RERHRELBATER
ARAEEEm R
DREHRER
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37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. B RIFE®
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid ordinary
registration/ share capital/ Equity interests
Name of subsidiaries operation registered capital attributable to the Group Principal activities
BEARAR
AL/ LEks/
WEARER B/ Eeny AR REEERRE TEXH
Directly Indirectly
Ei 583
2025 2025 2024
2025F EEVOZESN 2025 VLS
AP Rentals (China) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100%  Investment holding
SRARE(PE)ARAR  FE 10000787T RERR
AP Rentals (Shanghai) Limited* ~ The PRC 1S52,100,000 100%  Leasing of equipment
DRARRIEER(LE) +E 2100000%7T REHME
BRATF
AP Equipment Solutions Limited  Hong Kong HK$10,000 100%  Investment holding, trading and leasing
of equipment and provision of leased
related operating and other related
services
TRARBHRERRE  BR 10,00077T RERR EEREERE

38.

i=N

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of
the reporting period.

* The subsidiary is a wholly foreign owned enterprise.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In May 2025, the Group has bought a keyman insurance policy
(the “"Keyman Policy”), with the insured being Mr. Lau Tsz Fung,
an executive director of the Company, for a sum insured of USD2.5
million with a single premium of approximately USD0.5 million,
with a subsidiary being the policyholder of the Keyman Policy. The
Keyman Policy is to be pledged with a bank for the provision of
financial facility amounting to HK$35 million to subsidiaries as stated
in the facility letter issued by the bank on 19 March 2025 (the “Facility
Letter’). The Facility Letter was approved by the board of directors
of the Company (the “Board”) on 30 April 2025.
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R ERmeEER
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RBERR BMERBARDHTEMNE
B e

* ZHMBRARIEEEDE -

REHIREE
R2025F5 8 AEBEEEE —HEAREA
MRB((BRAVRE])  IRABERD

RITERRTHEE  REA2SBEEE
r_c BE—REHARISEEET  m—REH
AR BERAMRBRRZRA  BIER
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